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Part I

Item 1.

Business

With headquarters in Southern California, The Ryland Group, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), is one of the nation’s largest
homebuilders and a leading mortgage-finance company. It is a Fortune 500 company and is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the
symbol “RYL.” Founded in 1967, the Company has built more than 265,000 homes. In addition, Ryland Mortgage Company and its
subsidiaries (“RMC”) has provided mortgage financing and related services for more than 225,000 homebuyers. The Company consists of six
segments: four geographically-determined homebuilding regions, financial services, and corporate.
The Company’s operations span all significant aspects of the homebuying process—from design, construction and sale to mortgage origination,
title insurance, escrow and insurance services. The homebuilding operations are, by far, the most substantial part of its business, comprising
approximately 98 percent of consolidated revenues in 2006. The homebuilding segments generate nearly all of their revenues from the sale of
completed homes, with a lesser amount from the sale of land and lots. In addition to building single-family detached homes, the homebuilding
segments also build attached homes, such as town homes and condominiums, including some mid-rise buildings, which share common walls
and roofs. The Company builds homes for entry-level buyers, as well as for first- and second-time move-up buyers. The Company’s prices
range from $98,000 to more than $800,000, with the average price of a home closed during 2006 being $295,000. The financial services
segment offers mortgage, title, escrow and insurance services to its homeowners and subcontractors.
Over the last 13 years, the Company has concentrated on expanding its operations by investing its available capital into both existing and new
markets. It has believed that measured “organic” growth avoids the risk, debt, intangible assets and distractions associated with external
acquisitions. The Company focuses on achieving a high return on invested capital and establishing profitable operations in each of its markets.
New communities are evaluated based on return and profitability benchmarks, and both senior and local management are incentivized based on
their ability to achieve such returns. Management continually monitors the land acquisition process, sales revenues, margins and returns
achieved in each of the Company’s markets as part of its capital evaluation process.
The Company is highly diversified throughout the United States, with no more than 10 percent of its deployed capital allocated to any given
market. It believes diversification not only minimizes its exposure to economic and market fluctuations, but also enhances its growth potential.
Capital is strategically allocated to avoid concentration in any given geographic area and to circumvent the accompanying risk associated with
excessive dependence on local market anomalies. Subject to macroeconomic and local market conditions, the Company plans to either manage
its exposure or to expand its presence in its existing markets in an effort to be among the largest builders in each of those markets. It also
intends to continue diversification by selectively entering new markets, primarily through establishing start-up or satellite operations in markets
near its existing divisions.
The Company’s national scale has provided increased opportunities for negotiation of volume discounts and rebates from material suppliers.
Additionally, it has greater access to a lower cost of capital due to the strength of its balance sheet, as well as to its lending and capital markets
relationships. The Company’s economies of scale and diversification have contributed to significant improvements in its operating margins
during periods of growth and mitigated its overall risk in periods of declining housing demand.
Committed to product innovation, the Company conducts ongoing research into consumer preferences and trends. It is constantly adapting and
improving its house plans, design features, customized options and mortgage programs. It strives to offer value, selection, location and quality
to all homebuyers.
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The Company is dedicated to building quality homes and customer relationships. With customer satisfaction as a major priority, it continues to
make innovative enhancements designed to attract homebuyers. During 2006, the Company launched a new expanded Web site to include
online systems for tracking requests, processing issues and improving customer interaction. In addition, the Company uses a third party to
analyze customer feedback and to better serve its homebuyers’ needs.
The Company enters into land development joint ventures, from time to time, as a means of building lot positions, reducing its risk profile and
enhancing its return on capital. It occasionally partners with developers, other homebuilders or financial investors to develop finished lots for
sale to the joint ventures’ members or other third parties.
Aside from being an added value to customers, the financial services segment greatly enhances the Company’s profitability while limiting its
risk. A competitively high capture rate for mortgage financing and other services allows the homebuilder to monitor its backlog and closing
process. Risk is further reduced because substantially all loans are sold to a third party within one day of the date they close. The third party
then services and manages the loans and assumes the credit risk of borrower default.
Homebuilding
General
The Company’s homes are built on-site and marketed in four major geographic regions, or segments. At December 31, 2006, the Company
operated in the following metropolitan areas:
REGION/SEGMENT
NORTH

MAJOR MARKETS SERVED
Baltimore, Chicago, Cincinnati, Delaware, Indianapolis, Minneapolis and Washington, D.C.

SOUTHEAST

Atlanta, Charleston, Charlotte, Fort Myers, Greensboro, Greenville, Jacksonville, Myrtle Beach, Orlando and
Tampa

TEXAS

Austin, Dallas, Houston and San Antonio

WEST

California’s Central Valley, California’s Coachella Valley, California’s Inland Empire, Denver, Las Vegas,
Phoenix and Sacramento

The Company has decentralized operations to provide more flexibility to its local division presidents and management teams. Each of its 22
homebuilding divisions across the country generally consists of a division president, a controller and other management personnel focused on
land entitlement, acquisition and development; sales, construction, customer service, and purchasing; as well as accounting and administrative
personnel. The Company’s operations in each of its homebuilding markets may differ due to a number of market-specific factors. These factors
include regional economic conditions and job growth; land availability and local land development; consumer preferences; competition from
other homebuilders; and home resale activity. The Company not only considers each of these factors upon entering into new markets, but also
in determining the extent of its operations and capital allocation in existing markets. The Company’s local management teams are familiar with
these factors, and their market experience and expertise are critical in making decisions regarding local operations.
The Company provides oversight and centralizes key elements of its homebuilding business through its corporate and regional offices. The
Company has four regional offices, each generally consisting of a region president; a chief financial officer; real estate legal counsel; and
additional management personnel focused on human resources, marketing and operations. Regional offices provide oversight
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and standardization where appropriate. The staff in each of these offices monitors activities by using various operational metrics in order to
achieve Company return benchmarks.
The Company markets attached and detached single-family homes, which are generally targeted to entry-level and first- and second-time
move-up buyers. Its diverse product line is tailored to the local styles and preferences found in each of its geographic markets. The product line
offered in a particular community is determined in conjunction with the land acquisition process and is dependent upon a number of factors,
including consumer preferences, competitive product offerings and development costs. Architectural services are generally outsourced to
increase creativity and to ensure that the Company’s home designs are consistent with local market trends.
Homebuyers are able to customize certain features of their homes by selecting from numerous options and upgrades displayed in the
Company’s model homes and design centers. These design centers, which are conveniently located in most of the Company’s markets, also
represent an increasing source of additional revenue and profit for the Company. Custom options contributed approximately 12 percent of
revenues in 2006 and resulted in significantly higher margins in comparison to base homes.
Land Acquisition and Development
The Company’s objective is to control a portfolio of building lots sufficient to meet its anticipated homebuilding requirements for a period of
approximately four to five years. The Company acquires land only after completing due diligence and feasibility studies. The land acquisition
process is controlled by a corporate land approval committee to help ensure that transactions meet the Company’s standards for financial
performance and risk. In the ordinary course of its homebuilding business, the Company utilizes both direct acquisition and option contracts to
control building lots for use in the sale and construction of homes. The Company’s direct land acquisition activities include the bulk purchase
of finished lots from developers and the purchase of undeveloped entitled land from third parties. The Company generally does not purchase
unentitled or unzoned land.
Although control of lot inventory through the use of option contracts minimizes the Company’s investment, such a strategy is not viable in
certain markets due to the absence of third-party land developers. In other markets, competitive conditions may prevent the Company from
controlling quality lots solely through the use of option contracts. In such situations, the Company may acquire undeveloped entitled land
and/or finished lots on a bulk basis. The Company utilizes the selective development of land to gain access to prime locations, increase margins
and position itself as a leader in the area through its influence over a community’s character, layout and amenities. After determining the size,
style, price range, density, layout and overall design of a community, the Company obtains governmental and other approvals necessary to
begin the development process. Land is then graded; roads, utilities, amenities and other infrastructures are installed; and the individual home
sites are created.
At December 31, 2006, the Company had cash deposits and outstanding letters of credit totaling $187.8 million in connection with option
agreements and land purchase contracts having a total purchase price of $1.5 billion. These options and commitments expire at various dates
through 2018.
Materials Costs
Substantially all materials used in construction are available from a number of sources, but may fluctuate in price due to various factors. In
order to increase purchasing efficiencies, the Company not only standardizes certain building materials and products, but also acquires such
products through national supply contracts. The Company has, on occasion, experienced shortages of certain materials. If shortages were to
occur in the future, such shortages could result in longer construction times and higher costs than those experienced in the past.
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Construction
Substantially all on-site construction is performed for a fixed price by independent subcontractors selected on a competitive-bid basis. The
Company generally requires a minimum of three competitive bids for each phase of construction. Construction activities are supervised by the
Company’s production team, which schedules and coordinates subcontractor work, monitors quality, and ensures compliance with local zoning
and building codes. The Company requires substantially all of its subcontractors to have general liability insurance (including construction
defect coverage) and workmans compensation insurance. Construction time for homes depends on weather, availability of labor or
subcontractors, materials, home size, geological conditions and other factors. The duration of the home construction process is generally
between three and six months. The Company has an integrated financial and homebuilding management system that assists in scheduling
production and controlling costs. Through this system, the Company monitors construction status and job costs incurred for each home during
each phase of construction. The system provides for detailed budgeting and allows the Company to track and control actual costs, versus
construction bids, for each community and subcontractor. The Company has, on occasion, experienced shortages of skilled labor in certain
markets. If shortages were to occur in the future, such shortages could result in longer construction times and higher costs than those
experienced in the past.
The Company, its subcontractors and its suppliers maintain insurance, subject to deductibles and self-insured amounts, to protect against
various risks associated with homebuilding activities, including, among others, general liability, “all-risk” property, workmans compensation,
automobile and employee fidelity. The Company accrues for its expected costs associated with the deductibles and self-insured amounts.
Marketing
The Company generally markets its homes to entry-level and first- and second-time move-up buyers through targeted product offerings in each
of the communities in which it operates. The Company’s marketing strategy is determined during the land acquisition and feasibility stage of a
community’s development. Employees and independent real estate brokers sell the Company’s homes, generally by showing furnished models.
A new order is reported when a customer’s sales contract has been signed by the homebuyer and approved by the Company, subject to
cancellation. The Company normally starts construction of a home when a customer has selected a lot, chosen a floor plan and received
preliminary mortgage approval. However, construction may begin prior to this in order to satisfy market demand for completed homes and to
facilitate construction scheduling and/or cost savings. Homebuilding revenues are recognized when home sales are closed, title and possession
are transferred to the buyer and there is no significant continuing involvement.
The Company advertises in newspapers and trade publications, as well as with marketing brochures and newsletters. It also uses billboards,
radio and television advertising, and its Web site to market the location, price range and availability of its homes. The Company also attempts
to operate in conspicuously located communities that permit it to take advantage of local traffic patterns. Model homes play a significant role in
the Company’s marketing efforts by creating an attractive atmosphere and displaying options and upgrades.
The Company’s sales contracts typically require an earnest money deposit. The amount of earnest money required varies between markets and
communities. Additionally, buyers are generally required to pay additional deposits when they select options or upgrades for their homes. Most
of the Company’s sales contracts stipulate that when homebuyers cancel the homebuyers’ contracts with the Company, it has the right to retain
the homebuyers’ earnest money and option deposits; however, its operating divisions may choose to refund part or all of such deposits. The
Company’s sales contracts may also include contingencies that permit homebuyers to cancel and receive a refund of their deposits if they
cannot obtain mortgage financing at prevailing or specified interest rates within a specified time period. The Company’s contracts may also
include other contingencies, such
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as the sale of an existing home. The length of time between the signing of a sales contract for a home and delivery of the home to the buyer
may vary, depending on customer preferences, permit approval and construction cycles.
Customer Service and Warranties
The Company’s operating divisions are responsible for pre-closing quality control inspections and responding to homebuyers’ post-closing
needs. The Company believes that prompt and courteous acknowledgment of its homebuyers’ needs during and after construction reduces postclosing repair costs, enhances its reputation for quality and service, and ultimately leads to repeat and referral business. The subcontractors,
who perform most of the actual construction, also provide warranties on workmanship.
The Company provides each homeowner with product warranties covering workmanship and materials for one year, certain mechanical
systems for two years and structural systems for ten years from the time of closing. The Company believes its warranty program meets or
exceeds terms customarily offered in the homebuilding industry.
Seasonality
The Company experiences seasonal variations in its quarterly operating results and capital requirements. Historically, new order activity is
higher during the spring and summer months. This is primarily due to the preference of many homebuyers to act during those periods. As a
result, it typically has more homes under construction, closes more homes, and has greater revenues and operating income in the third and
fourth quarters of the year.
Financial Services
The Company’s financial services segment provides mortgage-related products and services, as well as insurance services, to its homebuyers
and subcontractors. The Company’s financial services segment includes RMC, Ryland Homes Insurance Company (“RHIC”), LPS Holdings
Corporation and its subsidiaries (“LPS”) and Columbia National Risk Retention Group, Inc. (“CNRRG”). By aligning its operations with the
Company’s homebuilding segments, the financial services segment leverages this relationship to provide lending services to homebuyers. In
addition to being a valuable asset to customers, the financial services segment greatly enhances the Company’s profitability. Providing
mortgage financing and other services to its customers allows the homebuilding segments to better monitor their backlog and closing process.
Substantially all loans are sold to a third party within one business day of the date they close. The third party then services and manages the
loans and assumes the credit risk of borrower default. Insurance services provide subcontractors with construction-related insurance in the
western markets. Additionally, the financial services segment provides insurance for liability risks, specifically homeowners’ warranty
coverage, arising in connection with the homebuilding business of the Company.
Loan Origination
In 2006, RMC’s mortgage origination operations consisted primarily of loans, which were originated in connection with the sale of the
Company’s homes. During the year, mortgage operations originated 11,744 loans, totaling $3.0 billion, of which 99.7 percent was for
purchases of homes built by the Company and the remaining amount was for either purchases of homes built by others, purchases of existing
homes or the refinancing of existing mortgage loans.
RMC arranges various types of mortgage financing, including conventional, Federal Housing Administration (“FHA”) and Veterans
Administration (“VA”) mortgages, with various fixed- and adjustable-rate features. RMC is approved to originate loans that conform to the
guidelines established by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“FHLMC”) and the Federal National Mortgage Association
(“FNMA”). RMC sells the loans it originates, along with the related servicing rights, to others.
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Title and Escrow Services
Cornerstone Title Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary of RMC, doing business as Ryland Title Company, provides title services and acts as a
title insurance agent primarily for the Company’s homebuyers. At December 31, 2006, it provided title services in Arizona, Colorado, Florida,
Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Minnesota, Nevada, North Carolina, Ohio, South Carolina, Texas and Virginia. The Company also
operates Ryland Escrow Company, which performs escrow and closing functions for the Company’s homebuyers in California. During 2006,
Ryland Title Company and Ryland Escrow Company provided these services to 96.3 percent of the Company’s homebuyers in the markets in
which they operate, compared to 96.9 percent during 2005.
LPS is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and was formed to operate certain limited purpose subsidiaries, including Ryland Escrow
Company.
Insurance Services
Ryland Insurance Services (“RIS”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of RMC, provides insurance services to the Company’s homebuyers. At
December 31, 2006, RIS was licensed to operate in all of the states in which the Company’s homebuilding segments operate. During 2006, it
provided insurance services to 62.4 percent of the Company’s homebuyers, compared to 60.4 percent during 2005.
RHIC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company that provides insurance services to the homebuilding segments’ subcontractors in certain
markets.
CNRRG is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. CNRRG was established to directly insure liability risks, specifically homeowners’
warranty coverage, arising in connection with the homebuilding business of the Company.
Corporate
Corporate is a non-operating business segment whose purpose is to support operations. Corporate departments are responsible for establishing
operational policies and internal control standards; implementing strategic initiatives; and monitoring compliance with policies and controls
throughout the Company’s operations. Corporate acts as an internal source of capital and provides financial, human resources, information
technology, insurance, legal, marketing, national purchasing and tax compliance services. In addition, it performs administrative functions
associated with a publicly traded entity.
Real Estate and Economic Conditions
The Company is significantly affected by fluctuations in economic activity, interest rates and levels of consumer confidence. The effects of
these fluctuations differ among the various geographic markets in which the Company operates. Higher interest rates may affect the ability of
buyers to qualify for mortgage financing and decrease demand for new homes. As a result, rising interest rates generally will decrease the
Company’s home sales and mortgage originations. The Company’s business is also affected by local economic conditions, such as employment
rates and housing demand, in the markets in which it operates. Some of these markets have, at times, experienced a significant decline in
housing demand.
Inventory risk can be substantial for homebuilders. The market value of land, lots and housing inventories fluctuates as a result of changing
market and economic conditions. The Company must continuously locate and acquire land not only for expansion into new markets, but also
for replacement and expansion of land inventory within current markets. The Company employs various measures, including a corporate land
approval process and a continuous review by senior management, designed to control inventory risk. However, it cannot assure that these
measures will avoid or eliminate this risk.
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Competition
The Company competes in each of its markets with a large number of national, regional and local homebuilding companies. Some of these
national companies are larger than the Company and most have greater financial resources than in the past. The strength and expanded presence
of national homebuilders, plus the continued viability of regional and local homebuilders, has increased competition in many markets. This
competition could make it more difficult to acquire suitable land at acceptable prices, force an increase in selling incentives or decrease sales.
Any of these could have an adverse impact on the Company’s financial performance or results of operations. The Company also competes with
other housing alternatives, including existing homes and rental properties. Principal competitive factors in the homebuilding industry include
price; design; quality; reputation; relationship with developers; accessibility of subcontractors; availability and location of lots; and availability
of customer financing.
The Company’s financial services segment competes with other mortgage bankers to arrange financing for homebuyers. Principal competitive
factors include interest rates and other features of mortgage loan products available to the consumer.
Regulatory and Environmental Matters
The homebuilding segments are subject to various local, state and federal laws, ordinances, rules and regulations pertaining to zoning, building
design, construction, stormwater permitting and discharge, and similar matters, as well as to open space, wetlands and environmentally
protected areas. These include local regulations that impose restrictive zoning and density requirements to limit the number of homes that can
be built within the boundaries of a particular area, as well as other municipal or city planning issues. The Company may also experience
periodic delays in homebuilding projects due to regulatory compliance, municipal appeals and other governmental planning processes in any of
the areas in which it operates.
RMC is subject to the rules and regulations of FHA, FHLMC, FNMA, VA and the Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”)
with respect to originating, processing and selling mortgage loans. In addition, there are other federal and state laws and regulations that affect
not only these activities, but also RMC’s title, escrow and insurance brokerage operations. These rules and regulations prohibit discrimination
and establish underwriting guidelines that include provisions for inspections and appraisals; require credit reports on prospective borrowers;
and fix maximum loan amounts. RMC is required to submit audited financial statements to various regulatory agencies annually, and each
regulatory entity has its own financial requirements. The Company’s affairs are also subject to examination by these regulatory agencies and by
state agencies, at all times, to assure compliance with applicable regulations, policies and procedures. Mortgage origination activities are
subject to the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, the Federal Truth-in-Lending Act and the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”), as
well as to associated regulations that prohibit discrimination and require the disclosure of certain information to mortgagors concerning credit
and settlement costs.
RHIC is registered and licensed under Section 431, Article 19 of the Hawaii Revised Statutes and is required to meet certain minimum capital
and surplus requirements. Additionally, no dividends may be paid without prior approval of the Hawaii Insurance Commissioner.
Employees
At December 31, 2006, the Company had 2,810 employees. The Company considers its employee relations to be good. No employees are
represented by a collective bargaining agreement.
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Web Site Access to Reports
The Company files annual, quarterly and special reports; proxy statements; and other information with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) under the Exchange Act. Any document the Company files may be read at the SEC’s public reference room, Room 1580
at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC toll-free at 1-800-SEC-0330 for information regarding its public reference
room. The Company files information electronically with the SEC. The Company’s SEC filings are available from the SEC’s Web site at
www.sec.gov . Reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically are readily obtainable
there.
Stockholders, securities analysts and others seeking information about the Company’s business operations and financial performance can
receive copies of its 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, all amendments to
those reports and other publications filed with the SEC in Washington, D.C., without charge, by contacting the treasurer’s office at (818) 2237677; by writing to The Ryland Group, Inc., Investor Relations, 24025 Park Sorrento, Suite 400, Calabasas, California 91302; or via e-mail at
investors@ryland.com . In addition, all filings with the SEC, news releases and quarterly earnings announcements, including live audio and
replays of the most recent quarterly earnings conference calls, can be accessed free of charge on the Company’s Web site at www.ryland.com .
Information on the Company’s Web site is not part of this report. The Company makes its Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act available on its Web site as soon as possible after it electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to, the SEC. To retrieve
any of this information, visit www.ryland.com , select “Investors” and scroll down the page to “SEC Filings.”
Item 1 A . Risk Factors
If real estate and economic conditions deteriorate, the Company’s revenue and profit may decrease.
The Company can be significantly affected by the cyclical nature of the homebuilding industry, which is sensitive to fluctuations in general and
local economic conditions, interest rates, housing demand, employment levels, availability of financing and levels of consumer confidence. The
effects of these fluctuations differ among the various geographic markets in which it operates. Sales of new homes are affected by market
conditions for resale homes and rental properties. Its business is also affected by local economic conditions, such as employment rates and
housing demand in the markets in which the Company builds homes. The markets in which it operates can experience mild to significant
declines in housing demand. The Company is currently experiencing a decline in market demand in many of its markets.
If market demand significantly changes, the Company is subject to inventory risk.
Inventory risk can be substantial for homebuilders. The market value of the Company’s land, building lots and housing inventories fluctuates as
a result of changing market and economic conditions. In addition, inventory carrying costs can result in losses in poorly performing projects or
markets. In the event of significant changes in economic or market conditions, the Company may dispose of land or housing inventories on a
basis that may result in a loss or may be required to write down or reduce the carrying value of its inventory. In the course of its business, the
Company continuously seeks and makes acquisitions of land for expansion into new markets, as well as for replacement and expansion of land
inventory within its current markets. Although it employs various measures, including its land approval process and continued review by senior
management designed to manage inventory risks, the Company cannot assure that these measures will enable it to avoid or eliminate its
inventory risk.
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Construction costs can fluctuate and impact the Company’s margins.
The homebuilding industry has, from time to time, experienced significant difficulties, including: shortages of qualified trades people; reliance
on local subcontractors who may be inadequately capitalized; shortages of materials; and volatile increases in the cost of materials, particularly
increases in the price of lumber, drywall and cement, which are significant components of home construction costs. The Company may not be
able to recapture increased costs by raising prices either because of market conditions or because the Company fixes its prices at the time home
sales contracts are signed.
If interest rates rise further, then the Company’s business may decline and profitability may be reduced.
Interest rates can significantly affect the Company’s lines of business. Higher interest rates affect the ability of buyers to qualify for mortgage
financing and decrease demand for new homes. As a result, rising interest rates can decrease its home sales and mortgage originations. Further,
the level and expected direction of interest rates can adversely affect the profitability of sales. Any of these factors could have an adverse
impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.
Because the Company’s industry is competitive, the business practices of other homebuilders can have an impact on the Company’s financial
results and cause these results to decline.
The residential housing industry is highly competitive. The Company competes in each of its markets with a large number of national, regional
and local homebuilding companies. This competition could make it more difficult to acquire suitable land at acceptable prices, force it to
increase selling incentives or lower its sales per community. Any of these could have an adverse impact on the Company’s financial
performance or results of operations. It also competes with other housing alternatives, including existing homes and rental housing. Principal
competitive factors in homebuilding are home price, design, quality, reputation, relationship with developers, accessibility of subcontractors,
availability and location of lots, and availability of customer financing.
The Company’s financial services segment competes with other mortgage bankers to arrange financing for homebuyers. Principal competitive
factors include interest rates and other features of mortgage loan products available to the consumer.
Because the Company’s business is subject to various regulatory and environmental limitations, it may not be able to conduct its business as
planned.
The Company’s homebuilding segments are subject to various local, state and federal laws, statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations
concerning zoning, building design, construction, stormwater permitting and discharge and similar matters, as well as open space, wetlands and
environmentally protected areas. These include local regulations that impose restrictive zoning and density requirements in order to limit the
number of homes that can be built within the boundaries of a particular area, as well as other municipal or city land planning restrictions,
requirements or limitations. The Company may also experience periodic delays in homebuilding projects due to regulatory compliance,
municipal appeals and other government planning processes in any of the areas in which it operates.
The Company’s financial services segment is subject to the rules and regulations of FHA, FHLMC, FNMA, VA and HUD with respect to
originating, processing, selling and servicing mortgage loans. Mortgage origination activities are further subject to the Equal Credit
Opportunity Act, Federal Truth-in-Lending Act and RESPA and their associated regulations. These and other federal and state statutes and
regulations, among other things, prohibit discrimination and establish underwriting guidelines which include provisions for audits, inspections
and appraisals, require credit reports on prospective borrowers, fix maximum loan amounts and require the disclosure of certain information
concerning credit and settlement costs. The Company is required to submit audited financial statements annually, and each agency or other
entity has its own financial requirements. The Company’s affairs are also subject to examination by these entities at all times to assure
compliance with applicable regulations, policies and procedures.
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Natural disasters may have a significant impact on the Company’s business.
The climates and geology of many of the states in which the Company operates present increased risks of natural disasters. To the extent that
hurricanes, severe storms, earthquakes, droughts, floods, wildfires or other natural disasters or similar events occur, its business in those states
may be adversely affected.
Because this report contains forward-looking statements, it may not prove to be accurate.
This report and other Company releases and filings with the SEC may contain forward-looking statements. The Company generally identifies
forward-looking statements using words like “believe,” “intend,” “expect,” “may,” “should,” “plan,” “project,” “contemplate,” “anticipate,”
“target,” “estimate,” “foresee,” “goal,” “likely,” “will” or similar statements. Because these statements reflect its current views concerning
future events, these statements involve risks, uncertainties and assumption, including the risks and uncertainties identified in this report. Actual
results may differ significantly from the results discussed in these forward-looking statements. The Company does not undertake to update its
forward-looking statements or risk factors to reflect future events or circumstances.
Item 1 B . Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2.

Properties

The Company leases office space for its corporate headquarters in Calabasas, California and for its IT Department and RMC’s operations
center in Scottsdale, Arizona. In addition, the Company leases office space in the various markets in which it operates.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings

Contingent liabilities may arise from obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business or from the usual obligations of on-site housing
producers for the completion of contracts.
On January 15, 2004, a securities class action was filed against the Company and two of its officers in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Texas. The action alleges violations of the federal securities laws in connection with the disclosure by the Company of new
home sales for the fourth quarter of 2003. In September 2005, the Court dismissed the action because the lead plaintiff previously selected by
the Court had failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. As a result, the Court also dismissed the class action complaint.
Subsequently, a different member of the purported class asked to be substituted as a new lead plaintiff. In June 2006, the Court granted that
request and reinstated the action. The Company and the individual defendants intend to vigorously defend themselves.
The Company is party to various other legal proceedings generally incidental to its businesses. Based on evaluation of these matters and
discussions with counsel, management believes that liabilities arising from these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the financial
condition of the Company.
Item 4.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2006.
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Executive Officers of the Company
The following sets forth certain information regarding the executive officers of the Company:
POSITION (date elected to position)
PRIOR BUSINESS EXPERIENCE
Chairman of the Board of Directors (since 1994);
President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company (since 1993)

NAME
R. CHAD DREIER

AGE
59

KIPLING W. SCOTT

52

Chief Operating Officer of the Company (since 2006);
Executive Vice President of the Company (since 2003); President of the North
Central Region of Ryland Homes (1997–2006); Senior Vice President of the
Company (1995–2003)

GORDON A. MILNE

55

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company (since
2002); Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company (2000–
2002)

MARK L. BEISSWANGER

46

Senior Vice President of the Company and President of the West Region of
Ryland Homes (since 2000)

ROBERT J. CUNNION, III

51

Senior Vice President, Human Resources of the Company (since 1999)

ERIC E. ELDER

49

Senior Vice President, Marketing and Communications of the Company (since
2000)

DAVID L. FRISTOE

50

Senior Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer of the Company
(since 2004); Senior Vice President, Controller, Chief Accounting Officer and
Chief Information Officer of the Company (2000–2004)

TIMOTHY J. GECKLE

54

Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of the Company (since
1997)

LARRY T. NICHOLSON

49

Senior Vice President of the Company and President of the Southeast Region of
Ryland Homes (since 2004); President of the Orlando Division of Ryland Homes
(1999–2004)

DANIEL G. SCHREINER

49

Senior Vice President of the Company (since 1999); President of Ryland
Mortgage Company (since 1998)

PETER G. SKELLY

43

Senior Vice President of the Company and President of the North Region of
Ryland Homes (since 2006); President of the Chicago Division of Ryland Homes
(1999–2006)

KEN L. TRAINER

41

Senior Vice President of the Company and President of the Texas Region of
Ryland Homes (since 2006); President of the Austin/San Antonio Division of
Ryland Homes (2002–2006)
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The Board of Directors elects all officers.
There are no family relationships between any director or executive officer, or arrangements or understandings pursuant to which the officers
listed above were elected. See the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2007 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “ 2007 Proxy Statement ”) for
a description of the Company’s employment and severance arrangements with certain of its executive officers, which is filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.
Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Market for Common Equity, Common Stock Prices and Dividends
The Company lists its common shares on the NYSE, trading under the symbol “RYL.”
The latest reported sale price of the Company’s common stock on February 12, 2007, was $53.51, and there were approximately 1,652
common stockholders of record.
The table below presents high and low market prices and dividend information for the Company.

2006

HIGH

First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

LOW

DIVIDENDS
DECLARED
PER SHARE

$ 82.37 $ 64.83 $
73.24 41.64
46.16 34.82
56.48 42.69

0.12
0.12
0.12
0.12

2005

HIGH

First quarter
Second quarter
Third quarter
Fourth quarter

LOW

DIVIDENDS
DECLARED
PER SHARE

$ 71.81 $ 53.97 $
76.37 58.06
83.13 65.97
76.97 62.25

0.06
0.06
0.06
0.12

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table summarizes the Company’s purchases of its own equity securities during the 12 months ended December 31, 2006:
(in thousands, except share data)

PERIOD

January 1–31
February 1–28
March 1–31
April 1–30
May 1–31
June 1–30
July 1–31
August 1–31
September 1–30
October 1–31
November 1–30
December 1–31
Total

TOTAL NUMBER
OF SHARES PURCHASED

AVERAGE PRICE
PAID PER SHARE

110,000 $
600,000
325,000
300,000
1,315,000
200,000
800,000
1,050,000
4,700,000 $

72.85
69.11
68.87
65.63
55.84
50.01
38.80
42.00
53.22

TOTAL NUMBER OF
SHARES PURCHASED
AS PART OF PUBLICLY
ANNOUNCED PLANS
OR PROGRAMS

110,000 $
600,000
325,000
300,000
1,315,000
200,000
800,000
1,050,000
4,700,000

APPROXIMATE DOLLAR
VALUE OF SHARES
THAT MAY YET BE
PURCHASED UNDER THE
PLANS OR PROGRAMS

268,691
227,226
204,842
185,154
111,727
101,724
70,687
26,587
26,587
26,587
26,587
201,587

On December 12, 2005, the Company announced that it had received authorization from its Board of Directors to purchase shares totaling
$250.0 million, or approximately 3.5 million shares, based on the Company’s stock price on that date. At December 31, 2006, there were
approximately 487,000 shares
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available for purchase in accordance with this authorization based on the Company’s stock price on that date. This authorization does not have
an expiration date.
On December 6, 2006, the Company announced that it had received authorization from its Board of Directors to purchase shares totaling
$175.0 million, or approximately 3.1 million shares, based on the Company’s stock price on that date. As of December 31, 2006, no shares had
been purchased in accordance with this authorization. This authorization does not have an expiration date.
Performance Graph
The following performance graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or be “filed” with the SEC, nor shall such
information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the
Company specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing.
COMPARISON OF FIVE-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among The Ryland Group, Inc., the S & P 500 Index and the Dow Jones U.S. Home Construction Index
Calendar year ending December 31.

*$100 invested on 12/31/01 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
The information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference from the 2007 Proxy Statement .
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Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

(in millions, except share data) unaudited
ANNUAL RESULTS
REVENUES
Homebuilding
Financial services
TOTAL REVENUES
Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Expenses related to early retirement of debt
Earnings before taxes
Tax expense
NET EARNINGS
YEAR-END POSITION
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Housing inventories
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Debt
Other liabilities and minority interest
TOTAL LIABILITIES
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
PER COMMON SHARE DATA
NET EARNINGS
Basic
Diluted
DIVIDENDS DECLARED
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY PER SHARE
OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
EBITDA 1
EBITDA / interest incurred 2
Return on beginning equity 3
Debt-to-total capital 4

2005

2006

$

$
$

$
$
$
$
$

4,654
103
4,757
3,640
542
8
567
207
360

$

215
2,772
430
3,417

$

950
956
1,906
1,511
8.14
7.83
0.48
35.46

$

$
$
$
$

663 $
9.2 x
26.2 %
38.6 %

2004

4,726
92
4,818
3,538
551
8
721
274
447

$

461
2,580
346
3,387

$

922
1,089
2,011
1,376
9.52
9.03
0.30
29.68

$

$
$
$
$

810 $
12.2 x
42.3 %
40.1 %

3,867
85
3,952
2,964
467
521
201
320

$

88
2,024
313
2,425

$

559
809
1,368
1,057
6.72
6.36
0.21
22.32

$

$
$
$
$

2003

2002

3,355
89
3,444
2,616
427
5
396
154
242

$ 2,805
72
2,877
2,216
352
309
124
$ 185

317
1,397
294
2,008

$

574
609
1,183
825
4.86
4.56
0.08
16.98

603 $
11.3 x
38.9 %
34.6 %

$

269
1,100
289
1,658
537
441
978
680

$

3.51
3.32
$ 0.04
$ 13.46

478 $
9.5 x
35.5 %
41.0 %

384
7.8 x
33.0 %
44.1 %

1 Earnings

before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) is a measure commonly used in the homebuilding industry and is
presented to assist in understanding the ability of the operations of the Company to generate cash beyond that which is needed to service
existing interest requirements and ongoing tax obligations. EBITDA equals net earnings before (a) interest expense; (b) previously capitalized
interest amortized to cost of sales; (c) income taxes; and (d) depreciation and amortization. EBITDA is not a financial measure recognized in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). EBITDA should neither be considered an alternative to net earnings
determined in accordance with GAAP as an indicator of operating performance nor an alternative to cash flows from operating activities
determined in accordance with GAAP as a measure of liquidity.
2 EBITDA/interest

incurred is calculated as EBITDA (defined above) divided by total interest incurred, which is the sum of interest expense and
capitalized interest for the period.
3 Return

on beginning equity is calculated as net earnings divided by total stockholders’ equity at the beginning of the period.

4 Debt-to-total

capital is calculated as debt divided by the sum of debt and total stockholders’ equity.
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The following table sets forth the computation of EBITDA for each period presented.

(in thousands)
Earnings before taxes
Interest expense
Capitalized interest amortized to cost of sales
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA

2006
567,108
205
48,708
46,731
662,752

$

$

$

$

2005
721,051
738
45,483
43,166
810,438

$

$

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2004
2003
2002
521,212
$ 396,217
$ 309,340
1,227
7,523
9,391
41,764
38,263
32,162
38,519
36,436
32,670
602,722
$ 478,439
$ 383,563

A reconciliation of EBITDA to net cash provided by operations, the most directly comparable GAAP measure, is provided below for each
period presented.

(in thousands)
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities
Increase in inventory
Tax expense
Interest expense
Capitalized interest amortized
to cost of sales
Net change in other assets, payables and other liabilities
Stock-based compensation expense
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options
and vesting of restricted stock
Other operating activities, net
EBITDA

$

$

2005
$ 216,264
490,971
273,999
738

2006
14,637
182,679
207,166
205

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2004
2003
2002
$ (78,471)
$ 139,471
$ 87,715
585,562
239,989
200,623
200,667
154,525
123,736
1,227
7,523
9,391

48,708
216,939
(25,593)

45,483
(175,358)
(18,862)

41,764
(104,424)
(15,208)

38,263
(67,248)
(16,051)

32,162
(43,033)
(9,833)

14,632
3,379
662,752

(30,505)
7,708
810,438

(17,475)
(10,920)
$ 602,722

(17,120)
(913)
$ 478,439

(12,103)
(5,095)
$ 383,563
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$

Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements
Note: Certain statements in this annual report may be regarded as “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, and may qualify for the safe harbor provided for in Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. These forward-looking statements represent the Company’s expectations and beliefs concerning future events, and no assurance can
be given that the results described in this annual report will be achieved. These forward-looking statements can generally be identified by the
use of statements that include words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “foresee,” “goal,” “intend,” “likely,” “may,”
“plan,” “project,” “should,” “target,” “will” or other similar words or phrases. All forward-looking statements contained herein are based
upon information available to the Company on the date of this annual report. Except as may be required under applicable law, the Company
does not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise.
These forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside of the Company’s control,
that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. The factors and assumptions
upon which any forward-looking statements herein are based are subject to risks and uncertainties which include, among others:
• economic changes nationally or in the Company’s local markets, including volatility and increases in interest rates, inflation, changes in
consumer demand and confidence levels and the state of the market for homes in general;
• the availability and cost of land;
• increased land development costs on projects under development;
• shortages of skilled labor or raw materials used in the production of houses;
• increased prices for labor, land and raw materials used in the production of houses;
• increased competition;
• failure to anticipate or react to changing consumer preferences in home design;
• increased costs and delays in land development or home construction resulting from adverse weather conditions;
• potential delays or increased costs in obtaining necessary permits as a result of changes to laws, regulations or governmental policies
(including those that affect zoning, density, building standards and the environment);
• delays in obtaining approvals from applicable regulatory agencies and others in connection with the Company’s communities and land
activities;
• the risk factors set forth in this Form 10-K; and
• other factors over which the Company has little or no control.
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Overview/Results of Operations
During 2006, the homebuilding industry continued to experience a softening of demand for new homes. Over the last several years, the price
appreciation of homes was relatively high in most markets and, in turn, attracted speculation. As price appreciation slowed, consumer
confidence and demand declined causing national homebuilders to experience increasing inventories, which resulted in a dramatic rise in the
number of homes available for sale. The Company experienced a decrease in sales orders due to this lower demand, as well as to an increase in
sales contract cancellations. As a result, the Company modified its operating strategy to compete in this changing environment by increasing
advertising, sales price discounts and other incentives to generate sales; by striving to reduce inventory and commitments to purchase land in
the future through contract renegotiations and cancellations; by decreasing its overhead expense to more closely match projected volume levels;
and by renegotiating contracts with subcontractors and suppliers.
Despite this challenging environment, the Company’s earnings, revenues and deliveries of homes represented the second-best year in the
Company’s history. Although results were indicative of the more challenging economic climate, they also reflected the Company’s ability to
deliver strong returns through geographic diversification while managing risk in uncertain conditions. The Company also achieved additional
economies as a result of its variable-cost structure, consolidation of operations and cost-saving initiatives. It improved its Fortune 500 ranking
and maintained its investment-grade rating while lowering leverage and the average interest rate on its debt. The Company continues to make
investments in new marketing initiatives, product development, customer service, training and technology, all of which are critical to capturing
market share while improving the customer’s experience and streamlining processes.
The Company reported consolidated net earnings of $359.9 million, or $7.83 per diluted share, for 2006, compared to $447.1 million, or $9.03
per diluted share, for 2005 and $320.5 million, or $6.36 per diluted share, for 2004. The net earnings decrease for 2006, compared to 2005,
resulted from a broad trend toward softening demand in residential housing and a more competitive sales environment in most markets, as well
as from inventory valuation adjustments and write-offs of deposits and preacquisition costs that accompanied selective local market weakness.
The rise in the Company’s net earnings from 2004 to 2005 was primarily due to higher revenues, increased operating margins and decreased
expenses for its homebuilding operations.
Total revenues for 2006 were $4.8 billion, a decrease of $60.4 million or 1.3 percent, from 2005 that resulted from a decline in closing volume,
partially offset by an increase in average sales price. Total revenues for 2005 exceeded 2004 levels by $865.7 million, or 21.9 percent.
Homebuilding pretax operating margins were 12.3 percent for 2006, compared to 15.8 percent for 2005 and 13.6 percent for 2004. The
decrease in margins in 2006 from 2005 was due to increased price concessions and sales incentives in most markets, inventory valuation
adjustments and option deposit write-offs.
EBITDA was $662.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to $810.4 million and $602.7 million for the same period in
2005 and 2004, respectively. The Company’s ratio of EBITDA to interest incurred was 9.2 for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to
12.2 for 2005 and 11.3 for 2004.
In an effort to position itself for competitive industry conditions in 2007, the Company generated cash flows in 2006 from its operations by
maintaining profitability, while reducing land acquisition and construction activity. The Company had 15,353 fewer lots under control, or a
20.3 percent decrease at December 31, 2006, versus year-end 2005, as a result of terminating marginal option contracts. Inventory growth was
more moderate during 2006 in order to balance lower order volume with an ability to gain market share in the event of stabilizing demand.
Goodwill of $18.2 million remained unchanged in 2006 from 2005 and was among the lowest in the industry. The Company’s debt-to-capital
ratio was 38.6 percent at December 31, 2006, as compared to 40.1 percent for the
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same period in 2005. The weighted-average rate of interest for the Company’s debt was 5.8 percent and 6.3 percent at December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

2004
2005
2006

RETURN ON EQUITY
38.9%
42.3%
26.2%

RETURN ON CAPITAL
24.8%
29.4%
17.0%

STOCKHOLDERS’
EQUITY PER SHARE
$ 22.32
$ 29.68
$ 35.46

Stockholders’ equity increased 9.8 percent, or $135.1 million, during 2006, compared to an increase of 30.2 percent, or $319.2 million, during
2005. As a result of balancing cash outlays with inventory management, leverage objectives and common stock repurchases, stockholders’
equity per share increased 19.5 percent to $35.46 in 2006, compared to $29.68 in 2005. The Company’s book value at December 31, 2006, was
98.8 percent tangible. The Company is not a significant participant in off-balance sheet financing outside of traditional option contracts with
land developers and its investments in joint ventures represent less than one percent of its total assets. Its balance sheet continues to reflect the
Company’s strength, low-risk strategy and transparency.
During 2006, the Company continued to deliver solid returns to stockholders while maintaining its strategically low-risk model. In addition, it
has focused on realigning the business to prepare for a prolonged downturn, should it occur, and developing competitive advantages through
training and technology initiatives. Return on beginning equity was 26.2 percent, return on beginning capital 1 was 17.0 percent and inventory
was turned 1.3 times. The Company’s cost of capital has declined. Despite a challenging industry environment, the Company’s stockholder
returns remained among the highest in the industry and Fortune 500 companies.
Homebuilding
The Company’s homebuilding operations consist of four geographically-determined regional reporting segments: North, Southeast, Texas and
West.
New orders represent sales contracts that have been signed by the homebuyer and approved by the Company, subject to cancellation. The dollar
value of new order contracts decreased $1.9 billion, or 37.5 percent, to $3.2 billion for the year ended December 31, 2006, from $5.1 billion for
the year ended December 31, 2005, and $4.4 billion for the same period in 2004 due to slowing demand and to increases in cancellation rates.
Unit orders decreased 36.4 percent in 2006 and increased 3.8 percent in 2005. Cancellation rates totaled 37.1 percent and 22.3 percent for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
The combined homebuilding operations reported pretax earnings of $573.1 million for 2006, compared to $744.2 million for 2005 and $525.5
million for 2004. Homebuilding results in 2006 decreased from 2005 primarily due to an environment of slowing demand that resulted in
declining prices and valuations, which in turn led to a decline in gross profit margins and closing volume, offset by a 6.1 percent increase in
average closing price. Homebuilding results in 2005 increased from 2004 due to higher average closing prices, gross profit margins and closing
volume.
Homebuilding revenues fell 1.5 percent for 2006, compared to 2005, due to a 7.7 percent decrease in closings, partially offset by a 6.1 percent
increase in average closing price. The decline in closings in 2006 was due to slowing market trends and a more competitive sales environment
in most markets. The increase in the average closing price was primarily due to the delivery of homes in 2006 that were sold in 2005 under
more favorable market conditions than currently exist. Homebuilding revenues increased 22.2 percent for 2005, compared to 2004, due to a
10.4 percent rise in closings and a
1 Return

on beginning capital is calculated by dividing net earnings before tax-affected interest by the sum of beginning debt and total
stockholders’ equity.
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10.8 percent increase in average closing price. The rise in closings in 2005 was due to a higher backlog at the beginning of the year and a 3.8
percent increase in new home orders during the year.
Consistent with its policy of managing land investments according to return and risk targets, the Company executed several land and lot sales
during the year. Homebuilding revenues for the year ended December 31, 2006, included $94.3 million from land and lot sales, compared to
$96.9 million for 2005 and $74.2 million for 2004, which contributed net gains of $24.8 million, $23.9 million and $25.2 million to pretax
earnings in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

2004
2005
2006

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN
23.2%
25.2%
21.8%

SG&A EXPENSE
9.8%
9.4%
9.5%

PRETAX
EARNINGS MARGIN
13.6%
15.8%
12.3%

Gross profit margins from home sales averaged 21.8 percent for 2006, a decrease from 25.2 percent for 2005 and 23.2 percent for 2004. The
decline was primarily attributable to a more competitive market that resulted in an increase in price concessions and sales incentives; inventory
valuation adjustments; and deposit write-offs during the year. Price concessions and sales incentives totaled 7.1 percent for the year ended
December 31, 2006, versus 4.8 percent for the same period in 2005. The Company evaluates its land and housing inventory in accordance with
the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144 (“SFAS 144”), “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of LongLived Assets” on a quarterly basis and more frequently if impairment indicators exist. In certain markets where conditions have deteriorated
due to decreased demand and increased competition for fewer buyers, selective land or inventory positions have declined in value and become
impaired. The Company has written down certain impaired inventories by $62.9 million and $800,000 during 2006 and 2005, respectively, to
their estimated fair values. From time to time, a community’s projected profitability may not produce returns commensurate with the
Company’s requirements, and the Company cancels the option and writes off the deposit. During 2006, the Company wrote off residential land
option deposits totaling $10.9 million. Impairment adjustments and deposit write-offs primarily impacted the West region and were included in
“Cost of goods sold.” (See “Housing Inventories” within Note A, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”) The Company generated the
strongest gross margins in its Baltimore, Charleston, Jacksonville, Las Vegas, Orlando, Phoenix, Tampa and Washington, D.C., markets, while
its Denver, Fort Myers and Ohio Valley markets were the most challenging.
Selling, general and administrative expenses, as a percentage of revenue, were 9.5 percent for 2006, 9.4 percent for 2005 and 9.8 percent for
2004. Selling, general and administrative expenses, as a percentage of revenue, remained relatively flat from the prior year due to cost
reduction efforts in the face of declining revenues in various markets and a decrease in compensation that was commensurate with lower
earnings, partially offset by $6.9 million in feasibility cost write-offs, resulting from the abandonment of certain projects. The decrease in
selling, general and administrative expenses, as a percentage of revenue, in 2005 compared to 2004, was primarily attributable to leverage
obtained through a substantial rise in closings in the Atlanta, Charlotte, Inland Empire, Jacksonville, Las Vegas, Phoenix and Texas markets,
which was accompanied by more moderate increases in marketing and general and administrative expenses, partially offset by higher incentive
compensation expense due to improved earnings.
In 2006 and 2005, the homebuilding segments capitalized all interest incurred. The rise in capitalized interest resulted from increased
development activity relative to homebuilding construction activity.

22

Homebuilding Segments
New orders for 2006 decreased 31.1 percent in the North, 43.8 percent in the Southeast, 12.6 percent in Texas and 54.7 percent in the West. In
2006, the decline in new orders was primarily due to a softening in demand in most markets and a more competitive sales environment. Market
uncertainty and heightened pricing competition among homebuilders led to rising cancellation rates by homebuyers and were a major factor in
this order decline. New orders for 2005 increased 12.4 percent in the Southeast and 12.2 percent in Texas, but decreased 1.9 percent in the
North and 7.2 percent in the West. In 2005, new order trends were generally driven by historically low interest rates and expansion plans, but
they declined slightly in the fourth quarter in the North and West due, in part, to the moderating effect increased price appreciation had on
consumer demand and to product shortages in Las Vegas that resulted, in part, from delays in development, processing and approval times for
new projects.
NEW ORDERS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004
2006
UNITS/ Percentage of total
North

4,333
24.7 %
5,630
32.2 %
3,702
21.1 %
3,852
22.0 %
17,517

2,987
26.8 %
3,164
28.4 %
3,237
29.1 %
1,746
15.7 %
11,134

Southeast
Texas
West
Total
DOLLARS (in millions)
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Total

$

$

CANCELLATION PERCENTAGE
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Total

970
921
653
666
3,210

31.5%
39.0
32.2
48.3
37.1%

$

$

1,355
1,621
680
1,480
5,136

19.7%
17.6
28.4
25.3
22.3%

4,419
26.2 %
5,009
29.7 %
3,299
19.5 %
4,153
24.6 %
16,880

$

$

1,318
1,222
546
1,347
4,433

17.5%
19.3
30.6
18.9
21.2%

The increase in cancellation rates was highest in the western and Florida markets, which experienced more extreme price appreciation in recent
years.
The Company experiences seasonal variations in its quarterly operating results and capital requirements. Historically, new order activity is
higher in the spring and summer months. As a result, it typically has more homes under construction, closes more homes, and has greater
revenues and operating income in the third and fourth quarters of the year. This is primarily due to the preference of many homebuyers to act
during those periods.
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CLOSINGS

2006
UNITS/ Percentage of total
North

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004
4,367
26.2 %
4,887
29.3 %
3,365
20.2 %
4,054
24.3 %
16,673

3,604
23.4 %
5,126
33.3 %
3,546
23.0 %
3,116
20.3 %
15,392

Southeast
Texas
West
Total
AVERAGE CLOSING PRICE (in thousands)
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Total

$

$

320
293
193
385
295

$

$

310
254
177
356
278

4,349
28.8 %
4,374
29.0 %
3,116
20.6 %
3,262
21.6 %
15,101

$

288
230
165
312
251

$

Outstanding contracts denote the Company’s backlog of homes sold but not closed, which are generally built and closed, subject to
cancellation, over the subsequent two quarters. The Company had outstanding contracts for 4,206 units at December 31, 2006. The $1.3 billion
value of outstanding contracts at December 31, 2006, represents a decrease of 50.6 percent from December 31, 2005, due to a 50.3 percent
decline in unit orders. Average sales price increases resulted, in part, from a change in mix that was weighted toward higher-priced homes.
Outstanding contracts at December 31, 2006, represented approximately 35 percent of 2007 targeted closings.
OUTSTANDING CONTRACTS

UNITS
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Total
DOLLARS (in millions)
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Total

$

$

AVERAGE PRICE (in thousands)
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Total

$

$
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2006

DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004

1,157
1,639
1,020
390
4,206

1,774
3,601
1,329
1,760
8,464

1,808
2,858
992
1,962
7,620

387
526
228
153
1,294

$

571
1,106
259
686
$ 2,622

$

334
321
224
391
308

$

$

$

322
307
195
390
310

568
725
173
649
$ 2,115

$

314
254
175
331
278

STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(in thousands)
NORTH
Revenues
Expenses
Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total expenses
Pretax earnings

2006

SOUTHEAST
Revenues
Expenses
Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total expenses
Pretax earnings
TEXAS
Revenues
Expenses
Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total expenses
Pretax earnings
WEST
Revenues
Expenses
Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total expenses
Pretax earnings
TOTAL
Revenues
Expenses
Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total expenses
Pretax earnings
HOUSING GROSS PROFIT MARGINS
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Total

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004
$

1,388,208

$ 1,284,361

$

917,804
107,895
1,025,699
170,636

$

1,023,752
123,273
1,147,025
241,183

938,045
111,925
1,049,970
$ 234,391

$

1,522,123

$

1,258,373

$ 1,011,494

$

1,128,421
140,582
1,269,003
253,120

$

962,634
116,497
1,079,131
179,242

$

796,071
106,459
902,530
108,964

$

695,356

$

619,332

$

533,276

$

564,003
71,499
635,502
59,854

$

509,818
65,206
575,024
44,308

$

438,238
58,171
496,409
36,867

$

1,240,106

$

1,459,838

$ 1,037,955

$

1,029,847
120,726
1,150,573
89,533

$

1,041,399
138,962
1,180,361
279,477

$

791,733
100,990
892,723
145,232

$

4,653,920

$

4,725,751

$ 3,867,086

$

3,640,075
440,702
4,080,777
573,143

$

3,537,603
443,938
3,981,541
744,210

2,964,087
377,545
3,341,632
$ 525,454

$

1,196,335

23.4%
25.9
18.5
16.8
21.8%
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26.5%
23.4
17.9
28.4
25.2%

26.6%
21.3
17.6
23.6
23.2%

Homebuilding Segments 2006 versus 2005
North – Homebuilding revenues decreased by 13.8 percent to $1.2 billion in 2006 from $1.4 billion in 2005 primarily due to a 17.5 percent
decline in the number of homes delivered in all of the markets in this segment, partially offset by a 3.2 percent increase in average closing
price. Gross margins from home sales were 23.4 percent in 2006, compared to 26.5 percent in 2005. Gross margins on home sales decreased in
2006 primarily due to increased price concessions and sales incentives totaling 7.9 percent in 2006, versus 5.9 percent in 2005.
Southeast – Homebuilding revenues were $1.5 billion in 2006, compared to $1.3 billion in 2005, an increase of 21.0 percent, primarily due to a
4.9 percent rise in the number of homes delivered and a 15.4 percent increase in the average sales price of homes delivered. Gross margins on
home sales were 25.9 percent in 2006, compared to 23.4 percent in 2005. Gross margins on home sales increased in 2006 primarily due to a
15.4 percent rise in average sales price and to a change in mix in prices and profitability of homes delivered, partially offset by an increase in
price concessions and sales incentives. Price concessions and sales incentives for the year ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were 5.6
percent and 3.4 percent, respectively.
Texas – Homebuilding revenues increased by 12.3 percent to $695.4 million in 2006 from $619.3 million in 2005 primarily due to a 5.4
percent increase in the number of homes delivered and a 9.0 percent increase in the average sales price of homes delivered. Gross margins on
home sales were 18.5 percent in 2006, compared to 17.9 percent in 2005.
West – Homebuilding revenues decreased $219.7 million, or 15.1 percent, to $1.2 billion in 2006, compared to $1.5 billion in 2005, primarily
due to a 23.1 percent decline in the number of homes delivered, partially offset by an 8.1 percent increase in average closing price. Gross
margins from home sales were 16.8 percent in 2006, compared to 28.4 percent in 2005. Gross margins on home sales decreased in 2006 due to
an increase in sales incentives, inventory valuation adjustments and deposit write-offs. Price concessions and sales incentives for the year
ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were 8.7 percent and 3.5 percent, respectively.
Homebuilding Segments 2005 versus 2004
North – Homebuilding revenues increased by 8.1 percent to $1.4 billion in 2005 from $1.3 billion in 2004 primarily due to an increase in the
number of homes delivered in the Twin Cities market and an increase in the average sales price of homes delivered in all of the markets in this
segment.
Southeast – Homebuilding revenues were $1.3 billion in 2005, compared to $1.0 billion in 2004, an increase of 24.4 percent, primarily due to a
rise in the number of homes delivered and a 10.4 percent increase in the average sales price of homes delivered. Gross margins on home sales
were 23.4 percent in 2005, compared to 21.3 percent in 2004. Gross margins on home sales increased in 2005 primarily due to rising demand
and sales prices.
Texas – Homebuilding revenues increased by 16.1 percent to $619.3 million in 2005 from $533.3 million in 2004 primarily due to a rise in the
number of homes delivered and an increase in the average sales price of homes delivered. Gross margins on home sales were 17.9 percent in
2005, compared to 17.6 percent in 2004.
West – Homebuilding revenues increased $421.9 million, or 40.6 percent, to $1.5 billion in 2005, compared to $1.0 billion in 2004, primarily
due to a rise in the number of homes delivered in the Inland Empire, Las Vegas and Phoenix markets, plus a 14.1 percent increase in the
average sales price of homes delivered. Gross margins from home sales were 28.4 percent in 2005, compared to 23.6 percent in 2004. This
increase was due to a significant rise in price appreciation.
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Financial Services
The Company’s financial services segment provides mortgage-related products and services, as well as insurance services to its homebuyers
and subcontractors. By aligning its operations with the Company’s homebuilding segments, the financial services segment leverages this
relationship to provide lending services to homebuyers. In addition to being a valuable asset to customers, the financial services segment
greatly enhances the Company’s profitability. Providing mortgage financing and other services to its customers allows the homebuilder to
better monitor its backlog and closing process. Substantially all loans are sold to a third party within one business day of the date they close.
The third party then services and manages the loans and assumes the credit risk of borrower default. Insurance services provide subcontractors
with construction-related insurance in the western markets. Additionally, the financial services segment provides insurance for liability risks,
specifically homeowners’ warranty coverage, arising in connection with the homebuilding business of the Company.
FINANCIAL SERVICES STATEMENT OF EARNINGS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004
2006

(in thousands)
REVENUES
Net gains on sales of mortgages and mortgage servicing rights
Title/escrow/insurance
Net origination fees
Interest and other
TOTAL REVENUES

$

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
PRETAX EARNINGS
Ryland Homes origination capture rate
Mortgage-backed securities and notes receivable average balance

$
$

44,231
41,086
16,552
1,427
103,296

$ 45,918
28,489
15,032
2,376
91,815

$ 45,040
23,740
10,768
5,187
84,735

32,442
28,033
35,601
$ 59,373 $ 56,702
67,695
81.9%
84.2%
81.9%
$ 7,365 $ 18,603
1,707

In 2006, RMC’s mortgage origination operations consisted primarily of mortgage loans originated in connection with the sale of the
Company’s homes. The number of mortgage originations was 11,744 for 2006, compared to 12,774 for 2005 and 11,920 for 2004. During
2006, total dollar originations were $3.0 billion, of which 99.7 percent was for purchases of homes built by the Company and the remaining
amount was for either purchases of homes built by others, purchases of existing homes or the refinancing of existing mortgage loans. The
capture rate of mortgages originated for customers of the Company’s homebuilding operations was 81.9 percent in 2006 and 2005, compared to
84.2 percent in 2004.
The financial services segment reported pretax earnings of $67.7 million for 2006, compared to $59.4 million for 2005 and $56.7 million for
2004. The increase in 2006 was primarily due to increased income from insurance services and a 6.5 percent rise in average loan size, offset by
an 8.1 percent decrease in loans originated. The increase in 2005 versus 2004 was primarily due to a 7.2 percent increase in loans originated
and a rise in average loan size, as well as increased profitability from title, escrow and insurance operations.
Revenues for the financial services segment were $103.3 million for 2006, compared to $91.8 million for 2005. This rise was attributable to a
$12.6 million increase in title, escrow and insurance revenues, partially offset by reduced interest income from a declining investment portfolio
and reduced revenue from the sales of mortgages and mortgage servicing rights. In 2005, revenues for the financial services segment increased
8.4 percent to $91.8 million from $84.7 million in 2004 due to increased revenues from loan origination activities and title, escrow and
insurance operations, partially offset by reduced interest income from the declining investment portfolio.
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General and administrative expenses increased for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to 2005, primarily as a result of additional
expenses incurred in the Company’s insurance operations. General and administrative expenses rose for the year ended December 31, 2005,
compared to 2004, primarily as a result of additional expenses incurred in both the Company’s mortgage operations and its title and insurance
operations.
Interest expense decreased 72.2 percent for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to 2005, due to continued runoff and redemption of
the Company’s mortage-backed securities portfolio. In 2005, interest expense decreased 27.4 percent, compared to 2004, primarily as a result
of a continued decline in bonds payable and short-term notes payable, which resulted from continued runoff of the underlying collateral and
from the sale and redemption of portions of the Company’s mortgage-backed securities portfolio.
Corporate
Corporate expenses were $66.0 million for 2006, $74.3 million for 2005 and $60.9 million for 2004. Excluding stock option expense required
by a change in accounting principle, corporate expense was $60.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. Corporate expense for 2006,
as compared to 2005, declined primarily due to lower executive compensation expense that resulted from a decline in earnings and stock price.
Corporate expense for 2005, as compared to 2004, rose primarily as a result of an increase in support and training costs that was commensurate
with anticipated growth; a rise in incentive compensation, which was due to increases in the Company’s results and financial performance; and
costs incurred as a result of the Company’s compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
The Company ended the year with $215.0 million in cash, no borrowings against its revolving credit facility and a lower cost of funds.
In 2006, the Company recorded an expense of approximately $7.7 million associated with the early redemption of $150.0 million of its 9.1
percent senior subordinated notes due June 2011, of which it owned $6.5 million, at a stated call price of 104.6 percent of the principal amount.
In 2005, the Company recorded an expense of approximately $8.3 million associated with the early redemption of $150.0 million of its 9.8
percent senior notes due September 2010, of which it owned $3.0 million, at a stated call price of 104.9 percent of the principal amount.
Investments in Joint Ventures
At December 31, 2006, the Company had an interest in 12 active joint ventures in the Atlanta, Austin, Chicago, Dallas, Denver, Las Vegas,
Orlando and Phoenix markets, three of which were consolidated. These joint ventures exist for the purpose of acquisition and co-development
of lots, which are then sold to the Company, its joint venture partners or others, at market prices. Depending on the number of joint ventures
and the level of activity in the entities, annual earnings from the Company’s investment in joint ventures will vary significantly. The
Company’s proportionate share of losses from unconsolidated joint ventures in 2006, totaled $260,000, compared to earnings of $315,000 in
2005 and $5.8 million in 2004. The earnings in 2004 were primarily attributable to a $5.4 million gain on the sale of land to a third party in one
joint venture in Atlanta. The Company’s investment in unconsolidated joint ventures was $13.5 million at December 31, 2006, compared to
$10.2 million at December 31, 2005. (See “Investments in Joint Ventures” within Note A, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”)
Income Taxes
Income taxes for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 were provided at effective tax rates of 36.5 percent, 38.0 percent and 38.5 percent,
respectively. The decrease in the effective tax rate for 2006, as compared to 2005, was primarily attributable to prior years’ tax provisions no
longer required due
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to the expiration of various tax statutes. The decrease in the effective tax rate for 2005 and 2004 was primarily attributable to a new tax
deduction on qualified production activities created by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. (See Note H, “Income Taxes.”)
Financial Condition and Liquidity
Cash requirements for the Company are generally provided from internally generated funds and outside borrowings.
Net earnings provided cash flows of $359.9 million in 2006, $447.1 million in 2005 and $320.5 million in 2004. New debt was issued during
the year ended December 31, 2006, that provided cash flows of $250.0 million, compared to $500.0 million for the same period in 2005.
Repayment of senior and senior subordinated notes used $243.5 million and $147.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Additionally, net changes in other assets, payables and other liabilities used $216.9 million in 2006; and provided cash flows of
$175.4 million in 2005 and $104.4 million in 2004. The cash provided was invested principally in inventory of $182.7 million, $491.0 million
and $585.6 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively; as well as in stock repurchases of $250.1 million, $176.2 million and $118.3 million
for the same periods in 2006, 2005 and 2004. Dividends totaled $0.48, $0.30 and $0.21 per share for the annual periods ended December 31,
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. During 2006, stockholders’ equity rose $135.1 million, while debt increased $28.1 million, decreasing the
Company’s leverage.

2004
2005
2006

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in millions)
$ 1,057
$ 1,376
$ 1,511

DEBT
(in millions)
$ 559
$ 922
$ 950

DEBT-TO-CAPITAL
RATIO
34.6%
40.1%
38.6%

Consolidated inventories owned by the Company increased to $2.5 billion at December 31, 2006, from $2.3 billion at December 31, 2005. The
Company attempts to maintain a projected four- to five-year supply of land, with nearly half controlled through options. At December 31,
2006, the Company controlled 60,318 lots, with 31,251 lots owned and 29,067 lots, or 48.2 percent, under option. The Company has
historically funded the acquisition of land and the exercise of land options through a combination of operating cash flows, capital transactions
and borrowings under its revolving credit facility. The Company expects these sources to continue to be adequate to fund future obligations
with regard to the acquisition of land and the exercise of land options; therefore, it does not anticipate that the exercise of land options will have
a material adverse effect on its liquidity. In an effort to increase liquidity, models have been sold and leased back on a selective basis for
generally three to eighteen months. The Company owned 66.9 percent and 80.7 percent of its model homes at December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively.
The homebuilding segments’ borrowings include senior notes, an unsecured revolving credit facility and nonrecourse secured notes payable.
Senior notes outstanding totaled $900.0 million at December 31, 2006. Senior and senior subordinated notes outstanding totaled $893.5 million
at December 31, 2005.
In 2006, the Company redeemed $150.0 million of its 9.1 percent senior subordinated notes due June 2011, of which it owned $6.5 million.
The redemption price was 104.6 percent of the principal amount of the notes outstanding, plus accrued interest as of the redemption date. The
Company recognized a $7.7 million loss related to the early retirement of these senior subordinated notes in the third quarter of 2006.
Additionally, the Company’s 8.0 percent senior notes, which totaled $100.0 million, matured in August 2006.
In January 2006, the Company replaced its $500.0 million revolving credit facility with a new $750.0 million revolving credit facility. In
November 2006, the Company increased this revolving
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credit facility from $750.0 million to $1.1 billion through its accordion feature. The credit agreement, which matures in January 2011, also
provides access to an additional $366.5 million of financing through an accordion feature under which the aggregate commitment may be
increased up to $1.5 billion, subject to the availability of additional lending commitments. The $1.1 billion revolving credit facility includes a
$75.0 million swing-line facility and a $600.0 million sublimit for issuance of standby letters of credit. Amounts borrowed under the credit
agreement are guaranteed on a joint and several basis by substantially all of the Company’s wholly-owned homebuilding subsidiaries. Such
guarantees are full and unconditional. Interest rates on outstanding borrowings are determined either by reference to LIBOR, with margins
determined based on changes in its leverage ratio and credit ratings, or by reference to an alternate base rate. The credit agreement contains
various customary affirmative, negative and financial covenants. The Company was in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2006.
(See Note F, “Debt.”)
The Company uses its unsecured revolving credit facility to finance increases in its homebuilding inventory and working capital, when
necessary. There were no borrowings outstanding under the current or previous agreements at December 31, 2006 or 2005, respectively. Under
the respective agreements, the Company had letters of credit outstanding that totaled $192.9 million at December 31, 2006, and $185.6 million
at December 31, 2005. Unused borrowing capacity under the respective facilities totaled $940.6 million and $314.4 million at December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively.
The $150.0 million of 5.4 percent senior notes due June 2008; the $250.0 million of 5.4 percent senior notes due May 2012; the $250.0 million
of 6.9 percent senior notes due June 2013; and the $250.0 million of 5.4 percent senior notes due January 2015 are subject to certain covenants
that include, among other things, restrictions on additional secured debt and the sale of assets. At December 31, 2006, the Company was in
compliance with these covenants.
In 2006, the Company terminated its treasury interest rate locks (“treasury locks”), which were entered into in 2005 to facilitate the
replacement of some of its higher-rate senior and senior subordinated debt. (See Note D, “Derivative Instruments.”)
To finance its land purchases, the Company may also use seller-financed nonrecourse secured notes payable. At December 31, 2006, such notes
payable outstanding amounted to $50.1 million, compared to $28.5 million at December 31, 2005.
In 2005, the Company redeemed $150.0 million of its 9.8 percent senior notes due September 2010, of which it owned $3.0 million. The notes
were redeemed at a stated call price of 104.9 percent of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest. The Company recorded an
expense of $8.3 million related to the early retirement of this debt.
Although the Company no longer issues mortgage-backed securities and mortgage-participation securities, some of its limited-purpose
subsidiaries continued to hold collateral for previously issued mortgage-backed bonds in which the Company maintained a residual interest.
Revenues, expenses and portfolio balances declined as mortgage collateral pledged to secure the bonds decreased due to scheduled payments
and prepayments, as well as to the sale and redemption of a majority of the investment portfolio during 2005 and 2004.
The Company filed a shelf registration statement with the SEC for up to $1.0 billion of its debt and equity securities on April 11, 2005. At
December 31, 2006, $600.0 million remained available under this registration statement due to the issuance of $250.0 million of senior notes in
May 2005, of which $100.0 million was applied to a previous shelf registration statement, and the issuance of $250.0 million of senior notes in
May 2006. The registration statement provides that securities may be offered, from time to time, in one or more series and in the form of
senior, subordinated or con-
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vertible debt; preferred stock; preferred stock represented by depository shares; common stock; stock purchase contracts; stock purchase units;
and warrants to purchase both debt and equity securities. In the future, the Company intends to continue to maintain effective shelf registration
statements that will facilitate access to the capital markets. The timing and amount of future offerings, if any, will depend on market and
general business conditions.
During 2006, the Company repurchased 4.7 million shares of its common stock at a cost of $250.1 million. In December, the Company’s Board
of Directors authorized the purchase of additional shares totaling $175.0 million. At December 31, 2006, the Company had existing
authorization from its Board of Directors to purchase a total of approximately 3.7 million shares at a cost of $201.6 million, based on the
Company’s stock price on that date. Outstanding shares at December 31, 2006, were 42,612,525, versus 46,368,143 for December 31, 2005, a
decrease of 8.1 percent.
The Company granted fewer stock options in 2006 that, when combined with common stock repurchases and lower stock prices, lowered
dilution.
The following table provides a summary of the Company’s contractual cash obligations and commercial commitments at December 31, 2006,
and the effect such obligations are expected to have on liquidity and cash flow in future periods.

(in thousands)
Debt, principle maturities
Interest on debt
Operating leases
Land option contracts 1
Total at December 31, 2006
1 Represents

TOTAL
$
950,117
302,713
59,572
33,645
$ 1,346,047

2007
$ 25,980
52,125
14,052
26,393
$ 118,550

CONTRACTUAL PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD
2008-2009
2010-2011
AFTER 2011
$
170,893 $
3,244 $
750,000
91,485
88,126
70,977
22,766
13,909
8,845
7,252
$ 292,396
$
105,279
$
829,822

obligations under option contracts with specific performance provisions, net of cash deposits.

The Company believes that its current cash position, cash generation capabilities, amounts available under its revolving credit facility and
ability to access the capital markets in a timely manner with its existing shelf registration statement are adequate to meet its cash needs for the
foreseeable future.
Off–Balance Sheet Arrangements
In the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into land and lot option purchase contracts in order to procure land or lots for the
construction of homes. Land and lot option purchase contracts enable the Company to control significant lot positions with a minimal capital
investment and substantially reduce the risks associated with land ownership and development. The Company had $187.8 million in cash
deposits and letters of credit to purchase land and lots with a total purchase price of $1.5 billion at December 31, 2006. Only $34.2 million of
the $1.5 billion in land and lot option purchase contracts contain specific performance provisions. Additionally, the Company’s liability is
generally limited to forfeiture of the nonrefundable deposits, letters of credit and other nonrefundable amounts incurred.
Pursuant to Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” the Company consolidated $263.9 million of
inventory not owned at December 31, 2006, $186.0 million of which pertained to land and lot option purchase contracts and $77.9 million of
which pertained to three of the Company’s homebuilding joint ventures. (See “Variable Interest Entities” and “Investments in Joint Ventures”
within Note A, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”)
At December 31, 2006, the Company had outstanding letters of credit totaling $192.9 million and development or performance bonds totaling
$482.2 million, issued by third parties, to secure performance under various contracts and obligations relating to land or municipal
improvement. The
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Company expects that the obligations secured by these letters of credit and performance bonds will generally be satisfied in the ordinary course
of business and in accordance with applicable contractual terms. To the extent that the obligations are fulfilled, the related letters of credit and
performance bonds will be released, and the Company will not have any continuing obligations.
The Company has no material third-party guarantees other than those associated with its $1.1 billion revolving credit facility, its senior notes
and its investments in joint ventures. (See “Investments in Joint Ventures” within Note A, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies;” and
Note K, “Supplemental Guarantor Information.”)
Critical Accounting Policies
Preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements requires the use of judgment in the application of accounting policies and
estimates of inherently uncertain matters. Listed below are those policies that management believes are critical and require the use of complex
judgment in their application.
Management has discussed the critical accounting policies with the Audit Committee of its Board of Directors and the Audit Committee has
reviewed the disclosure. There are items within the financial statements that require estimation, but are not considered critical.
Share-Based Payments
On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R) (“SFAS 123(R)”)
“Share-Based Payment,” which requires that compensation expense be measured and recognized at an amount equal to the fair value of sharebased payments granted under compensation arrangements. The Company calculates the fair value of stock options by using the BlackScholes-Merton option-pricing model. The determination of the fair value of share-based awards at the grant date requires judgment in
developing assumptions, which involve a number of variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, the expected stock-price
volatility over the term of the awards, the expected dividend yield and the expected stock option exercise behavior. Additionally, judgment is
also required in estimating the number of share-based awards that are expected to forfeit. If actual results differ significantly from these
estimates, stock-based compensation expense and the Company’s consolidated results of operations could be materially impacted. The
Company believes the accounting for stock-based compensation is a critical accounting policy because it requires the use of complex judgment
in its application.
Use of Estimates
In budgeting land acquisitions, development and homebuilding construction costs associated with real estate projects, the Company evaluates
market conditions; material and labor costs; buyer preferences; construction timing; and provisions for insurance and warranty obligations. The
Company accrues its best estimate of the probable cost for resolution of legal claims. Estimates, which are based on historical experience and
other assumptions, are reviewed continually, updated when necessary and believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management
believes that the timing and scope of its evaluation procedures are proper and adequate. Changes in assumptions relating to such factors,
however, could have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations for a particular quarterly or annual period.
Income Recognition
Revenues and cost of sales are recorded at the time each home or lot is closed, title and possession are transferred to the buyer and there is no
significant continuing involvement in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 66 (“SFAS 66”), “Accounting for
Sales of Real Estate.” In order to match revenues with related expenses, land, land development, interest, taxes and other related costs (both
incurred and estimated to be incurred in the future) are allocated to the cost of
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homes closed, based upon the relative sales value basis of the total number of homes to be constructed in each community, in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 67 (“SFAS 67”), “Accounting for Costs and Initial Rental Operations of Real Estate
Projects.” Estimated land, common area development and related costs of planned communities (including the cost of amenities) are allocated
to individual parcels or communities on a relative sales value basis. Changes to estimated costs, subsequent to the commencement of the
delivery of homes, are allocated to the remaining undelivered homes in the community. Home construction and related costs are charged to the
cost of homes closed under the specific-identification method.
Inventory Valuation
Housing projects and land held for development (inventory) and sale are stated at either the lower of cost or net realizable value. Inventory
includes land and development costs; direct construction costs; capitalized indirect construction costs; capitalized interest; and real estate taxes.
It may take one to three years to develop, sell and deliver all of the homes in a typical community. The Company assesses these assets for
recoverability in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144 (“SFAS 144”), “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” SFAS 144 requires that long-lived assets and assets held-for-sale be reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of housing
inventories is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by that
asset or by the sales of comparable assets. Assets held-for-sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value, less selling costs. These evaluations
for impairment are significantly impacted by estimates of revenues, costs and expenses, as well as by other factors. In addition, land, or costs
related to future communities, whether owned or under option, is reviewed to determine if the Company will proceed with development and if
all related costs are recoverable. If these assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets and is recognized within the same period that it is identified. Management
believes its processes are designed to properly assess market and carrying values of assets.
Variable Interest Entities
FIN 46 requires a variable interest entity to be consolidated by a company if that company is subject to the majority of the entity’s expected
losses and/or receives a majority of the entity’s expected returns as a result of ownership, contractual agreements or other financial interests in
the entity. FIN 46 also requires disclosure about variable interest entities (“VIEs”) that the Company is not required to consolidate but in which
it has a significant, though not primary, variable interest. The Company enters into joint ventures, from time to time, for the purpose of
acquisition and co-development of land parcels and lots. Its investment in these joint ventures may create a variable interest in a VIE,
depending on the contractual terms of the arrangement. Additionally, in the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into lot option
purchase contracts in order to procure land for the construction of homes. Under such lot option purchase contracts, the Company funds stated
deposits in consideration for the right to purchase lots at a future point in time, usually at predetermined prices. In accordance with the
requirements of FIN 46, certain of the Company’s lot option purchase contracts may result in the creation of a variable interest in a VIE. The
Company believes the accounting for joint ventures and land option purchase contracts using the variable interest consolidation methodology is
a critical accounting policy because compliance with FIN 46 requires the use of complex judgment in its application.
Income Taxes
The Company calculates a provision for its income taxes by using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognized by identifying the temporary differences arising from the different treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. In
determining the tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company’s financial statements or tax
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returns, judgment is required. Differences between the amounts recognized in its financial statements or tax returns and actual outcomes may
arise upon issuance of regulations and final guidance from federal and state taxing authorities and could have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated results of operations or financial position.
Outlook
In 2006, the Company experienced a decline in sales orders for new homes, compared to 2005. The Company continues to believe its sales
orders in late 2006 and early 2007 reflect broader market trends of a softening in demand for residential housing. Nearly all markets have been
affected by reduced demand and higher cancellation rates, leading to a buildup of new and resale home inventories. At December 31, 2006, the
Company’s backlog of orders for new homes totaled 4,206 units, or a projected dollar value of $1.3 billion, reflecting a 50.6 percent decline in
dollar value from December 31, 2005. As a result of these trends, the Company projects its diluted earnings per share will be between $3.75
and $4.25 for the year ending December 31, 2007.
Item 7 A . Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Market Risk Summary
The following table provides information about the Company’s significant financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest rates.
For debt obligations, the table presents principal cash flows and related weighted-average interest rates by expected maturity dates. For the
other financial instruments, weighted-average rates are based on implied forward rates as of the reporting date.
Interest Rate Sensitivity
Principal Amount by Expected Maturity

(in thousands)
Senior notes (fixed rate)
Average interest rate
Other financial instruments
Forward-delivery contracts:
Notional amount
Average interest rate
Mortgage interest rate
lock commitments:
Notional amount
Average interest rate

2007

$

41,000
5.5%

$ 124,927
6.3%

FAIR
THEREVALUE
2008
2009-2011
AFTER
TOTAL
12/31/06
$ 150,000
$ 750,000 $ 900,000 $ 891,695
5.4%
5.9%
5.8%
$

41,000 $
5.5%

152

$ 124,927 $
6.3%

598

Interest rate risk is a primary market risk facing the Company. Interest rate risk not only arises principally in the Company’s financial services
segment, but also in respect to the homebuilding segments’ revolving credit facility. The Company enters into forward-delivery contracts and
may, at times, use other hedging contracts to mitigate its exposure to movements in interest rates on mortgage interest rate lock commitments
(“IRLCs”) and mortgage loans held-for-sale. In managing interest rate risk, the Company does not speculate on the direction of interest rates.
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Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004
2006

(in thousands, except share data)
REVENUES
Homebuilding
Financial services
TOTAL REVENUES

$

EXPENSES
Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative
Financial services
Corporate
Expenses related to early retirement of debt
TOTAL EXPENSES
EARNINGS
Earnings before taxes
Tax expense
NET EARNINGS
NET EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
Basic
Diluted

$
$

AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING
Basic
Diluted
DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE

$

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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4,653,920
103,296
4,757,216

$ 4,725,751
91,815
4,817,566

$ 3,867,086
84,735
3,951,821

3,640,075
440,702
35,601
66,035
7,695
4,190,108

3,537,603
443,938
32,442
74,255
8,277
4,096,515

2,964,087
377,545
28,033
60,944
3,430,609

567,108
207,166
359,942

721,051
273,999
447,052

521,212
200,667
320,545

8.14
7.83
44,228,502
45,944,448
0.48

$
$

9.52
9.03

46,966,317
49,490,887
$
0.30

$
$

6.72
6.36

47,678,887
50,378,840
$
0.21

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31,
2005
2006

(in thousands, except share data)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Housing inventories
Homes under construction
Land under development and improved lots
Consolidated inventory not owned
Total inventories
Property, plant and equipment
Net deferred taxes
Purchase price in excess of net assets acquired
Other
TOTAL ASSETS

$ 215,037

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Accrued and other liabilities
Debt
TOTAL LIABILITIES
MINORITY INTEREST
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common stock, $1.00 par value:
Authorized—200,000,000 shares
Issued—42,612,525 shares at December 31, 2006
(46,368,143 shares at December 31, 2005)
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

461,383

1,079,702
1,427,930
263,853
2,771,485
76,887
84,199
18,185
250,904
3,416,697

1,253,460
1,087,016
239,191
2,579,667
65,980
50,099
18,185
211,559
3,386,873

186,868
586,797
950,117
1,723,782

249,539
664,691
921,970
1,836,200

181,749

174,652

42,612
1,463,727
4,827
1,511,166
$ 3,416,697

46,368
1,326,689
2,964
1,376,021
$ 3,386,873

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands, except share data)
BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2004
Comprehensive income:
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Change in net unrealized gain
on mortgage-backed securities,
net of taxes of $542
Total comprehensive income
Common stock dividends (per share $0.21)
Repurchase of common stock
Employee stock plans and related
income tax benefit
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2004
Comprehensive income:
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Change in net unrealized gain on
cash flow hedging instruments
and mortgage-backed securities,
net of taxes of $1,685
Total comprehensive income
Common stock dividends (per share $0.30)
Repurchase of common stock
Employee stock plans and related
income tax benefit
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2005
Comprehensive income:
Net earnings
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Change in net unrealized gain on
cash flow hedging instruments
and mortgage-backed securities,
net of taxes of $1,154
Total comprehensive income
Common stock dividends (per share $0.48)
Repurchase of common stock
Employee stock plans and related
income tax benefit
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2006

ACCUMULATED
OTHER
TOTAL
COMMON PAID-IN RETAINED COMPREHENSIVE
STOCKHOLDERS’
STOCK CAPITAL EARNINGS
INCOME
EQUITY
$
48,552 $
- $
774,859 $
1,131 $
824,542
320,545

320,545

(887 )
(2,939 )

(39,259 )

1,735
47,348

39,259
-

(10,064 )
(76,098 )
1,009,242

244

447,052

(58,189 )

1,578
46,368

58,189
-

(14,138 )
(115,467 )
1,326,689

2,964

359,942

$

944
42,612 $

(43,728 )
43,728
- $

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(21,214 )
(201,690 )
1,463,727 $

2,720
449,772
(14,138 )
(176,214 )
59,767
1,376,021
359,942

1,863
(4,700 )

40,994
1,056,834
447,052

2,720
(2,558 )

(887 )
319,658
(10,064 )
(118,296 )

4,827 $

1,863
361,805
(21,214 )
(250,118 )
44,672
1,511,166

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004
2006

(in thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net earnings
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation expense
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Increase in inventories
Net change in other assets, payables and other liabilities
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options
and vesting of restricted stock
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Other operating activities, net
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

$ 359,942

$ 447,052

$ 320,545

46,731
25,593

43,166
18,862

38,519
15,208

(182,679)
(216,939)

(490,971)
175,358

(585,562)
104,424

(14,632)
(3,379)
14,637

30,505
(7,708)
216,264

17,475
10,920
(78,471)

(53,839)

(55,127)

(47,131)

2,250
(51,589)

12,561
(42,566)

19,336
(27,795)

250,000
(243,500)
21,647
(21,666)
(250,118)
19,659
14,632
(48)
(209,394)
(246,346)
461,383
$ 215,037 $

500,000
(147,000)
10,028
(11,383)
(176,214)
29,262
(5,396)
199,297
372,995
88,388
461,383

(14,934)
(9,661)
(118,296)
23,519
(2,678)
(122,050)
(228,316)
316,704
$ 88,388

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net additions to property, plant and equipment
Principal reduction of mortgage-backed securities,
notes receivable and mortgage collateral
Net cash used for investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash proceeds of long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings
Common stock dividends
Common stock repurchases
Issuance of common stock under stock-based compensation
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation
Other financing activities, net
Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid for interest (net of capitalized interest)
Cash paid for income taxes
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NONCASH ACTIVITIES
Increase in consolidated inventory not owned related to land options
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

38

$

1,295
258,205

$

1,846
230,291

$

9,139

$

64,563

$

$

763
177,449
41,919

Note A: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of The Ryland Group, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Intercompany
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2006 presentation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid short-term investments and cash held in escrow to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents totaled
$187.0 million and $440.7 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Per Share Data
Basic net earnings per common share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding.
Additionally, diluted net earnings per common share give effect to dilutive common stock equivalent shares.
Stock-Based Compensation
Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for stock options granted in accordance with The Ryland Group, Inc. 2005 Equity Incentive
Plan (the “Plan”) and The Ryland Group, Inc. 2006 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan (the “Director Plan”) by adhering to the provisions and
related interpretation of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25”), “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” as permitted
by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (“SFAS 123”), “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended. Therefore,
except for costs related to restricted stock units, no stock-based employee compensation cost was recognized in net earnings, as all options
granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.
Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123(R) by using the modified prospective
transition method. Under that transition method, compensation cost recognized in 2006 includes: (a) compensation cost for all share-based
payments granted prior to January 1, 2006, but not yet vested, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original
provisions of SFAS 123; and (b) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the grantdate fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123(R). Results for prior periods have not been restated.
Stock Split
In October 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a two-for-one stock split of its common stock, which was affected in the form of
a stock dividend. Records holders of the Company’s common stock at the close of business on November 15, 2004, were entitled to one
additional share for each share held at that time. The new shares were distributed on November 30, 2004. All references in the consolidated
financial statements to common shares, share prices, per share amounts and stock plans have been retroactively restated for the 2004 two-forone stock split.
Homebuilding Revenues
Homebuilding revenues are recognized when home and lot sales are closed, title and possession are transferred to the buyer and there is no
significant continuing involvement in accordance with SFAS 66. Sales incentives offset revenues and are expensed when homes are closed.
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Housing Inventories
Housing inventories consist principally of homes under construction, land under development and improved lots. Inventory includes land and
development costs; direct construction costs; capitalized indirect construction costs; capitalized interest; and real estate taxes. Inventories to be
held and used are stated at cost unless a community is determined to be impaired, in which case the impaired inventories are written down to
fair value. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net
cash flows expected to be generated by that asset or by the sales of comparable assets. Inventories to be disposed of are stated at either the
lower of cost or fair value, less cost to sell, and are reported net of valuation reserves. Write-downs of impaired inventories to fair value are
recorded as adjustments to the cost basis of the respective inventory. Valuation reserves related to inventories to be disposed of amounted to
$59.7 million at December 31, 2006, and $486,000 at December 31, 2005. The net carrying values of the related inventories amounted to
$124.3 million and $1.2 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Costs of inventory include direct costs of land and land development; material acquisition; and home construction expenses. The costs of
acquiring and developing land and constructing certain related amenities are allocated to the parcels to which these costs relate. Interest and
taxes are capitalized during the land development stage.
The following table is a summary of capitalized interest:
(in thousands)
Capitalized interest at January 1
Interest capitalized
Interest amortized to cost of sales
Capitalized interest at December 31

2005
2006
$ 75,890 $ 55,414
65,959
71,750
(45,483)
(48,708)
$ 98,932 $ 75,890

The following table summarizes each reporting segment’s total number of lots owned and lots controlled under option agreements:
DECEMBER 31,
2005
2006
LOTS OWNED
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Total lots owned
LOTS CONTROLLED UNDER OPTION
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Total lots controlled under option
TOTAL LOTS OWNED AND CONTROLLED
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5,880
11,016
6,760
7,595
31,251

6,190
10,421
5,321
8,269
30,201

10,747
10,192
5,430
2,698
29,067
60,318

13,613
17,186
7,873
6,798
45,470
75,671

Variable Interest Entities
FIN 46 requires a VIE to be consolidated by a company if that company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from the VIE’s activities
and/or entitled to receive a majority of the VIE’s residual returns. FIN 46 also requires disclosures about VIEs that the Company is not
obligated to consolidate but in which it has a significant, though not primary, variable interest.
The Company enters into joint ventures, from time to time, for the purpose of acquisition and co-development of land parcels and lots. Its
investment in these joint ventures may create a variable interest in a VIE, depending on the contractual terms of the arrangement. Additionally,
in the ordinary course of business, the Company enters into lot option purchase contracts in order to procure land for the construction of homes.
Under such lot option purchase contracts the Company funds stated deposits in consideration for the right to purchase lots at a future point in
time, usually at predetermined prices. In accordance with the requirements of FIN 46, certain of the Company’s lot option purchase contracts
may result in the creation of a variable interest in a VIE.
In compliance with the provisions of FIN 46, the Company consolidated $263.9 million of inventory not owned at December 31, 2006, $186.0
million of which pertained to land and lot option purchase contracts representing the fair value of the optioned property and $77.9 million of
which pertained to three of the Company’s homebuilding joint ventures. (See further discussion that follows under “Investments in Joint
Ventures.”) While the Company may not have had legal title to the optioned land or guaranteed the seller’s debt associated with that property,
under FIN 46 it had the primary variable interest and was required to consolidate the particular VIE’s assets under option at fair value.
Additionally, to reflect the fair value of the inventory consolidated under FIN 46, the Company eliminated $13.7 million of its related cash
deposits for lot option purchase contracts, which are included in consolidated inventory not owned. Minority interest totaling $172.3 million
was recorded with respect to the consolidation of these contracts, representing the selling entities’ ownership interests in these VIEs. At
December 31, 2006, the Company had cash deposits and letters of credit totaling $34.9 million relating to lot option purchase contracts that
were consolidated, representing its current maximum exposure to loss. Creditors of these VIEs, if any, have no recourse against the Company.
At December 31, 2006, the Company had cash deposits and/or letters of credit totaling $83.0 million that were associated with lot option
purchase contracts having an aggregate purchase price of $850.1 million and that were related to VIEs in which it did not have a primary
variable interest.
Service Liabilities
Service, warranty and completion costs are estimated and accrued at the time a home closes and updated as experience requires.
Investments in Joint Ventures
The Company enters into joint ventures, from time to time, for the purpose of acquisition and co-development of land parcels and lots.
Currently, the Company participates in 12 homebuilding joint ventures in the Atlanta, Austin, Chicago, Dallas, Denver, Las Vegas, Orlando
and Phoenix markets. The Company participates in a number of joint ventures in which it has less than a controlling interest. At December 31,
2006 and 2005, the Company’s investments in its unconsolidated joint ventures totaled $13.5 million and $10.2 million, respectively, and were
classified in the consolidated balance sheets under “Other” assets. The Company recognizes its share of the respective joint ventures’ earnings
from the sale of lots to other homebuilders. It does not, however, recognize earnings from lots that it purchases from the joint ventures. Instead,
it reduces its cost basis in these lots by its share of the earnings from the lots. The Company’s equity in losses of its unconsolidated joint
ventures totaled $260,000 for the year ended December 31, 2006, compared to earnings of $315,000 and $5.8 million for the same periods in
2005 and 2004, respectively.
The aggregate assets of the unconsolidated joint ventures in which the Company participated were $649.2 million and $581.4 million at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The aggregate debt

41

of the unconsolidated joint ventures in which the Company participated totaled $429.0 million and $394.0 million at December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively.
The Company’s joint venture assets and debt include one joint venture that had total assets of $599.0 million and debt of $407.2 million at
December 31, 2006. In this joint venture, the Company and its partners provided guarantees of debt on a pro rata basis. The Company has a 3.3
percent pro rata interest on the debt, or $13.5 million, and a completion guarantee related to project development. At December 31, 2005, this
joint venture had total assets of $554.1 million and debt of $375.5 million, of which the Company’s pro rata interest on the debt was $12.5
million. The guarantees apply if a partner defaults on its loan arrangement and the fair value of the collateral (land and improvements) is less
than the loan balance.
The following table summarizes the total estimated number of lots owned and controlled by the Company under its joint venture agreements:
DECEMBER 31,
2005
2006
LOTS OWNED
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Total lots owned
LOTS CONTROLLED UNDER OPTION
West
Total lots controlled under option
TOTAL LOTS OWNED AND CONTROLLED

856
358
203
441
1,858

986
363
61
570
1,980

1,209
1,209
3,067

1,209
1,209
3,189

In 2006 and 2005, three of the joint ventures in which the Company participated were consolidated in accordance with the provisions of FIN
46, as the Company was determined to have the primary variable interest in the entities. In association with these consolidated joint ventures,
the Company recorded pretax earnings of $685,000 and $7,000 for 2006 and 2005, respectively. Total assets of $78.3 million and $63.7 million
(including consolidated inventory not owned), total liabilities of $60.5 million and $43.3 million, and minority interest of $9.5 million and
$11.5 million were consolidated at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Additionally, the Company has guaranteed up to 50.0 percent of
a $55.0 million revolving credit facility for one of its consolidated joint ventures. At December 31, 2006, the actual borrowings against the
revolving credit facility for this consolidated joint venture was $53.8 million, of which the Company’s pro rata share of the debt was $26.9
million.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment, which included model home furnishings of $69.4 million and $56.3 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is provided for, principally, by the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Model home furnishings, which are amortized over the life of the community as homes are
closed, are included in cost of sales.
Purchase Price in Excess of Net Assets Acquired
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 (“SFAS 142”), “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” requires that goodwill and
certain intangible assets no longer be amortized but be reviewed for impairment at least annually. Intangible assets with finite lives will
continue to be amortized over their estimated useful lives. Additionally, SFAS 142 requires that goodwill included in the carrying value of
equity-method investments no longer be amortized.
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The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 142 on January 1, 2002, and performs impairment tests of its goodwill annually as of March 31.
The Company tests goodwill for impairment by using the two-step process prescribed in SFAS 142. The first step identifies potential
impairment, while the second step measures the amount of impairment. In December 2006, the Company tested goodwill for impairment due to
possible impairment indicators. The Company had no impairment in the years ended December 31, 2006 or 2005.
As a result of the Company’s application of the nonamortization provisions of SFAS 142, no amortization of goodwill was recorded in 2006,
2005 or 2004.
Goodwill is allocated to the reporting unit from which it originates. At December 31, 2006, goodwill was primarily attributable to the
Company’s West region homebuilding segment and was $18.2 million, net of $24.9 million of accumulated amortization.
Income Taxes
The Company files a consolidated federal income tax return. Certain items of income and expense are included in one period for financial
reporting purposes and in another for income tax purposes. Deferred income taxes are provided in recognition of these differences. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are determined based on enacted tax rates and are subsequently adjusted for changes in these rates. A change in deferred
tax assets or liabilities results in a charge or credit to deferred tax expense.
Loan Origination Fees, Costs, Mortgage Discounts and Loan Sales
Loan origination fees, net of related direct origination costs and loan discount points, are recognized in current earnings upon the sale of related
mortgage loans. Gains or losses on the sale of mortgage loans and related servicing rights are recognized when the Company transfers title to
the purchaser, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 140 (“SFAS 140”), “Accounting for Transfers and
Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.”
Derivative Instruments
In the normal course of business and pursuant to its risk-management policy, the Company enters, as an end user, into derivative instruments,
including forward-delivery contracts for loans; options on forward-delivery contracts; futures contracts; and options on futures contracts, to
minimize the impact of movements in market interest rates on IRLCs. Major factors influencing the use of various hedging contracts include
general market conditions, interest rates, types of mortgages originated and the percentage of IRLCs expected to fund. The Company is
exposed to credit-related losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to certain hedging contracts. Credit risk is limited to those
instances where the Company is in a net unrealized gain position. It manages this credit risk by entering into agreements with counterparties
meeting its credit standards and by monitoring position limits. The Company elected not to use hedge accounting treatment with respect to its
economic hedging activities. Accordingly, all derivative instruments used as economic hedges are carried in the consolidated balance sheets in
“Other” assets or “Accrued and other liabilities” at fair value, with changes in value recorded in current earnings. The Company’s mortgage
pipeline includes IRLCs, which represent commitments that have been extended by the Company to those borrowers who have applied for loan
funding and have met certain defined credit and underwriting criteria. The Company determined that its IRLCs meet the definition of
derivatives under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 (“SFAS 133”), “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended.
In 2005, the Company entered into two treasury locks, which terminated in 2006, to facilitate the replacement of higher-rate senior and senior
subordinated debt in 2006. (See Note D, “Derivative Instruments.”)
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Advertising Costs
The Company expenses advertising costs as they are incurred. Advertising costs totaled $34.9 million, $25.3 million and $21.6 million in 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively.
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income consists of net income and the increase or decrease in unrealized gains or losses on the Company’s available-for-sale
securities, as well as the increase or decrease in unrealized gains or losses associated with the treasury locks, net of applicable taxes.
Comprehensive income totaled $361.8 million, $449.8 million and $319.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.
New Accounting Pronouncements
SFAS 157
In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157 (“SFAS 157”), “Fair-Value Measurements.” SFAS
157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures
about fair-value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and
interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently reviewing this statement and has not yet determined the impact on its
consolidated financial statements.
SFAS 158
In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158 (“SFAS 158”), “Employers’ Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans—an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R).” SFAS 158
requires that the funded status of defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement plans be recognized in the balance sheet, along with a
corresponding after-tax adjustment to stockholders’ equity. The recognition of the funded status provision of SFAS 158 applies prospectively
and is effective December 31, 2006. SFAS 158 also requires measurement of plan assets and benefit obligations at the entity’s fiscal year-end,
effective December 31, 2008. SFAS 158 did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.
SAB 108
In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108 (“SAB 108”), “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements
when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.” SAB 108 addresses how the effects of prior year uncorrected financial
statement misstatements should be considered in current year financial statements. SAB 108 requires registrants to quantify misstatements by
using both balance sheet and income statement approaches and to evaluate those results in light of relative quantitative and qualitative factors.
SAB 108 is effective for annual financial statements covering the first fiscal year ending after November 15, 2006.
FIN 48
In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48”), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109.” In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 (“SFAS 109”), “Accounting for Income Taxes,”
FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements. FIN 48 also prescribes a
recognition threshold and measurement attribute for a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The new FASB pronouncement
also provides guidance on derecognition; classification; interest and penalties; accounting in interim periods; disclosure; and transition. The
provisions of FIN 48 are effective for the Company in the first quarter of 2007. The implementation of FIN 48 is not expected to have a
material effect on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.
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Note B: Segment Information
The Company is a leading national homebuilder and mortgage-related financial services firm. As one of the largest single-family on-site
homebuilders in the United States, it builds homes in 28 markets. The Company consists of six segments: four geographically-determined
homebuilding regions, financial services, and corporate. The Company’s homebuilding operations consists of four regional reporting segments,
referred to as North, Southeast, Texas and West. The homebuilding segments specialize in the sale and construction of single-family attached
and detached housing. Its financial services segment includes RMC, RHIC, LPS and CNRRG. The Company’s financial services segment
provides loan origination and offers mortgage, title, escrow and insurance services. Corporate is a non-operating business segment with the sole
purpose of supporting operations. Certain corporate expenses are allocated to the homebuilding and financial services segments and certain
assets relating to employee benefit plans have been reclassified to other segments in order to best reflect the Company’s financial position and
results of operations.
The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources to segments based on a number of factors, including segment pretax earnings. The
accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note A, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”
SELECTED SEGMENT INFORMATION
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004
2006

(in thousands)
REVENUES
Homebuilding
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Financial services
Total
PRETAX EARNINGS
Homebuilding
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Financial services
Corporate and unallocated
Total
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Homebuilding
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Financial services
Corporate and unallocated
Total

$ 1,196,335
1,522,123
695,356
1,240,106
103,296
$ 4,757,216

$

$

$

$
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$ 1,388,208
1,258,373
619,332
1,459,838
91,815
$ 4,817,566

170,636 $
253,120
59,854
89,533
67,695
(73,730 )
567,108 $

9,620
10,913
7,366
15,981
1,225
1,626
46,731

$

$

$ 1,284,361
1,011,494
533,276
1,037,955
84,73 5
$ 3,951,821

241,183 $ 234,391
179,242
108,964
44,308
36,867
279,477
145,232
59,373
56,702
(82,532 )
(60,944 )
721,051 $ 521,212

10,800
9,083
6,049
14,598
1,119
1,517
43,166

$

$

8,525
8,151
4,897
14,004
623
2,319
38,519

(in thousands)
IDENTIFIABLE ASSETS
Homebuilding
North
Southeast
Texas
West
Financial services
Corporate and unallocated
Total

DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004

2006
$

950,636
865,886
420,689
974,479
69,415
105,768
$ 3,386,873

$

941,791
931,275
446,743
864,040
81,540
151,308
$ 3,416,697

$

681,753
525,786
322,514
718,810
78,040
98,067
$ 2,424,970

Note C: Earnings per Share Reconciliation
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

(in thousands, except share data)
NUMERATOR
Net earnings
DENOMINATOR
Basic earnings per share—weighted-average shares
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock options
Equity incentive plan
Dilutive potential of common shares
Dilutive earnings per share—adjusted weighted-average shares and assumed
conversions
NET EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE
Basic
Diluted

2006
$

$

359,942

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004
$

447,052

$

320,545

44,228,502

46,966,317

47,678,887

1,294,237
421,709
1,715,946

2,140,200
384,370
2,524,570

2,282,812
417,141
2,699,953

45,944,448

49,490,887

50,378,840

8.14
7.83

$

9.52
9.03

$

6.72
6.36

Options to purchase 1.1 million shares, 205,000 shares and 420,000 shares of common stock at various prices were outstanding at December
31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for those annual periods because
their effect would have been antidilutive since their exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the common shares.
Note D: Derivative Instruments
The Company, which uses derivative financial instruments in its normal course of operations, has no derivative financial instruments that are
held for trading purposes.
The contract or notional amounts of these financial instruments at December 31 were as follows:
(in thousands)
Mortgage interest rate lock commitments
Hedging contracts:
Treasury interest rate locks
Forward-delivery contracts

2006
$ 124,927

2005
$ 344,398

$

$ 250,000
134,050

41,000

IRLCs represent loan commitments with customers at market rates generally up to 180 days before settlement. IRLCs expose the Company to
market risk as a result of increases in mortgage interest
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rates. IRLCs had interest rates generally ranging from 5 percent to 10 percent at December 31, 2006, and 4 percent to 10 percent at December
31, 2005.
Hedging contracts are regularly entered into by the Company for the purpose of mitigating its exposure to movements in interest rates on
IRLCs. The selection of these hedging contracts is based upon the Company’s secondary marketing strategy, which establishes a risk-tolerance
level. Major factors influencing the use of various hedging contracts include general market conditions, interest rates, types of mortgages
originated and the percentage of IRLCs expected to fund. The market risk assumed while holding the hedging contracts generally mitigates the
market risk associated with IRLCs and mortgage loans held-for-sale.
The Company is exposed to credit-related losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to certain hedging contracts. Credit risk is
limited to those instances where the Company is in a net unrealized gain position. The Company manages this credit risk by entering into
agreements with counterparties meeting its credit standards and by monitoring position limits.
During the second quarter of 2006, the Company terminated its $100.0 million treasury lock at 4.2 percent and its $150.0 million treasury lock
at 4.1 percent. These hedges were entered into in 2005 to facilitate the replacement of higher-rate senior and senior subordinated debt in 2006.
The hedges were evaluated and deemed to be highly effective at the inception of the contracts. The Company accounted for the treasury locks
as cash flow hedges, in accordance with SFAS 133. As a result of changes in the timing of the Company’s debt issuance and in the term of debt
issued in the second quarter of 2006, a gain of $9.2 million was recognized during that period, reflecting the ineffective portion of those cash
flow hedges. The $8.4 million effective portion of the settlement value of the $150.0 million treasury lock was recorded, net of income tax
effect, in “Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income” and will be amortized over the seven-year life of the related debt instrument. For the
year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recognized pretax gains of $9.9 million from the termination of these locks.
Note E: Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments are held for purposes other than trading. The fair values of these financial instruments are based on
quoted market prices, where available, or are estimated by using either present value or other valuation techniques. Estimated fair values are
significantly affected by the assumptions used, including discount rates and estimates of cash flows. In that regard, derived fair value estimates
cannot always be substantiated by comparison to independent markets and, in some cases, cannot be realized in the immediate settlement of the
instruments.
The table below sets forth the carrying values and fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at December 31. It excludes nonfinancial
instruments, and, accordingly, the aggregate fair value amounts presented do not represent the underlying value of the Company.

(in thousands)
OTHER ASSETS
Mortgage loans held-for-sale
DEBT
Senior notes
Senior subordinated notes
OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Treasury interest rate locks
Mortgage interest rate lock commitments
Forward-delivery contracts

2006
FAIR
VALUE

CARRYING
VALUE

2005
FAIR
VALUE

CARRYING
VALUE

$

11,767

$

11,959

$

15,188

$

15,401

$

900,000
-

$

891,695
-

$

750,000
143,500

$

741,340
152,124

$

598
152

$

598
152

$
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4,785 $
1,952
(109 )

4,785
1,952
(109 )

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents and secured notes payable are reported in the balance sheet and approximate their fair
values. The fair values of the senior notes; senior subordinated notes; mortgage loans held-for-sale; forward-delivery contracts; treasury locks
and IRLCs are based on either quoted market prices or market prices for similar financial instruments.
Note F: Debt
Debt consists of the following at December 31:
(in thousands)
Senior notes
Senior subordinated notes
Secured notes payable
Total

2006
$ 900,000
50,117
$ 950,117

2005
$ 750,000
143,500
28,470
$ 921,970

Maturities of debt are scheduled as follows:
(in thousands)
2007
2008
2009
2010
After 2010
Total debt

$ 25,980
161,817
9,076
3,244
750,000
$ 950,117

At December 31, 2006, the Company had outstanding (a) $150.0 million of 5.4 percent senior notes due June 2008; (b) $250.0 million of 5.4
percent senior notes due May 2012; (c) $250.0 million of 6.9 percent senior notes due June 2013; and (d) $250.0 million of 5.4 percent senior
notes due January 2015. Each of the senior notes pay interest semiannually and may be redeemed at a stated redemption price, at the option of
the Company, in whole or in part, at any time.
In January 2006, the Company entered into a $750.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility. The credit agreement, which matures in
January 2011, also provides access to an additional $750.0 million of financing through an accordion feature under which the aggregate
commitment may be increased up to $1.5 billion, subject to the availability of additional lending commitments. The revolving credit facility
includes a $75.0 million swing-line facility and a $600.0 million sublimit for issuance of standby letters of credit. Amounts borrowed under the
credit agreement are guaranteed on a joint and several basis by substantially all of the Company’s wholly-owned homebuilding subsidiaries.
Such guarantees are full and unconditional. Interest rates on outstanding borrowings are determined either by reference to LIBOR, with
margins determined based on changes in the Company’s leverage ratio and credit ratings, or by reference to an alternate base rate. The credit
agreement replaces the Company’s prior $500.0 million revolving credit facility and has been and is intended to be used for general corporate
purposes. In November 2006, the Company expanded its revolving credit facility to $1.1 billion through its accordion feature. The credit
agreement contains various customary affirmative, negative and financial covenants. The Company was in compliance with these covenants at
December 31, 2006. There were no borrowings outstanding under this agreement at December 31, 2006, or under the Company’s prior $500.0
million revolving credit facility at December 31, 2005. Letters of credit aggregating $192.9 million and $185.6 million were outstanding under
the respective agreements at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Unused borrowing capacity under the respective facilities totaled
$940.6 million and $314.4 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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In 2006, the Company redeemed $150.0 million of its 9.1 percent senior subordinated notes due June 2011, of which it owned $6.5 million.
The Company recorded an expense of $7.7 million related to the early retirement of debt for the year ended December 31, 2006. Additionally,
the Company’s 8.0 percent senior notes, which totaled $100.0 million, matured in August 2006. (See “Financial Condition and Liquidity”
within “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”)
Also, in 2006, the Company terminated its treasury locks to facilitate the replacement of higher-rate senior and senior subordinated debt in
2006. The Company recognized gains of $9.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, related to the termination of these locks. (See
Note D, “Derivative Instruments.”)
In 2005, the Company redeemed $150.0 million of its 9.8 percent senior notes due September 2010, of which it owned $3.0 million at the time
of redemption, and also recorded an expense of $8.3 million related to the early retirement of this debt.
At December 31, 2006, the Company’s obligations to pay principal, premium, if any, and interest under its $1.1 billion unsecured revolving
credit facility; 5.4 percent senior notes due June 2008; 5.4 percent senior notes due May 2012; 6.9 percent senior notes due June 2013; and 5.4
percent senior notes due January 2015 are guaranteed on a joint and several basis by substantially all of its wholly-owned homebuilding
subsidiaries. Such guarantees are full and unconditional. (See Note K, “Supplemental Guarantor Information.”)
The senior notes and indenture agreements are subject to certain covenants, that include among other things, restrictions on additional secured
debt and the sale of assets. The Company was in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2006.
To finance its land purchases, the Company may also use seller-financed nonrecourse secured notes payable. At December 31, 2006 and 2005,
outstanding seller-financed nonrecourse notes payable were $50.1 million and $28.5 million, respectively.
Note G: Employee Incentive and Stock Plans
Retirement Savings Opportunity Plan (“RSOP”)
All full-time employees are eligible to participate in the RSOP following 30 days of employment. Part-time employees are eligible to
participate in the RSOP following the completion of 1,000 hours of service within the first 12 months of employment or within any plan year
after the date of hire. Pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, the plan permits deferral of a portion of a participant’s income
into a variety of investment options. Total compensation expense related to the Company’s matching contributions for this plan amounted to
$12.0 million, $11.0 million and $9.3 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)
All full-time employees of the Company, with the exception of its executive officers, are eligible to participate in the ESPP. Eligible employees
authorize payroll deductions to be made for the purchase of shares. The Company matches a portion of the employee’s contribution by
donating an additional 20.0 percent of the employee’s payroll deduction. Stock is purchased by a plan administrator on a regular monthly basis.
All brokerage and transaction fees for purchasing the stock are paid for by the Company. The Company’s expense related to its matching
contribution for this plan was $495,000, $514,000 and $390,000 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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Supplemental Executive Retirement Plans
The Company has supplemental nonqualified retirement plans, which vest over five-year periods beginning in 2003, pursuant to which the
Company will pay supplemental pension benefits to key employees upon retirement. In connection with these plans, the Company has
purchased cost-recovery life insurance on the lives of certain employees. Insurance contracts associated with the plans are held by trusts
established as part of the plans to implement and carry out their provisions and finance their related benefits. The trusts are owners and
beneficiaries of such contracts. The amount of coverage is designed to provide sufficient revenue to cover all costs of the plans if assumptions
made as to employment term, mortality experience, policy earnings and other factors are realized. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the cash
surrender value of these contracts was $24.8 million and $19.2 million, respectively and is included in “Other” assets. The net periodic benefit
cost of these plans for the year ended December 31, 2006, was $3.3 million, which included service costs of $4.3 million, interest costs of $1.1
million and investment earnings of $2.1 million. The net periodic benefit cost of these plans for the year ended December 31, 2005, was $2.8
million, which included service costs of $3.1 million, interest costs of $117,000 and investment earnings of $423,000. The $18.0 million and
$12.6 million projected benefit obligations at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, were equal to the net liability recognized in the
balance sheet at those dates. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the weighted-average discount rates used for the plans were 7.7
percent and 7.5 percent, respectively.
Note H: Income Taxes
The Company’s expense for income taxes is summarized as follows:
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004
2006

(in thousands)

CURRENT
Federal
State
Total current
DEFERRED
Federal
State
Total deferred
Total expense

$ 206,635
32,799
239,434

$ 243,220
36,852
280,072

$ 181,426
27,079
208,505

(5,274 )
(6,820 )
(27,848 )
(799 )
(1,018 )
(4,420 )
(6,073 )
(7,838 )
(32,268 )
$ 207,166 $ 273,999 $ 200,667

The following table reconciles the statutory federal income tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate:
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004
2006

Income taxes at federal statutory rate
State income taxes, net of federal tax
Domestic production activity deduction
Resolution of tax contingency
Other
Effective rate

35.0 %
3.2
(0.9 )
(1.0 )
0.2
36.5 %

35.0 %
3.2
(0.8 )
0.6
38.0 %

35.0 %
3.2
0.3
38.5 %

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 were as follows:
(in thousands)
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Warranty, legal and other accruals
Employee benefits
Noncash charge for impairment of long-lived assets
Other
Total deferred tax assets
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Deferred recognition of income and gains
Capitalized expenses
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
NET DEFERRED TAX ASSET

$

$

2006

2005

29,029
51,427
23,105
8,411
111,972

$ 33,032
39,297
2,277
74,606

(4,037 )
(19,183 )
(4,553 )
(27,773 )
84,199 $

(6,870 )
(13,738 )
(3,899 )
(24,507 )
50,099

The Company determined that no valuation allowance for the deferred tax asset was required at December 31, 2006 or 2005. The Company had
a total net current tax liability of $36.4 million and $67.1 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These amounts are reported in
the consolidated balance sheets in “Accrued and other liabilities.”
Note I: Stock-Based Compensation
The Plan permits the granting of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted or unrestricted stock awards, stock units or any combination
of the foregoing to employees. Stock options granted in accordance with the Plan generally have a maximum term of five years and vest in
equal annual installments over three years. Outstanding stock options granted under previous plans generally have a maximum term of ten
years and vest over three years. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, stock options or other awards or units available for grant totaled 240,645 and
659,263, respectively.
The Director Plan provides for a stock award of 3,000 shares to each non-employee director on May 1 of each year. New non-employee
directors will receive a pro-rata stock award 30 days after their date of appointment or election based on the remaining portion of the plan year
(May 1 to April 30) in which they are appointed or elected. Stock awards are fully vested and non-forfeitable on their applicable award date. At
December 31, 2006, 120,000 stock awards were available for future grant in accordance with the Director Plan.
Previously, The Ryland Group, Inc. 2004 Non-Employee Director Equity Plan (the “Predecessor Director Plan”) provided for automatic grants
of non-statutory stock options to directors for the purchase of shares at prices not less than the fair market value of the shares at the date of
grant. Stock options fully vested, became exercisable six months after the date of grant and had a maximum term of ten years. The stock
options expire three years after the date of termination of service on the Board of Directors, regardless of their stated expiration dates. Upon
approval of the Director Plan, stock options available for future grant under the Predecessor Director Plan were canceled.
All outstanding stock options, stock awards and restricted stock awards have been granted in accordance with the terms of the Plan, the
Director Plan and their respective predecessor plans, all of which were approved by the Company’s stockholders. Certain option and share
awards provide for accelerated vesting if there is a change in control (as defined in the plans).
The fair value of each of the Company’s stock option awards is estimated on the date of grant by using the Black-Scholes-Merton optionpricing formula, which requires input assumptions for the Company’s expected dividend yield, expected volatility, risk-free interest rate and
the expected
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option life. Expected volatility is based upon the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock. The expected dividend yield is based on
an annual dividend rate of $0.48 per common share. The risk-free interest rate for periods within the contractual life of the stock option award
is based upon the zero-coupon U.S. Treasury bond issued on the date the stock option is granted with a maturity equal to the expected option
life for the stock option granted. The expected option life is derived from historical experience under the Company’s share-based payment
plans and represents the period of time that stock option awards granted are expected to be outstanding.
Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the Company presented all tax benefits of deductions resulting from the exercise of stock options as
operating cash flows in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. SFAS 123(R) requires cash flows attributable to tax benefits resulting from
tax deductions in excess of compensation cost recognized for those stock options (“excess tax benefits”) to be classified as financing cash
flows. Had the Company not adopted SFAS 123(R), the $14.6 million excess tax benefit classified as a financing cash inflow would have been
classified as an operating cash inflow.
Net earnings for the year ended December 31, 2006, includes $25.6 million, or $0.35 per diluted share of stock-based compensation expense,
before income tax benefits of $9.4 million. Stock-based compensation expenses have been allocated to the Company’s reportable segments and
are disclosed in “Corporate,” “Financial services” and “Selling, general and administrative” expenses.
The following table illustrates the effect on net earnings and earnings per share had the Company applied the fair value recognition provisions
of SFAS 123 to stock options granted under its equity-based compensation plans in the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. For purposes
of this pro forma disclosure, the grant-date fair value of the Company’s stock options was estimated by using a Black-Scholes-Merton optionpricing formula and amortized to expense over the stock options’ vesting periods.
(in thousands, except share data)
Net earnings, as reported
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in
reported net earnings, net of related tax effects 1
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value method for all awards, net of related tax effects
Pro forma net earnings
Earnings per share:
Basic – as reported
Basic – pro forma
Diluted – as reported
Diluted – pro forma
1 Amount represents the Company’s net stock-based compensation expense associated with restricted stock units.

2005
$ 447,052

2004
$ 320,545

11,695

9,353

(17,652 )
(15,015 )
$ 441,095 $ 314,883
$

9.52
9.39
9.03
8.91

$

6.72
6.60
6.36
6.25

The Company recorded stock-based compensation related to stock options of $10.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006.
The Company has determined the grant-date fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes-Merton formula. The weighted-average inputs
used and fair values determined for stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, are presented below:
2005
2004
2006
38.0 % 38.4 % 38.4 %
0.5 %
0.5 %
0.8 %
3.0
3.0
3.2
4.0 %
2.4 %
5.0 %
$ 19.17 $ 18.99 $ 11.65

Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
Expected term ( in years )
Risk-free rate
Weighted-average grant date fair value
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A summary of stock option activity in accordance with the Company’s plans as of December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, and changes for the
years then ended follows:

Options outstanding at January 1, 2004
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Options outstanding at December 31, 2004
Available for future grant
Total shares reserved
Options exercisable at December 31, 2004
Options outstanding at January 1, 2005
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Options outstanding at December 31, 2005
Available for future grant
Total shares reserved
Options exercisable at December 31, 2005
Options outstanding at January 1, 2006
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Options outstanding at December 31, 2006
Available for future grant
Total shares reserved
Options exercisable at December 31, 2006

SHARES
6,012,876
1,016,400
(1,452,654 )
(41,224 )
5,535,398
1,918,608
7,454,006
3,676,991
5,535,398
569,750
(1,408,973 )
(41,605 )
4,654,570
1,612,463
6,267,033
3,360,535
4,654,570
374,500
(798,218 )
(66,710 )
4,164,142
360,645
4,524,787
3,365,335

WEIGHTEDAVERAGE
REMAINING
CONTRACTUAL
LIFE (in years)
6.62

AGGREGATE
INTRINSIC
VALUE
(in thousands)

6.38

$ 212,473

$ 12.11
$ 19.15
65.36
14.84
42.52
$ 25.91

5.27
6.38

$ 167,031

5.71

$ 215,199

$ 17.62
$ 25.91
62.31
12.34
56.83
$ 31.29

5.13
5.71

$ 183,191

5.02

$ 106,250

$ 25.54

5.04

$ 102,729

WEIGHTEDAVERAGE
EXERCISE
PRICE
$ 13.11
43.45
10.95
25.13
$ 19.15

A summary of stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2006, follows:

RANGE OF
EXERCISE
PRICES
$3.19 to $6.38
$10.19 to $24.44
$34.70 to $57.54
$61.40 to $83.13

NUMBER
OUTSTANDING
1,117,352
1,144,217
1,025,989
876,584

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING
WEIGHTEDWEIGHTEDAVERAGE
AVERAGE
REMAINING
EXERCISE
LIFE (years)
PRICE
2.44 $
6.09
5.50
19.21
7.27
43.91
5.03
64.38

OPTIONS EXERCISABLE
WEIGHTEDAVERAGE
NUMBER
EXERCISE
EXERCISABLE
PRICE
1,117,352 $
6.09
1,144,217
19.21
785,173
45.11
318,593
68.25

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $38.5 million, $77.7
million and $46.1 million, respectively. The intrinsic value of a stock option is the amount by which the market value of the underlying stock
exceeds the exercise price of the option.
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A summary of the Company’s nonvested options as of and for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 follows:

SHARES
Nonvested options outstanding at
January 1
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Nonvested options outstanding at
December 31

1,294,035 $
374,500
(803,018 )
(66,710 )
798,807 $

2006
WEIGHTEDAVERAGE
GRANT-DATE
FAIR VALUE

SHARES

2005
WEIGHTEDAVERAGE
GRANT-DATE
FAIR VALUE

SHARES

13.40 1,858,407 $
19.17
569,750
12.82 (1,092,517 )
16.82
(41,605 )

9.19 2,224,748 $
18.99 1,016,400
9.21 (1,341,517 )
12.05
(41,224 )

16.40

13.40

1,294,035 $

2004
WEIGHTEDAVERAGE
GRANT-DATE
FAIR VALUE

1,858,407 $

6.53
11.76
6.79
7.29
9.19

As of December 31, 2006, there was $7.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock option awards granted
under the Company’s plans, which is expected to be recognized over the next 2.6 years.
The Company has made several restricted stock awards to senior executives under the Plan and its predecessor plans. Compensation expense
recognized for such awards was $13.3 million, $18.8 million and $14.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.
The following is a summary of activity relating to restricted stock awards:
2006
441,000
133,000
(138,336 )
435,664

Restricted shares at January 1
Shares awarded
Shares vested
Restricted shares at December 31

2005
356,800
253,000
(168,800 )
441,000

2004
638,600
—
(281,800 )
356,800

At December 31, 2006, the outstanding restricted shares are scheduled to vest as follows: 2007—182,664; 2008—128,664;
2009—84,336; and 2010—40,000.
The Company granted an aggregate stock award of 30,000 shares to its ten non-employee directors on May 1, 2006, pursuant to the terms of
the Director Plan. The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense related to this grant in the amount of $1.9 million during the year
ended December 31, 2006.
Note J: Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
In the normal course of business, the Company acquires rights under option agreements to purchase land or lots for use in future homebuilding
operations. At December 31, 2006, it had related cash deposits and letters of credit outstanding that totaled $187.8 million for land options
pertaining to land purchase contracts with an aggregate purchase price of $1.5 billion. At December 31, 2006, the Company had commitments
with respect to option contracts having specific performance provisions of approximately $34.2 million, compared to $60.5 million at
December 31, 2005.
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Rent expense primarily relates to of fice facilities, model homes, furniture and equipment.
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2005
2004
2006
$ 17,050
$ 16,934
$ 23,232
(312 )
(295)
(950 )
$ 16,738
$ 16,639
$ 22,282

(in thousands)
Total rent expense
Less income from subleases
Net rent expense

Future minimum rental commitments under noncancelable leases with remaining terms in excess of one year are as follows:
(in thousands)
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
Thereafter
Less sublease income
Total lease commitments

$ 14,052
12,645
10,121
8,166
5,743
8,845
(276)
$ 59,296

RMC purchases optional commitments from its investors for the purpose of mitigating its exposure to movements in interest rates on customerfinancing commitments. RMC pays the investor a fixed one-time premium for these commitments. In return, RMC receives the option of
selling a loan at a fixed rate in the commitment for a stipulated period of time. Optional commitments with investors are non-transferable and
RMC’s risk is limited to the initial premium paid. Fair values of optional commitments are estimated based on the premium paid and amortized
over the duration of the commitment. The outstanding commitments at December 31, 2006 had a notional amount of $183.6 million with a fair
value of $12,000.
Contingencies
As an on-site housing producer, the Company is often required by some municipalities to obtain development or performance bonds and letters
of credit in support of its contractual obligations. At December 31, 2006, total development bonds were $482.2 million, while total related
deposits and letters of credit were $74.0 million. In the event that any such bonds or letters of credit are called, the Company would be required
to reimburse the issuer; however, it does not expect that any currently outstanding bonds or letters of credit will be called.
At December 31, 2006 and 2005, one of the joint ventures in which the Company participates had debt of $407.2 million and $375.5 million,
respectively. In this joint venture, the Company and its partners provided guarantees of debt on a pro rata basis. The Company had a 3.3
percent pro rata interest on the debt, or $13.5 million and $12.5 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively and a completion
guarantee related to project development. The guarantees apply if a partner defaults on its loan arrangement and the fair value of the collateral
(land and improvements) is less than the loan balance. In another of its joint ventures, the Company has guaranteed up to 50.0 percent of a
$55.0 million revolving credit facility. At December 31, 2006, the actual borrowings against the revolving credit facility for this consolidated
joint venture was $53.8 million, of which the Company’s pro rata share of debt was $26.9 million.
IRLCs represent loan commitments with customers at market rates generally up to 180 days before settlement. At December 31, 2006, the
Company had outstanding IRLCs totaling $124.9 million. Hedging contracts are utilized to mitigate the risk associated with interest rate
fluctuations on IRLCs. (See Note D, “Derivative Instruments.”)

55

The Company provides product warranties covering workmanship and materials for one year, certain mechanical systems for two years and
structural systems for ten years. The Company estimates and records warranty liabilities based upon historical experience and known risks at
the time a home closes, and in the case of unexpected claims, upon identi fication and quantification of the obligations. Actual future warranty
costs could differ from current estimates.
Changes in the Company’s product liability reserve during the period are as follows:
(in thousands)
Balance at January 1
Warranties issued
Settlements made
Balance at December 31

2005
2006
$41,647 $ 33,090
32,815
29,828
(27,373 ) (24,258 )
$44,102 $ 41,647

The Company requires substantially all of its subcontractors to have general liability insurance (including construction defect coverage) and
workmans compensation insurance. These insurance policies protect the Company against a portion of its risk of loss from claims, subject to
certain self-insured retentions, deductibles and other coverage limits. However, with fewer insurers participating, general liability insurance for
the homebuilding industry has become more dif fi cult to obtain over the past several years. As a result, RHIC provides insurance services to
the homebuilding segments’ subcontractors in certain markets. At December 31, 2006, RHIC had $28.9 million in cash and cash equivalents
and $22.5 million in subcontractor product liability reserves, which are included in the consolidated balance sheet under “Cash and cash
equivalents” and “Accrued and other liabilities,” respectively. At December 31, 2005, RHIC had $16.3 million in cash and cash equivalents
and $16.9 million in subcontractor product liability reserves, which are included in the consolidated balance sheet.
Changes in the Company’s subcontractor product liability reserves during the period are as follows:
(in thousands)
Balance at January 1
Insurance expense provisions
Balance at December 31

2006
$ 16,907
5,614
$ 22,521

2005
$ 8,446
8,461
$ 16,907

The Company is party to various legal proceedings generally incidental to its businesses. Litigation reserves have been established based on
discussions with counsel and the Company’s analysis of historical claims. The Company has, and requires the majority of its subcontractors to
have, general liability insurance to protect it against a portion of its risk of loss and cover it against construction-related claims. The Company
establishes reserves to cover its self-insured retentions and deductible amounts under those policies. Due to the high degree of judgment
required in determining these estimated reserve amounts, actual future litigation costs could differ from the Company’s current estimates. At
December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had legal reserves of $21.0 million and $21.6 million, respectively. (See Item 3. “Legal
Proceedings.”)
Note K: Supplemental Guarantor Information
The Company’s obligations to pay principal, premium, if any, and interest under its $1.1 billion unsecured revolving credit facility; 5.4 percent
senior notes due June 2008; 5.4 percent senior notes due May 2012; 6.9 percent senior notes due June 2013; and 5.4 percent senior notes due
January 2015 are guaranteed on a joint and several basis by substantially all of its 100 percent owned homebuilding subsidiaries (the
“Guarantor Subsidiaries”). Such guarantees are full and unconditional.
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In lieu of providing separate financial statements for the Guarantor Subsidiaries, the accompanying condensed consolidating financial
statements have been included. Management does not believe that separate financial statements for the Guarantor Subsidiaries are material to
investors and are, therefore, not presented.
The following information presents the consolidating statements of earnings, financial position and cash flows for (a) the parent company and
issuer, The Ryland Group, Inc. (“TRG, Inc.”); (b) the Guarantor Subsidiaries; (c) the non-guarantor subsidiaries; and (d) the consolidation
eliminations used to arrive at the consolidated information for The Ryland Group, Inc. and subsidiaries.
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

(in thousands)
REVENUES
EXPENSES
Corporate, general and
administrative
Expenses related to early
retirement of debt
TOTAL EXPENSES
Earnings before taxes
Tax expense
Equity in net earnings of
subsidiaries
NET EARNINGS

$

$

TRG, INC.
2,859,744 $

GUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES
1,908,416 $

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006
NONGUARANTOR
CONSOLIDATING
CONSOLIDATED
SUBSIDIARIES
ELIMINATIONS
TOTAL
117,342 $
(128,286 ) $
4,757,216

2,450,382

1,810,670

49,647

(128,286 )

4,182,413

7,695
2,458,077
401,667
145,125

1,810,670
97,746
36,655

49,647
67,695
25,386

(128,286 )
-

7,695
4,190,108
567,108
207,166

42,309 $

(103,400 )
(103,400 ) $

103,400
359,942 $

61,091 $

359,942

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005
(in thousands)
REVENUES
EXPENSES
Corporate, general and
administrative
Expenses related to early
retirement of debt
TOTAL EXPENSES
Earnings before taxes
Tax expense
Equity in net earnings of
subsidiaries
NET EARNINGS

(in thousands)
REVENUES
EXPENSES
Corporate, general and
administrative
TOTAL EXPENSES
Earnings before taxes
Tax expense
Equity in net earnings of
subsidiaries
NET EARNINGS

TRG, INC.
2,777,565 $

$

$

CONSOLIDATED
TOTAL
4,817,566

1,797,376

32,442

(116,302 )

4,088,238

8,277
2,382,999
394,566
150,106

1,797,376
267,112
101,502

32,442
59,373
22,391

(116,302 )
-

8,277
4,096,515
721,051
273,999

36,982 $

(202,592 )
(202,592 ) $

TRG, INC.
2,403,614 $
2,065,629
2,065,629
337,985
130,280

$

CONSOLIDATING
ELIMINATIONS
(116,302 ) $

2,374,722

202,592
447,052 $

$

GUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES
2,064,488 $

NONGUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES
91,815 $

112,840
320,545 $

165,610 $

GUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES
1,551,529 $
1,425,004
1,425,004
126,525
48,713
77,812 $
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447,052

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004
NONGUARANTOR
CONSOLIDATING
CONSOLIDATING
SUBSIDIARIES
ELIMINATIONS
TOTAL
86,076 $
(89,398 ) $
3,951,821
29,374
29,374
56,702
21,674
35,028 $

(89,398 )
(89,398 )
(112,840 )
(112,840 ) $

3,430,609
3,430,609
521,212
200,667
320,545

CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2006
(in thousands)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
$
Consolidated inventories owned
Consolidated inventories not
owned
Total inventories
Purchase price in excess of net
assets
acquired
Investment in subsidiaries/
intercompany receivables
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other
accrued
liabilities
Debt
Intercompany payables
TOTAL LIABILITIES
MINORITY INTEREST
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS’
EQUITY
$

TRG, INC.

GUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES

43,129 $
1,563,246

129,079 $
944,386

5,655
1,568,901

8,059
952,445

15,383

NONGUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED
TOTAL

- $
-

215,037
2,507,632

250,139
250,139

-

263,853
2,771,485

2,802

-

-

18,185

1,023,975
281,688
2,933,076

97,979
1,182,305

12,178
32,323
337,469

(1,036,153 )
(1,036,153 )

411,990
3,416,697

480,811
941,099
1,421,910
1,511,166

162,758
9,018
370,858
542,634
639,671

130,096
130,096
181,749
25,624

(370,858 )
(370,858 )
(665,295 )

773,665
950,117
1,723,782
181,749
1,511,166

(1,036,153 ) $

3,416,697

2,933,076 $

1,182,305 $

42,829 $
-

CONSOLIDATING
ELIMINATIONS

337,469 $

DECEMBER 31, 2005
(in thousands)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
$
Consolidated inventories owned
Consolidated inventories not
owned
Total inventories
Purchase price in excess of net
assets
acquired
Investment in subsidiaries/
intercompany receivables
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other
accrued
liabilities
Debt
Intercompany payables
TOTAL LIABILITIES
MINORITY INTEREST
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
STOCKHOLDERS’
EQUITY
$

TRG, INC.

GUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES

81,895 $
1,382,900

359,709 $
957,576

6,681
1,389,581

6,576
964,152

15,383

NONGUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATING
TOTAL

- $
-

461,383
2,340,476

225,934
225,934

-

239,191
2,579,667

2,802

-

-

18,185

1,169,987
216,190
2,873,036

66,208
1,392,871

23,259
45,240
314,212

(1,193,246 )
(1,193,246 )

327,638
3,386,873

589,279
907,736
1,497,015
1,376,021

205,985
14,234
594,071
814,290
578,581

118,966
118,966
174,652
20,594

(594,071 )
(594,071 )
(599,175 )

914,230
921,970
1,836,200
174,652
1,376,021

(1,193,246 ) $

3,386,873

2,873,036 $

1,392,871 $
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19,779 $
-

CONSOLIDATING
ELIMINATIONS

314,212 $

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006
(in thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net earnings
$
Adjustments to reconcile net
earnings
to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
expense
Changes in assets and
liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in
inventories
Net change in other assets,
payables
and other liabilities
Excess tax benefits from stockbased compensation
Other operating activities, net
Net cash provided by (used for)

TRG, INC.

359,942 $

GUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES

61,091 $

42,309 $

CONSOLIDATING
ELIMINATIONS

(103,400 ) $

CONSOLIDATING
TOTAL

359,942

27,808

17,698

1,225

-

46,731

15,376

9,450

767

-

25,593

(179,320 )

11,707

(15,066 )

-

(182,679 )

(303,988 )

(7,200 )

103,400

(216,939 )

-

-

(14,632 )
(3,379 )

22,035

-

14,637

(1,187 )

-

(53,839 )

2,250

-

2,250

1,063

-

(51,589 )

-

-

250,000
(243,500 )

-

-

21,647
(21,666 )
(250,118 )

(9,151 )
(14,632 )
(3,379 )

-

196,644

(204,042 )

and equipment
Principal reduction of
mortgage-backed securities,
notes receivable and
mortgage collateral
Net cash (used for) provided by

(31,280 )

(21,372 )

investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash proceeds of long-term
debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Increase (decrease) in shortterm
borrowings
Common stock dividends
Common stock repurchases
Issuance of common stock
under
stock-based compensation
Excess tax benefits from stockbased compensation
Other financing activities, net
Net cash used for financing
activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash
and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year
CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR
$

(31,280 )

operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net additions to property, plant

NONGUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES

-

(21,372 )

250,000
(243,500 )
26,863
(21,666 )
(250,118 )

(5,216 )
-

19,659

-

-

-

19,659

14,632
-

-

(48 )

-

14,632
(48 )

(48 )

-

(209,394 )

(204,130 )

(5,216 )

(38,766 )

(230,630 )

23,050

-

(246,346 )

81,895

359,709

19,779

-

461,383

43,129 $

129,079 $

42,829 $

- $

215,037
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CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

(in thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Net earnings
$
Adjustments to reconcile
net earnings
to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and
amortization
Stock-based
compensation
expense
Changes in assets and
liabilities:
Increase in inventories
Net change in other
assets, payables
and other liabilities
Tax benefit from exercise
of stock
options and vesting of
restricted stock
Other operating activities,
net
Net cash (used for)
provided by operating
activities
CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net additions to property,
plant
and equipment
Principal reduction of
mortgage-backed
securities, notes
receivable and mortgage
collateral
Net cash (used for)
provided by
investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Cash proceeds of longterm debt
Repayment of long-term
debt
Increase (decrease) in
short-term borrowings
Common stock dividends
Common stock
repurchases
Issuance of common stock
under
stock-based
compensation
Other financing activities,
net
Net cash provided by
(used for)
financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in
cash and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
at
eginning of year
CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR
$

TRG, INC.

447,052 $

GUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES

165,610 $

NONGUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES

36,982 $

CONSOLIDATING
ELIMINATIONS

(202,592 ) $

CONSOLIDATED
TOTAL

447,052

25,880

16,167

1,119

-

43,166

15,039

3,430

393

-

18,862
(490,971 )

(269,121 )

(192,901 )

(28,949 )

-

(370,135 )

349,505

(6,604 )

202,592

175,358

30,505

-

-

-

30,505

(7,708 )

-

-

-

(7,708 )

(128,488 )

341,811

2,941

-

216,264

-

(55,127 )

12,561

-

12,561

11,816

-

(42,566 )

(27,496 )

(27,496 )

(26,886 )

(26,886 )

(745 )

500,000

-

-

-

500,000

(147,000 )

-

-

-

(147,000 )

7,124
(11,383 )

13,394
-

-

10,028
(11,383 )

(176,214 )

-

-

-

(176,214 )

29,262

-

-

-

29,262

-

-

(5,396 )

-

(5,396 )

201,789

13,394

(15,886 )

-

199,297

45,805

328,319

(1,129 )

-

372,995

36,090

31,390

20,908

-

88,388

19,779 $

- $

81,895 $

359,709 $

(10,490 )
-

461,383

60

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004
TRG, INC.
CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net earnings
$
Adjustments to reconcile net
earnings
to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and
amortization
Stock-based compensation
expense
Changes in assets and
liabilities:
Increase in inventories
Net change in other assets,
payables
and other liabilities
Tax benefit from exercise of
stock
options and vesting of
restricted stock
Other operating activities, net
Net cash provided by (used for)

320,545 $

GUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES
77,812 $

35,028 $

CONSOLIDATING
ELIMINATIONS
(112,840) $

CONSOLIDATED
TOTAL
320,545

23,287

14,609

623

-

38,519

11,134

3,688

386

-

15,208

-

(585,562 )

(298,489 )

(253,221 )

(33,852 )

45,933

(69,968 )

15,619

112,840

104,424

-

-

17,475
10,920

17,804

-

(78,471 )

(1,293 )

-

(47,131 )

19,336

-

19,336

18,043

-

(27,795 )

(15,764 )
-

-

(14,934 )
(9,661 )
(118,296 )

(2,678 )

-

23,519
(2,678 )

(18,442 )

-

(122,050 )

17,475
10,920

-

operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net additions to property, plant
and equipment
Principal reduction of
mortgage-backed securities,
notes receivable and
mortgage collateral
Net cash (used for) provided by

130,805

(227,080 )

(26,370 )

(19,468 )

investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase (decrease) in shortterm
borrowings
Common stock dividends
Common stock repurchases
Issuance of common stock
under
stock-based compensation
Other financing activities, net
Net cash used for financing
activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash
and
cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year
CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

(26,370 )

(19,468 )

1,659
(9,661 )
(118,296 )

(829 )
-

-

-

23,519
(102,779 )

$

NONGUARANTOR
SUBSIDIARIES

(829 )

1,656

(247,377 )

17,405

-

(228,316 )

34,434

278,767

3,503

-

316,704

36,090 $

31,390 $
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20,908 $

- $

88,388

Supplementary Data
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(in thousands, except per share
data) unaudited
DEC. 31
CONSOLIDATED RESULTS
Revenues
Earnings before taxes
Tax expense
Net earnings
Net earnings per
common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted-average common
shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

$
$

SEPT. 30

JUN. 30

1,354,544 $
139,448
52,293
87,155 $

1,130,942 $
131,907
43,966
87,941 $

1,196,892 $
151,706
56,889
94,817 $

2.05 $
1.98

2.04 $
1.97

2.11 $
2.03

42,594
44,123

43,159
44,542

45,026
46,763
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2006
MAR. 31

DEC. 31

SEPT. 30

JUN. 30

1,074,838 $ 1,529,567 $ 1,254,313 $ 1,159,712 $
261,280
190,313
168,290
144,047
99,288
72,319
63,950
54,018
161,992 $
117,994 $
104,340 $
90,029 $
1.95 $
1.86
46,134
48,339

3.48 $
3.32
46,540
48,860

2.52 $
2.39
46,779
49,365

2.22 $
2.10
47,057
49,625

2005
MAR. 31
873,974
101,168
38,442
62,726
1.32
1.25
47,489
50,083

Report of Management
Management of the Company is responsible for the integrity and accuracy of the financial statements and all other annual report information.
The financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and include amounts based on
management’s judgments and estimates.
The accounting systems, which record, summarize and report financial information, are supported by internal control systems designed to
provide reasonable assurance, at an appropriate cost, that the assets are safeguarded and that transactions are recorded in accordance with
Company policies and procedures. Developing and maintaining these systems are the responsibility of management. Proper selection, training
and development of personnel also contribute to the effectiveness of the internal control systems. For the purpose of evaluating and
documenting its systems of internal control, management elected to use the integrated framework promulgated by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). The Company’s systems, evaluation and test results were documented. The
Company’s internal auditors regularly test these systems. Based on its evaluation, management believes that its systems of internal control over
financial reporting were effective and is not aware of any material weaknesses.
The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm also reviewed and tested the effectiveness of these systems to the extent it
deemed necessary to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and systems of internal control; an attestation report on
management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was then issued.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors periodically meets with management, the internal auditors and the independent registered
public accounting firm to review accounting, auditing and financial matters. Both internal auditors and the independent registered public
accounting firm have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.
/s/ Gordon A. Milne
Gordon A. Milne
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
/s/ David L. Fristoe
David L. Fristoe
Senior Vice President, Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Board of Directors and Stockholders
The Ryland Group, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Ryland Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,
and the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements and
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of The
Ryland Group, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly
in all material respects the information set forth therein.
As discussed in Note A to the financial statements, in 2006 the Company changed its method of accounting for share-based payments.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness
of The Ryland Group, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated
February 21, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Ernst & Young LLP
Los Angeles, California
February 21, 2007
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Board of Directors and Stockholders
The Ryland Group, Inc.
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Report of Management, that The Ryland Group, Inc. maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The Ryland Group, Inc.’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the
effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that The Ryland Group, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006 is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, The Ryland Group, Inc.
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
balance sheets of The Ryland Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of
earnings, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, and our report dated
February 21, 2007 expressed an unquali fied opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Ernst & Young LLP
Los Angeles, California
February 21, 2007
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
The Company has procedures in place for accumulating and evaluating information that enable it to prepare and file reports with the SEC. At
the end of the period covered by the report on Form 10-K, an evaluation was performed by the Company’s management, including the CEO
and CFO, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the
Exchange Act. Based on that evaluation, the Company’s management, including the CEO and CFO, concluded that the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2006.
The Company has a committee consisting of key of ficers, including the chief accounting officer and general counsel, to ensure that all
information required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports is accumulated and communicated to those individuals responsible for the
preparation of the reports, as well as to all principal executive and financial officers, in a manner that will allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosures.
The Company’s management, including the CEO and CFO, has evaluated any changes in the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the quarterly period ended December 31, 2006, and has concluded that there was no change during this period
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
At December 31, 2006, the Company completed a detailed evaluation of its internal control over financial reporting, including the assessment,
documentation and testing of its controls as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. No material weaknesses were identified. The
Company’s management summarized its assessment process and documented its conclusions in the Report of Management, which appears in
Part II, Item 8., “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm summarized
its review of management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting in an attestation report which also appears in Part II, Item 8.,
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
NYSE Certi fi cation
The NYSE requires that the chief executive of ficers of its listed companies certify annually to the NYSE that they are not aware of violations
by their companies of NYSE corporate governance listing standards. The Company submitted a non-qualified certification by its Chief
Executive Officer to the NYSE in 2006 in accordance with the NYSE’s rules. Further, the Company filed certifications by its Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer with the SEC in accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. These certifications were filed as
exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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Part III

Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information as to the Company’s directors, executive of ficers and corporate governance is incorporated by reference from the Company’s
2007 Proxy Statement , including the determination by the Board of Directors, with respect to the “Audit Committee’s financial expert,” and
the identity of each member of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. Additional information as to the Company’s executive officers
is shown under Part I as a separate item.
The Company has adopted a code of ethics that is applicable to its senior of ficers, directors and employees. To retrieve the Company’s code of
ethics, visit www.ryland.com , select “Investors” and scroll down the page to “Code of Ethics.”
Item 11.

Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the 2007 Proxy Statement . The Compensation Committee Report to be
included in the 2007 Proxy Statement shall be deemed furnished in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and shall not be incorporated by
reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act as a result of such furnishing in this Item 11.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the 2007 Proxy Statement.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the 2007 Proxy Statement.
Item 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the 2007 Proxy Statement.
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Part IV

Item 15.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Page No .

(a)

1.

2.

Financial Statements
Consolidated Statements of Earnings—years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

35

Consolidated Balance Sheets—December 31, 2006 and 2005

36

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity—years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

37

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

38

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

39

Financial Statement Schedule
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
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Schedules not listed above have been omitted either because they are inapplicable
or because the required information has been provided in the financial statements
or notes thereto.
3.

Exhibits
The following exhibits are included with this report or incorporated herein by
reference as indicated below:
3.1

Articles of Restatement of The Ryland Group, Inc., as amended
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2005)

3.2

Bylaws of The Ryland Group, Inc., as amended
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1996)

4.1

Senior Notes, dated as of August 16, 2001
(Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement on Form S-3,
Registration No. 333-58208)

4.2

Senior Notes, dated as of June 5, 2003
(Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement on Form S-3,
Registration No. 333-100167)

4.3

Senior Notes, dated as of January 11, 2005
(Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement on Form S-3,
Registration No. 333-121469)

4.4

Senior Notes, dated as of May 9, 2005
(Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement on Form S-3,
Registration No. 333-124000)

4.5

Senior Notes, dated as of May 30, 2006
(Incorporated by reference from Registration Statement on Form S-3,
Registration No. 333-124000)

10.1

Credit Agreement, dated as of January 12, 2006, between
The Ryland Group, Inc. and certain financial institutions
(Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K, filed January 13, 2006)
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3.

Exhibits, continued
10.2

1992 Equity Incentive Plan of The Ryland Group, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 1992)

10.3

2002 Equity Incentive Plan of The Ryland Group, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2002)

10.4

2005 Equity Incentive Plan of The Ryland Group, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2005)

10.5

Form of Non-Quali fied Stock Option Agreement for The Ryland
Group, Inc. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan
(Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K, filed April 29, 2005)

10.6

Form of Stock Unit Agreement for The Ryland Group, Inc. 2005
Equity Incentive Plan
(Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K, filed April 29, 2005)

10.7

2004 Non-Employee Director Equity Plan of The Ryland Group, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2004)

10.8

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of April 20,
2005, between The Ryland Group, Inc. and R. Chad Dreier
(Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K/A, filed May 4, 2005)

10.9

The Ryland Group, Inc. Dreier Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2003)

10.10

The Ryland Group, Inc. Dreier Supplemental Executive Retirement
Plan II
(Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K/A, filed May 4, 2005)

10.11

Form of 2003 and 2004 Senior Executive Severance Agreement
between The Ryland Group, Inc. and executive of ficers of the
Company
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2000)

10.12

Form of 2007 Senior Executive Severance Agreement between The
Ryland Group, Inc. and executive of ficers of the Company
(Filed herewith)

10.13

Amendment and Restatement of the Executive and Director Deferred
Compensation Plan, effective March 1, 1998
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1999)

10.14

The Ryland Group, Inc. Executive and Director Deferred
Compensation Plan II, effective January 1, 2005
(Filed herewith)

10.15

Non-Employee Director Stock Unit Plan, effective January 1, 1998,
between The Ryland Group, Inc. and the Board of Directors
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1997)

10.16

2000 Non-Employee Director Equity Plan of The Ryland Group, Inc.,
as amended
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2000)
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3.

Exhibits, continued
10.17

Non-Employee Director Stock Plan, effective April 26, 2006
(Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K, filed April 27, 2006)

10.18

TRG Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, effective
January 1, 2003
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2003)

10.19

The Ryland Group, Inc. Performance Award Program, effective
July 1, 2002
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2003)

10.20

The Ryland Group, Inc. Senior Executive Performance Plan
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2003)

10.21

The Ryland Group, Inc. Senior Executive Supplemental Retirement
Plan
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2003)

10.22

Lease Agreement, dated as of December 29, 1999, by and between
The Ryland Group, Inc. and Kilroy Realty Group
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1999)

10.23

First Amendment to Of fice Building Lease, dated August 26, 2005,
by and between The Ryland Group, Inc. and Kilroy Realty, L.P.
(Incorporated by reference from Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2005)

10.24

Lease Agreement, dated February 28, 2006, by and between The
Ryland Group, Inc. and PCCP HC Kierland, LLC
(Incorporated by reference from Form 8-K, filed March 6, 2006)

12.1

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(Filed herewith)

21

Subsidiaries of the Registrant
(Filed herewith)

23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
(Filed herewith)

24

Power of Attorney
(Filed herewith)

31.1

Certi fication of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Filed herewith)

31.2

Certi fication of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Filed herewith)

32.1

Certi fication of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Furnished herewith)

32.2

Certi fication of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Furnished herewith)
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The Ryland Group, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(in thousands)
Valuation allowance:
Homebuilding inventories
2006
2005
2004

BALANCE AT
BEGINNING
OF PERIOD

$

486
1,405
1,526
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CHARGED TO
COSTS AND
EXPENSES

$

62,910
804
33

DEDUCTIONS
AND
TRANSFERS

$

(3,661 ) $
(1,723 )
(154 )

BALANCE AT
END OF
PERIOD

59,735
486
1,405

Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the Company has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
The Ryland Group, Inc.
By:
/s/ R. Chad Dreier
R. Chad Dreier
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

February 28, 2007

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in
the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Principal Executive Of fi cer:
/s/ R. Chad Dreier
R. Chad Dreier
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

February 28, 2007

Principal Financial Of fi cer:
/s/ Gordon A. Milne
Gordon A. Milne
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

February 28, 2007

Principal Accounting Of fi cer:
/s/ David L. Fristoe
David L. Fristoe
Senior Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer

February 28, 2007

Members of the Board of Directors: Daniel T. Bane, Leslie M. Frécon, Roland A. Hernandez, William L. Jews, Ned Mansour,
Robert E. Mellor, Norman J. Metcalfe, Charlotte St. Martin, Paul J. Varello and John O. Wilson
By:
/s/ Timothy J. Geckle
Timothy J. Geckle
As Attorney-in-Fact

February 28, 2007
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Index of Exhibits
10.12

Form of 2007 Senior Executive Severance Agreement between The Ryland Group, Inc. and executive of ficers of the Company

10.14

The Ryland Group, Inc. Executive and Director Deferred Compensation Plan II, effective January 1, 2005

12.1

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

21

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

24

Power of Attorney

31.1

Certi fication of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2

Certi fication of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1

Certi fication of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2

Certi fication of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

73

EXHIBIT 10.12
SENIOR EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE AGREEMENT
AGREEMENT dated as of
(the “Executive”).

, 20

between The Ryland Group, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Corporation”), and

The purpose of this Agreement is to ensure that the Corporation will receive the continued dedication, loyalty, and service of, and the
availability of objective advice and counsel from, the Executive notwithstanding the possibility, threat or occurrence of a bid or other action to
take over control of the Corporation.
In consideration of the services provided by the Executive and the covenants and agreements contained herein, and for other good and valuable
consideration the sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the Corporation and the Executive agree as follows:
1.

Termination After a Change of Control . The following payments and benefits will be provided to the Executive by the Corporation
(in addition to any compensation or benefits to which the Executive may otherwise be entitled under any other agreement, plan or
arrangement with the Corporation, other than a plan, policy or other arrangement providing for payments due to severance of
employment) in the event of a Termination of Employment (as hereinafter defined) of the Executive during a Change of Control
Period (as hereinafter defined) of the Corporation:
1.1

Lump Sum Cash Payment . On or before the Executive’s last day of employment with the Corporation or any successor
corporation, the Corporation or any successor corporation will pay the Executive, as an amount earned for services rendered,
a pro rata bonus through the date of Termination of Employment. Also, on or before the Executive’s last day of employment
with the Corporation or any successor corporation, the Corporation or any successor corporation will pay the Executive a
lump sum cash payment equal to two (2) times the highest Annual Compensation (as hereinafter defined) for any of the three
(3) calendar years immediately preceding the date of Termination of Employment. For purposes of this Section 1.1, the prorata bonus shall be an amount equal to the target annual bonus for the year in which the Termination of Employment occurs
and, in the absence of a specified target annual bonus for such year, the highest bonus earned by the Executive within the
three (3) calendar years immediately preceding the date of Termination of Employment, in either case pro rated for the period
served during the year in which the Termination of Employment occurs.

1.2

Accelerated Vesting and Supplemental Pavments . All rights, awards and benefits of the Executive provided pursuant to the
TRG Incentive Plan and any other incentive or bonus plans of the Corporation in which the Executive participates prior to the
Change of Control shall immediately vest in full and the Executive shall receive the amount of these rights, awards and
benefits in a cash lump sum payment, or other form of compensation as provided in accordance with the applicable benefit,
document or plan, within thirty (30) days of the date of Termination of Employment or, if later, upon the earliest date as may
be permitted in accordance with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Section 409A”), without
the imposition of additional taxes or interest penalties under Section 409A.

1.3

Insurance and Other Special Benefits . The Executive’s participation in the life, accident and health insurance, employee
welfare benefit plans (as defined in the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974), personal health services
allowance, and health and social club benefits provided to the Executive prior to the Change of Control (collectively, the
“Benefits”) shall be continued or equivalent benefits provided by the Corporation or any successor corporation or affiliate of
such successor corporation (the “Responsible Corporation”), at the Responsible Corporation’s expense, for a period of two
(2) years from the date of the Executive’s Termination of Employment. If for any reason the Responsible Corporation is
unable to continue the Benefits, as required by the preceding sentence, the Responsible Corporation shall pay to the
Executive a lump sum cash payment equal to the value of the Benefits which the Responsible Corporation is unable to
provide. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in no event shall the aggregate present value of the Benefits to be
provided under this Section 1.3, as determined as of the date of the Executive’s Termination of Employment in the discretion
of the Responsible Corporation applying reasonable assumptions, exceed an amount (the “Benefits Threshold”) equal to
ninety-nine hundredths (0.99) times the highest Annual Compensation (as hereinafter defined) for any of the three (3)
calendar years immediately preceding the date of Termination of Employment. In the event that the aggregate present value
of the Benefits to be provided under this Section 1.3 would, but for the preceding sentence, exceed the Benefits Threshold,
the Executive shall determine which such Benefit or Benefits shall be reduced or forgone to comply with the limitation set
forth in the preceding sentence.

1.4

Relocation Assistance . Should the Executive move his residence in order to pursue professional or career opportunities
within two (2) years after the date of the Executive’s Termination of Employment, he will be reimbursed by the Responsible
Corporation for any expenses incurred in that relocation, including taxes payable on the reimbursement, as well as any
reduction in value from the original purchase price of the Executive’s residence. Benefits under this paragraph will include
assistance in and payment of all costs and commissions related to selling the Executive’s home, moving costs as well as all
other
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assistance and benefits which are provided by the Corporation under its relocation plan as in effect immediately prior to the
Change of Control. All payments made pursuant to this Section 1.4 shall be made consistent with, and within the permissible
timeframe under, the reimbursement arrangements provisions under Section 409A.
1.5

Stock Rights . All stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock purchase rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units,
performance shares, performance units, and any similar rights which the Executive holds shall become fully vested and be
exercisable on the date of Termination of Employment.

1.6

Outplacement Assistance . The Executive shall be reimbursed by the Responsible Corporation for the costs of all
outplacement services obtained by the Executive within the two (2) year period after the date of the Executive’s Termination
of Employment provided the total reimbursement shall be limited to an amount equal to twenty-five percent (25%) of the
Executive’s Annual Compensation for the calendar year immediately preceding the date of the Executive’s Termination of
Employment. All payments made pursuant to this Section 1.6 shall be made consistent with, and within the permissible
timeframe under, the reimbursement arrangements provisions under Section 409A.

1.7

Definitions .
(i)

A “Change of Control” shall take place on the date of the earlier to occur of any of the following events:
(a)

The acquisition by any person, other than the Corporation or any employee benefit plan of the Corporation,
of beneficial ownership of twenty percent (20%) or more of the combined voting power of the
Corporation’s then outstanding voting securities;

(b)

The first purchase under a tender offer or exchange offer, other than an offer by the Corporation or any
employee benefit plans of the Corporation, pursuant to which shares of common stock have been
purchased;

(c)

During any period of two (2) consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of such period constitute
the Board of Directors of the Corporation cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority thereof,
unless the election or the nomination for the election by stockholders of the Corporation of each new
director was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the directors then still in office who were
directors at the beginning of the period; or

3

(d)

Approval by stockholders of the Corporation of a merger, consolidation, liquidation or dissolution of the
Corporation, or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation.

(ii)

“Annual Compensation” shall mean the sum of the annual base salary paid or earned and annual bonus paid or
earned, even though paid in a subsequent year, by the Executive and all amounts credited to the Executive, vested
and unvested, under any incentive compensation or other benefit or compensation plans in which the Executive
participates during a calendar year. In the event the Executive has not been employed by the Corporation for a
complete calendar year, the determination of Annual Compensation shall involve a pro forma projection of annual
base salary, annual bonus and amounts that are projected to be credited, vested and unvested, under any incentive
compensation or other benefit or compensation plans in which the Executive participates.

(iii)

A “Termination of Employment” shall take place in the event that the Executive’s employment is terminated (a) by
the Corporation without Cause (as hereinafter defined) or (b) by the Executive with Good Reason (as hereinafter
defined).

(iv)

“Cause” shall mean (a) the Executive’s willful and continued failure substantially to perform the material duties of
his or her position (other than as a result of disability, as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code,
or as a result of termination by the Executive for Good Reason) after written notice to the Executive by the Board
specifying such failure, provided that such “Cause” shall have been found by a majority vote of the Board after at
least ten (10) days’ written notice to the Executive specifying the failure on the part of the Executive and after an
opportunity for the Executive to be heard at a meeting of the Board and take corrective action to remedy or eliminate
such failure; (b) any willful act or omission by the Executive constituting dishonesty, fraud or other malfeasance,
and any act or omission by the Executive constituting immoral conduct, which in any such case is injurious to the
financial condition or business reputation of the Corporation and is proven by independently verified evidence of
such conduct; or (c) the Executive’s conviction of a felony under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or
any other jurisdiction in which the Corporation conducts business.

(v)

“Good Reason” shall mean (a) the Executive is assigned any duties or responsibilities that are inconsistent in any
respect with his position, duties, responsibilities or status prior to a Change of Control Period, (b) the Corporation
requires the Executive, without his or her consent, to be based at a location which is more than fifty (50) miles from
the
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Executive’s then current primary residence, (c) the Executive’s base salary, bonus or any other benefits, incentive
compensation or compensation plans are reduced, or (d) the Executive experiences in any year a reduction in the
ratio of the Executive’s incentive compensation, bonus or other such payments to his base compensation, or a
reduction in the method of calculation of the Executive’s incentive compensation, bonus or other such payments if
these benefits or payments are calculated other than as a percentage of base salary. An isolated, insubstantial and
inadvertent action not taken in bad faith and which is remedied by the Corporation promptly after receipt of notice
thereof given by the Executive shall be excluded.
(vi)

1.8

2.

A “Change of Control Period” shall mean the period of time commencing with the date of a Change of Control or
on which the Company becomes aware of or enters into any discussions or negotiations that could involve a Change
of Control or a proposed transaction which could result in a Change of Control, and ending on the first to occur of:
(a) two (2) years after the effective date of the Change of Control, or (b) the date on which the proposed Change of
Control is no longer discussed or proposed to occur.

Subsequent Imposition of Excise Tax . If it is ultimately determined by a court or pursuant to a final determination by the
Internal Revenue Service that any portion of the payments to the Executive is considered to be an “excess parachute
payment,” subject to the excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code, the Executive shall be entitled to
receive a lump sum cash payment sufficient to place the Executive in the same net after-tax position, computed by using the
“Special Tax Rate” as such term is defined below, that the Executive would have been in had such payment not been subject
to such excise tax, and had the Executive not incurred any interest charges or penalties with respect to the imposition of such
excise tax. For purposes of this Agreement, the “Special Tax Rate” shall be the highest effective Federal and state marginal
tax rates applicable to the Executive in the year in which the payment contemplated under this Section 1.8 is made.

General .
2.1.

Indemnification . If litigation shall be brought to enforce or interpret any provision contained herein, then, provided that the
Executive prevails to any extent, the Corporation shall reimburse or indemnify the Executive for the Executive’s reasonable
attorneys’ fees, expenses and disbursements incurred in such litigation, including costs of enforcement.

2.2

Dispute Resolution . Either the Executive or the Corporation may elect to have any good faith dispute or controversy arising
under or in connection with this
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Agreement settled by binding arbitration, by providing written notice of such election to the other party, specifying the nature
of the dispute to be arbitrated. If arbitration is selected, such proceeding shall be conducted before a panel of three (3)
arbitrators sitting in a location agreed to by the Corporation and the Executive within fifty (50) miles from the location of the
Executive’s principal place of employment in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association. Judgment
may be entered on the award of the arbitrators in any court having competent jurisdiction. If the Executive prevails to any
extent in any arbitration seeking to enforce the provisions of this Agreement, the Executive shall be entitled to reimbursement
by the Corporation of all expenses, including reasonable legal fees and expenses, and costs and disbursements incurred as a
result of such dispute or legal proceeding, including costs of enforcement.
2.3

Payment of Obligations Absolute . The Responsible Corporation’s obligation to pay the compensation and to make the
arrangements provided in this Agreement shall be absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstances,
including any offset, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or other right which the Responsible Corporation may have against
the Executive or anyone else, provided , however , that as a condition to payment of amounts under this Agreement, the
Executive shall execute a general release and waiver, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Responsible
Corporation, of all claims relating to the Executive’s employment by the Corporation and the termination of such
employment, including, but not limited to, discrimination claims, employment-related tort claims, contract claims and claims
under this Agreement (other than claims with respect to benefits under the Corporation’s tax-qualified retirement plans or
continuation of coverage or benefits solely as required by Part 6 of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
of 1974). All amounts payable by the Responsible Corporation shall be paid without notice or demand. Each and every
payment made by the Responsible Corporation shall be final, and the Responsible Corporation will not seek to recover all or
any part of such payment. The Executive shall not be obligated to seek other employment in mitigation of the amounts
payable or arrangements made under this Agreement, and the obtaining of any other employment shall not result in a
reduction of the Responsible Corporation’s obligations to make the payments, benefits and arrangements required to be made
under this Agreement.

2.4

Continuing Obligations . The Executive shall retain in confidence any confidential information known to him concerning
the Corporation, its subsidiaries and their respective businesses so long as such information is not publicly disclosed.

2.5

Successors . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Executive and his estate, and the
Corporation and any successor of the Corporation or affiliate of a successor to the Corporation, but neither this Agreement
nor any rights arising hereunder may be assigned or pledged by the
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Executive. All references in this Agreement to the Corporation shall include its subsidiaries and affiliates and any
successors, affiliates of successors or assigns of the Corporation. Any successor of the Corporation shall be deemed
substituted for all purposes of the “Corporation” under the terms of this Agreement. As used in this Agreement, the term
“successor” shall mean any person, firm, corporation or business entity or affiliate thereof which at any time, whether by
merger, purchase or otherwise, directly or indirectly acquires all or substantially all of the assets or the business of the
Corporation, including any entity that shall be the surviving corporation in a merger with the Corporation or the acquiring
person or affiliate of the acquiring person in an acquisition of the Corporation and/or of all or substantially all of its business
or assets, regardless of whether such transaction constitutes a Change of Control. In all cases, the Corporation, Responsible
Corporation or successor shall remain jointly and severally liable for all obligations hereunder.
2.6

Severability . Any provisions in this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such
jurisdiction, be ineffective only to the extent of such jurisdiction, be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or
unenforceability, without invalidating or affecting the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or
unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.

2.7

Controlling Law . This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of
Maryland.

2.8

Modification . This Agreement shall not be varied, altered, modified, canceled, changed or in any way amended except by
mutual agreement of the Executive and the Corporation in a written instrument executed by the Executive and the
Corporation. The Corporation and the Executive agree that they will execute any and all amendments to this Agreement as
they mutually agree in good faith may be necessary to ensure compliance with the distribution provisions of Section 409A.

2.9

Entire Agreement . This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter
described herein and supercedes any prior written agreement between the parties regarding such subject matter. Any oral or
written agreements, representations, warranties, written inducements, or other communications made prior to the execution of
this Agreement with respect to the subject matter described herein shall be void and ineffective for all purposes.

2.10

Tax Withholding . The Corporation may withhold all federal, state, city or other taxes required pursuant to any law or
governmental regulation or ruling.
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2. 11

Validity . The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or
unenforceability of any other provision of this Agreement, which shall remain in full force and effect and be interpreted so as
to effect the original intent of the parties to this Agreement to the end that the obligations and agreements contained herein
are fulfilled.

2.12

Delay of Payment Pursuant to Section 409A . Should any of the payments made to the Executive in accordance with
Section 1 of this Agreement be determined to be payments from a nonqualified deferred compensation plan, as defined by
Section 409A, then notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, these payments will be made on the first
business day that is six (6) months after the Executive’s separation from service, as defined by Section 409A.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first above written.
THE RYLAND GROUP, INC.

EXECUTIVE

R. Chad Dreier, President and Chief
Executive Officer
ATTEST:

Timothy J. Geckle, Secretary
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THE RYLAND GROUP, INC.
EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN II
Effective as of January 1, 2005
RECITALS
The Ryland Group, Inc. Executive and Director Deferred Compensation Plan II (the “Plan”), is adopted by The Ryland Group, Inc.,
effective as of January 1, 2005. The Plan is maintained for the benefit of certain of the Employer’s executive employees and Directors.
The purpose of the Plan is to offer participants an opportunity to elect to defer the receipt of compensation in order to provide deferred
compensation benefits taxable pursuant to Code section 451, and to provide a deferred compensation vehicle to which the Employer may credit
certain amounts on behalf of participants. The Plan is intended to be a “top-hat” plan under sections 201(2), 301(a)(3) and 401(a)(1) of
ERISA. The Plan is also intended to comply with the requirements of section 409A of the Code, as added by the American Jobs Creation Act
of 2004, and the Treasury regulations or any other authoritative guidance issued thereunder.
Accordingly, the following Plan is adopted.
ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS
1.1
ACCOUNT means the sum of the amounts credited to a Participant’s or Beneficiary’s Plan Employer Contribution Credit
Account and Compensation Deferral Account, including contribution credits and deemed income, gains and losses credited thereto, as such
accounts are defined in Article 3. A Participant’s or Beneficiary’s Account shall be determined as of the date of reference.
1.2

BENEFICIARY means any person or persons so designated in accordance with the provisions of Article 7.

1.3

CLAIMANT is defined in Section 8.3.

1.4

CODE means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and the regulations thereunder, as amended from time to time.

1.5

COMMITTEE shall mean the Committee chosen by the Company to oversee the administration of the Plan.

1.6

COMPANY means The Ryland Group, Inc. and its successors and assigns.
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1.7
COMPENSATION means the annual cash compensation relating to services performed during any calendar year, whether
or not paid in such calendar year or included on the Federal Income Tax Form W-2 for such calendar year, excluding TRG Incentive Plan,
Personal Health and Services Allowance, Executive Health and Fitness, any discretionary bonus, fringe benefits, stock options, relocation
expenses, non-monetary awards and automobile and other allowances paid to a Participant for employment services rendered (whether or not
such allowances are included in the Participant’s gross income). Compensation shall be calculated before reduction for compensation
voluntarily deferred or contributed by the Participant pursuant to all qualified or non-qualified plans of any Employer and shall be calculated to
include amounts not otherwise included in the Participant’s gross income under Code Sections 125, 402(e)(3), 402(h), or 403(b) pursuant to
plans established by any Employer; provided, however, that all such amounts will be included in compensation only to the extent that had there
been no such plan, the amount would have been payable in cash to the Employee. Compensation includes for Directors who participate in the
Plan retainer fees or stock awards payable in the Employer’s common stock in addition to cash payments.
1.8

COMPENSATION DEFERRAL ACCOUNT is defined in Section 3.2.

1.9

COMPENSATION DEFERRAL is defined in Section 3.2.

1.10

DIRECTOR means a non-employee member of the Board of Directors of The Ryland Group, Inc.

1.11

DISPUTE is defined in Section 12.5.

1.12

EFFECTIVE DATE means the general effective date of the Plan, which shall be January 1, 2005.

1.13

EMPLOYEE means a person who is an employee of the Employer.

EMPLOYER means The Ryland Group, Inc. and its successors and assigns unless otherwise herein provided, or any other
1.14
corporation or business organization which, with the consent of The Ryland Group, Inc., or its successors or assigns, assumes the Employer’s
obligations hereunder, or any other corporation or business organization which agrees, with the consent of The Ryland Group, Inc., to become
a party to the Plan.
1.15

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION CREDIT ACCOUNT is defined in Section 3.1.

1.16

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION CREDITS is defined in Section 3.1.

1.17

ERISA means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.

1.18

MEASUREMENT FUNDS is defined in Section 4.1(c).
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1.19
PARTICIPANT means any person so designated in accordance with the provisions of Article 2, including, where
appropriate according to the context of the Plan, any former employee or former member of the Employer’s Board of Directors who is or may
become (or whose Beneficiaries may become) eligible to receive a benefit under the Plan.
1.20
PARTICIPANT ELECTION FORM means the form or forms on which a Participant elects to defer Compensation
hereunder and/or on which the Participant makes certain other designations as required thereon.
1.21

PLAN is defined in the Recitals.

1.22

PLAN YEAR means the 12-month period ending on December 31 of each year during which the Plan is in effect.

1.23

SEPARATION FROM SERVICE means separation from service within the meaning of Code Section 409A.

1.24
SPECIFIED EMPLOYEE means, with respect to a corporation any stock of which is publicly traded on an established
securities market or otherwise, a key employee, as currently defined in Code Section 416(i) (without regard to paragraph (5) thereof) to mean,
as of the Effective Date, an employee of the Employer who, at any time during the Plan Year, is (i) an officer of the Employer having an annual
compensation greater than $135,000 for 2005 (indexed for inflation in future years); (ii) a five percent owner of the Employer; or (iii) a one
percent owner of the Employer having an annual compensation from the Employer of more than $150,000.
1.25

TRUST means the Trust established pursuant to Article 11.

1.26

TRUSTEE means the trustee of the Trust established pursuant to Article 11.

1.27
VALUATION DATE means the last day of each Plan Year and any other date that the Employer, in its sole discretion,
designates as a Valuation Date.
ARTICLE 2
ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION
ELIGIBILITY . Participation in the Plan shall be limited to a select group of management and highly compensated
2.1
Employees and/or Directors, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion. From that group, the Company shall select, in its sole
discretion, Employees and/or Directors to participate in the Plan. In order to participate in the matching contribution feature of this Plan, an
otherwise eligible Employee must make the maximum amount of salary deferrals to the Employer’s 401(k) Plan.
2.2

ENROLLMENT REQUIREMENTS . As a condition to participation, each selected
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Employee or Director shall complete, execute and return to the Company a Participant Election Form within 30 days after he or she is selected
to participate in the Plan. In addition, the Company shall establish from time to time such other enrollment requirements as it determines in its
sole discretion are necessary. Provided an Employee or Director selected to participate in the Plan has met all enrollment requirements set
forth in this Plan and required by the Company, including returning all required documents to the Company within the specified time period,
that Employee or Director shall commence participation in the Plan on a specified date as determined by the Company in its sole discretion.
Upon commencement of such participation, the Employee or Director shall become a Participant in the Plan. If an Employee or Director fails
to meet all such requirements within the period required, that Employee or Director shall not be eligible to participate in the Plan until the first
day of the Plan Year following the delivery to and acceptance by the Company of the required documents.
2.3
RE-EMPLOYMENT, ETC . If a Participant whose employment or Director status with the Employer is terminated and that
Participant is subsequently re-employed by or subsequently becomes a Director of the Employer, he or she may become a Participant in
accordance with the provisions of Section 2.1 and the terms and conditions of the Plan.
2.4
CHANGE OF STATUS . If the Company determines in good faith that a Participant no longer qualifies as a member of a
select group of management or highly compensated Employees, as membership in such group is determined in accordance with Sections 201
(2), 301(a)(3) and 401(a)(1) of ERISA, the Company shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to (i) terminate any deferral election the
Participant has made for the remainder of the Plan Year in which the Participant’s membership status changes and/or (ii) prevent the Participant
from making future deferral elections. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee shall interpret this Section 2.4 in a manner that is
consistent with Code Section 409A and the regulations thereunder, including without limitation guidance issued in connection with that
Section.
ARTICLE 3
CONTRIBUTIONS AND CREDITS
EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION CREDITS . There shall be established and maintained a separate Employer Contribution
3.1
Credit Account in the name of each Participant who is an Employee. Such account shall be credited or debited, as applicable, with (a) amounts
equal to the Employer’s Contribution Credits credited to that account, if any, and (b) any deemed earnings and losses (to the extent realized,
based upon deemed fair market value of the account’s deemed assets) allocated to that account.
The Employer’s Contribution Credits attributable to a Participant who is an Employee shall consist of the following:
(i)

matching contribution amounts with respect to each pay period (but contributed with a frequency determined by the
Employer) equal to the Participant’s Compensation Deferral amounts for that pay period, provided however that the

4

total Employer matching contribution amounts under the Employer’s 401(k) plan and this Plan for any pay period shall not
exceed six percent of the Participant’s Compensation from the Employer for that pay period; and
(ii)

for a particular Plan Year, any discretionary Employer contribution amounts that the Employer wishes to contribute, but is
prohibited under applicable law from contributing, as discretionary Employer contribution amounts, under the Employer’s
401(k) plan.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any matching contributions credited to a Participant’s Employer Contribution Credit Account
with respect to any pay period in excess of the limit provided in paragraph (i) above, as determined by the Employer in good faith, shall be
returned to the Employer.
Participants shall become vested in amounts credited to their Employer Contribution Credit Accounts pursuant to the
following vesting schedule:
Years of Service
Less than 1
1
2
3

Vested Percentage
0%
33%
66%
100%

For purposes of the foregoing, each Participant employed by the Employer will be credited with one Year of Service for each
12-month period of employment with the Employer.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Participant will become immediately vested in amounts credited to his or her Employer
Contribution Credit Account upon his or her death, his or her long-term disability (as determined by the Employer, in its discretion), his or her
retirement from service to the Employer on or after age 65, or a “Change in Control” of the Company. For this purpose, a Change in Control
shall occur upon any of the following:
(i)

the acquisition by any person, other than the Employer or any employee benefit plan(s) of the Employer, of beneficial
ownership of 20% or more of the combined voting power of Company’s then outstanding voting securities;

(ii)

the first purchase under a tender offer or exchange offer, other than an offer by the Employer or any employee benefit plan
(s) of the Company, pursuant to which shares of common stock of the Company have been purchased;

(iii)

during any period of two consecutive years, individuals who, at the beginning of such period constitute the Board of
Directors of the Company cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority thereof, unless the election or the nomination
for the election by stockholders of the Company of each new Director was approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the
Directors then still in office who were Directors at the beginning of the period; or
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(iv)

approval by stockholders of the Company of a merger, consolidation, liquidation or dissolution of the Company, or the sale
of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company.

When a Participant becomes vested in his or her Employer Contribution Credits, plus earnings thereon, the Employer shall
withhold from the Participant’s salary and/or bonus that is not deferred, in a manner determined by the Employer, the Participant’s share of
FICA and other employment taxes. If necessary, the Employer may reduce the vested portion of the Participant’s Employer Contribution
Credit Account to comply with this requirement.
3.2
PARTICIPANT COMPENSATION DEFERRALS . In connection with a Participant’s commencement of participation in
the Plan, the Participant shall make an irrevocable deferral election of Compensation for the Plan Year in which the Participant commences
participation in the Plan for services yet to be performed, along with such other elections as the Company deems necessary or desirable under
the Plan. For these elections to be valid, the Participant Election Form must be completed and signed by the Participant and timely delivered to
the Company as described in Section 2.2.
For each succeeding Plan Year, an irrevocable deferral of Compensation election for that Plan Year, and such other elections
as the Company deems necessary or desirable under the Plan, shall be made by timely delivering to the Company, in accordance with its rules
and procedures, before the end of the Plan Year preceding the Plan Year in which the services giving rise to the Compensation to be deferred
are to be performed (or such earlier time as the Company may establish, in its sole discretion), a new Participant Election Form. If no such
Participant Election Form is timely delivered for a Plan Year, the Participant’s Compensation Deferral for that Plan Year shall be zero.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, determine that certain Compensation qualifies as
“performance-based compensation” under Code Section 409A. If so, the Committee may allow participants to make a deferral election with
respect to such Compensation by timely delivering an Election Form to the Committee, in accordance with its rules and procedures, no later
than six months before the end of the performance service period for such Compensation. “Performance-based compensation” shall be
compensation based on services performed over a period of at least 12 months in accordance with Code Section 409A and related guidance.
For each Plan Year, the deferral of compensation shall be withheld from each regularly scheduled salary payroll in the
percentage elected by the Participant. The bonus portion of the Compensation Deferral shall be withheld at the time the bonus would otherwise
be paid to the Participant. For each Plan Year in which Compensation is deferred, the Employer shall withhold from that portion of the
Participant’s salary and bonus that is not being deferred, in a manner determined by the Employer, the Participant’s share of FICA and other
employment taxes on such deferral amount, together with such other withholdings for employee benefits as would the Employer otherwise
withhold. Subject to Code Section 409A, if necessary, the Employer may reduce the deferral amount in order to comply with this requirement.
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There shall be established and maintained by the Employer a separate Compensation Deferral Account in the name of each
Participant to which shall be credited or debited: (a) amounts equal to the Participant’s Compensation deferrals, and (b) amounts equal to any
deemed earnings or losses (to the extent realized, based upon deemed fair market value of the account’s deemed assets) attributable or allocable
thereto. The amounts deferred shall be referred to as the Compensation Deferrals.
A Participant shall at all times be 100% vested in amounts credited to his or her Compensation Deferral Account.
3.3
CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE TRUST . Amounts shall be contributed by the Employer to the Trust maintained under
Section 11.1 equal to the amounts required to be credited to the Participant’s Account under Sections 3.1 and 3.2. The Employer shall make a
good faith effort to contribute these amounts to the Trust as soon as is practicable after such amounts are determined. Employer contributions
to the Trust shall be made in cash or in common stock of the Employer, as determined by the Company.
ARTICLE 4
ALLOCATION OF FUNDS
4.1
ALLOCATION OF DEEMED EARNINGS OR LOSSES ON ACCOUNTS . In accordance with, and subject to, the rules
and procedures that are established from time to time by the Company, in its sole discretion, amounts shall be credited or debited to a
Participant’s Account in accordance with the following rules:
(a)
A Participant, in connection with his or her initial deferral election shall elect one or more Measurement Fund(s) (as
described below) to be used to determine the additional amounts to be credited or debited to his or her Account. A Participant may (but is not
required to) elect to add or delete one or more available Measurement Fund(s) to be used to determine the additional amounts to be credited or
debited to his or her Account, or to change the portion of his or her Account allocated to each previously or newly elected Measurement Fund.
A Participant may elect to make such a change by submitting a Participant Election Form, whether written or electronic (as determined by the
Company from time to time and in its sole discretion), to the Company. Any election so made and accepted by the Company shall apply as
soon as is reasonably practicable following the Company’s acceptance of the election. Any such election shall continue to apply, unless
subsequently changed in accordance with this Section 4.1(a).
(b)
In making any election described in Section 4.1(a), the Participant shall specify on the applicable form which may
be completed on-line, in increments of one percentage point, the percentage of his or her Account to be allocated to a Measurement Fund (as if
the Participant were making an investment in that Measurement Fund with that portion of his or her Account).
(c)

A Participant may elect one or more Measurement Funds (the
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“Measurement Funds”) from among those selected by the Company for the purpose of crediting or debiting additional amounts to his or her
Account. As necessary, the Company may, in its sole discretion, discontinue, substitute or add Measurement Funds. Each such action will
take effect as of the first day of the calendar month that follows by 30 days or more the day on which the Company gives Participants advance
written notice of such change. In selecting the Measurement Funds that are available from time to time, neither the Company nor any
Employer shall be liable to any Participant for such selection or adding, deleting or continuing any available Measurement Fund.
(d)
The performance of each elected Measurement Fund (either positive or negative) will be reasonably determined by
the Company. A Participant’s Account shall be credited or debited on a daily basis based on the performance of each Measurement Fund
selected by the Participant.
(e)
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan that may be interpreted to the contrary, the Measurement Funds
are to be used for measurement purposes only, and a Participant’s election of any such Measurement Fund, the allocation to his or her Account
thereof, the calculation of additional amounts and the crediting or debiting of such amounts to a Participant’s Account shall not be considered
or construed in any manner as an actual investment of his or her Account in any such Measurement Fund. In the event that the Company or the
Trustee, in its sole discretion, decides to invest funds in any or all of the Measurement Funds, no Participant shall have any rights in or to such
investments themselves. Without limiting the foregoing, a Participant’s Account shall at all times be a bookkeeping entry only and shall not
represent any investment made on his or her behalf by the Company or the Trustee; and the Participant shall at all times remain an unsecured
creditor of the Company.
(f)
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 4.1, the Company shall retain the overriding discretion
regarding the Participant’s designation of Measurement Funds under this Section 4.1. If a Participant fails to designate any Measurement Fund
under this Section 4.1, the Participant shall be deemed to have elected the money market fund, or such other fund as determined from time to
time by the Company in its sole discretion.
The Participant shall bear full responsibility for all results associated with his or her selection of Measurement
(g)
Funds under this Section 4.1, and the Employer shall have no responsibility or liability with respect to the Participant’s selection of such
Measurement Funds. Each Participant hereunder, as a condition to his or her participation hereunder, agrees to indemnify and hold harmless
the Employer and its agents and representatives from any losses or damages of any kind relating to the deemed investment of the Participant’s
Account hereunder.
(h)
Notwithstanding any contrary provision of the Plan, Participants shall not have the right to direct the deferral of
Director retainer fees or awards that otherwise would have been payable in Employer common stock. Rather, such deferrals shall initially be
deemed to be invested in the common stock of the Employer. Once deferred, the Participant may thereafter elect to have some or all of such
deferral amounts, plus earnings thereon, reallocated to one or more of the non-Employer common stock Measurement Funds available under
the Plan; provided, however, that the Employer may impose such restrictions on such transfers as the Employer
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deems necessary or advisable in order to comply with federal or state securities laws (including, but not limited to, Rule 16b-3 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Any Participant subject to such restrictions shall be notified by the Employer. Once a Participant has
transferred an amount out of the Employer common stock Measurement Fund, he or she may not subsequently reallocate into that
Measurement Fund.
(i)

Each reference in this Article to a Participant shall be deemed to include, where applicable, a reference to a

Beneficiary.
4.2
ACCOUNTING FOR DISTRIBUTIONS . As of the date of any distribution hereunder, the distribution made hereunder to
the Participant or his or her Beneficiary or Beneficiaries shall be charged to such Participant’s Account.
4.3
EXPENSES . Expenses, including Trustee fees, allocable to the administration or operation of an Account maintained under
the Plan shall be paid by the Employer unless, in the discretion of the Employer, the Employer elects to charge such expenses, or any portion
thereof, against the appropriate Participant’s Account or Participants’ Accounts.
ARTICLE 5
ENTITLEMENT TO BENEFITS
5.1
FIXED PAYMENT DATES; SEPARATION FROM SERVICE; DISABILITY; CHANGE IN CONTROL . The
Participant’s vested Account will be valued and paid according to the provisions of Article 6 on the payment date elected by a Participant at the
time of initial deferral (or as otherwise required by Code section 409A).
The Participant may elect to receive payment of his or her vested Account at Separation from Service with the Employer, upon a fixed
payment date, or at the earlier of (or later of) a fixed payment date, Separation from Service, Disability, and/or Change of Control of the
Employer. In any case, the extension and non-acceleration rules discussed in this Plan shall apply to such timing of payment elections.
The “fixed payment date” elected by a Participant must be a date no earlier than the January 1 of the third calendar year after the
calendar year in which the initial election is made (or if applicable, the January 1 of the third calendar year in which a new election is made
after the Participant has received a distribution of his or her previously vested Account).
If a Participant fails to designate properly the timing of payment of the Account, the vested Account shall be distributed, or commence
to be distributed, as provided in Article 6, at the Participant’s Separation from Service with the Employer.
The Participant may elect to delay a payment, on a continual basis, so long as any election to delay the payment is made by the
Participant at least twelve (12) months prior to the date on which the distribution is to be made and, in the case of payment upon Separation
from Service, a fixed
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payment date or Change of Control, such delay is at least five (5) full calendar years in length. A distribution date may not be accelerated.
Notwithstanding the preceding, to the extent permitted under Code section 409A and by the Employer, the Participant may elect the
timing of distributions during 2005, 2006 or 2007 (except that (i) a Participant cannot in 2006 change payment elections with respect to
payments that the Participant would otherwise receive in 2006, or in 2006 make an election that causes post-2006 scheduled payments to be
made in 2006, and (ii) a Participant cannot in 2007 change payment elections with respect to payments that the Participant would otherwise
receive in 2007, or in 2007 make an election that causes post-2007 scheduled payments to be made in 2007), and such election shall not be
treated as a change in the form and timing of payment or an acceleration of payment.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if and when the Employer becomes a corporation whose stock is publicly traded on an established
securities market or otherwise, any Participant who is a Specified Employee and elects to receive distribution upon Separation from Service
shall not be entitled to receive a distribution of the Account (or, in the case of installments, distributions from the Account may not commence)
under this Section prior to the date which is at least six (6) months after the date or his or her Separation from Service (or, if earlier, his or her
death).
For purposes of this Section, a “Separation from Service” means separation from service within the meaning of Code section 409A,
including the termination of Board membership with respect to a Participant who is a Board member.
For purposes of this Section, a “Change of Control” means a change of control of the Company within the meaning of Code section
409A.
For purposes of this Section, a “Disability” means a period during which a Participant (i) is unable to engage in any substantial gainful
activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to
last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, (ii) is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment
which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, receiving
income replacement benefits for a period of not less than three (3) months under an accident and health plan covering employees of the
Employer, or (iii) is determined to be totally disabled by the Social Security Administration.
5.2
UNFORESEEABLE EMERGENCY DISTRIBUTIONS . In the event the Participant incurs an unforeseeable emergency,
as defined below, the Participant may apply to the Employer for the distribution of all or any part of his or her vested Account. The Employer
shall consider the circumstances of each such case, and the best interests of the Participant and his or her family, and shall have the right, in its
sole discretion, if applicable, to allow such distribution, or, if applicable, to direct a distribution of part of the amount requested, or to refuse to
allow any distribution; provided, however, that such distribution shall be permitted solely to the extent permitted under Code section 409A.
Upon a finding of an unforeseeable emergency, the Employer shall make the appropriate distribution to the Participant from amounts held by
the Employer in respect of the Participant’s vested Account. In no event shall the aggregate amount of the distribution exceed either the full
value of the Participant’s vested Account or the amount determined by the Employer to be necessary
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to satisfy the unforeseeable emergency plus amounts necessary to pay taxes reasonably anticipated as a result of the distribution, after taking
into account the extent to which the unforeseeable emergency is or may be relieved through reimbursement or compensation by insurance or
otherwise or by liquidation of the Participant’s assets (to the extent the liquidation of assets would not itself cause severe financial hardship), or
by cessation of Compensation Deferrals under this Plan.
“Unforeseeable emergency” means (a) a severe financial hardship to the Participant or Beneficiary resulting from an illness or
accident of the Participant or Beneficiary, the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s spouse or a dependent (as defined in Code section 152(a)) of the
Participant or Beneficiary, (b) loss of the Participant’s or Beneficiary’s property due to casualty, or (c) other similar extraordinary and
unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of events beyond the control of the Participant or Beneficiary, each as determined to exist by the
Employer. A distribution may be made under this Section only with the consent of the Employer.
5.3
DEATH . Upon the Participant’s death, the Participant’s vested Account shall be valued and paid to the Participant’s
Beneficiary(ies) as provided in Article 6.
5.4
TRUST . The Employer’s obligations under the Plan may be satisfied with Trust assets distributed pursuant to the terms of
the Trust, and any such distribution shall reduce the Employer’s obligations under this Plan. The Trustee of the Trust shall be authorized, upon
written instructions received from the Company or investment manager appointed by the Company, to invest and reinvest the assets of the
Trust in accordance with the applicable Trust Agreement. A Participant shall have no preferred claim on, or any beneficial interest in, any
assets of the Trust. Any assets held by the Trust shall be subject to the claims of general creditors of the Employer in the event of the
Employer’s “insolvency” (i.e., the Employer is unable to pay its debts as they become due or is subject to a pending proceeding as a debtor
under the United States Bankruptcy Code). If the Trust pays all or some of the Employer’s obligations to a Participant under the terms of this
Plan, such payment shall be treated as a payment by the Employer for purposes of this Plan.
RE-EMPLOYMENT OF RECIPIENT, ETC. If a Participant receiving installment distributions pursuant to Section 6.2 is
5.5
re-employed by the Employer (or becomes a member of the Company’s Board of Directors), the remaining distribution(s) due to the Participant
shall be suspended until such time as the Participant (or his or her Beneficiary) once again becomes eligible for benefits under Section 5.1 or
Section 5.2, at which time such distribution(s) shall commence, subject to the limitations and conditions contained in this Plan.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee shall interpret this Section 5.4 in a manner that is consistent with Code Section 409A and the
regulations thereunder, including without limitation guidance issued in connection with that Section.
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ARTICLE 6
DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS
6.1
AMOUNT . A Participant (or his or her Beneficiary) shall become entitled to receive, on the date determined in accordance
with Article 5, a distribution in an aggregate amount equal to the Participant’s vested Account.
6.2

METHOD OF PAYMENT .

(a)
Form of Payment . Payments under the Plan shall be made in cash, except that the portion of a Director’s Account
that is hypothetically invested in Employer common stock shall be paid in the form of Employer common stock (except as otherwise permitted
by the Company).
(b)
Timing and Manner of Payment . In the case of distributions to a Participant or his or her Beneficiary by virtue of
an entitlement pursuant to Section 5.1, an aggregate amount equal to the Participant’s vested Account will be paid, as provided in Section 6.1,
in a lump sum or in annual installments, not less than two nor greater than 15 using the Fractional Payment Method, as selected by the
Participant at the time of initial deferral. “Fractional Payment Method” means annual installment payments over the number of years selected
by the Participant in accordance with this Plan, calculated as follows: the vested Account of the Participant shall be calculated each year as of
the applicable Valuation Date. The annual installment shall be calculated by multiplying this balance by a fraction, the numerator of which is
one, and the denominator of which is the remaining number of annual payments due the Participant. By way of example, if the Participant
elects 10 years, the first payment shall be 1/10 of the vested Account. For the following year, the payment shall be 1/9 of the vested Account.
If a Participant fails to designate properly the manner of payment of the Participant’s benefit under the Plan, such payment
will be in a lump sum. If the whole or any part of a payment hereunder is to be in installments, the total to be so paid shall continue to be
deemed to be invested pursuant to Section 4.1 under such procedures as the Employer may establish.
A participant may elect to change the method of payment elected (or deemed elected) so long as any election to change the form of
payment is made by the Participant at least twelve (12) months prior to the date on which the distribution is to be made (or commence) and, in
the case of payment upon Separation from Service, a fixed payment date or Change of Control, the payment date (or commencement of
payments) is delayed for at least five (5) full calendar years..
Notwithstanding the preceding, to the extent permitted under Code section 409A and by the Employer, the Participant may elect the
form of distributions during 2005, 2006 or 2007 (except that (i) a Participant cannot in 2006 change payment elections with respect to
payments that the Participant would otherwise receive in 2006, or in 2006 make an election that causes post-2006 scheduled payments to be
made in 2006 or (ii) a Participant cannot in 2007 change payment elections with respect to payments that the Participant would otherwise
receive in 2007, or in 2007 make an election that causes post-2007 scheduled payments to be made in 2007), and such election shall not be
treated as a change in the form and timing of payment or an acceleration of payment.
6.3
DEATH BENEFITS . If a Participant dies before receiving the entire value of his or her vested Account, the remaining
unpaid portion of his or her vested Account shall be paid in
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a lump sum to the person or persons designated in accordance with Section 7.1. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee shall interpret
this Section 6.3 in a manner that is consistent with Code Section 409A and the regulations thereunder, including without limitation guidance
issued in connection with that Section.
6.4
WITHHOLDING . The Employer, or the Trustee of the Trust, shall withhold from any payments made to a Participant
under this Plan all federal, state and local income, employment and other taxes required to be withheld by the Employer, or the Trustee of the
Trust, in connection with such payments, in amounts and in a manner to be determined in good faith in the sole discretion of the Employer and
the Trustee of the Trust. All distributions under the Plan are subject to any applicable tax withholding, as determined by the Employer in its
discretion.
6.5
EMPLOYER DISCRETION . Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, no change submitted on a Participant
Election Form shall be accepted by the Employer, and the Employer shall deny any change made on a Participant Election Form, if the
Employer determines that the change violates the requirements under Code section 409A.
The Employer, in its discretion, may accelerate distributions under the Plan to the extent permitted under Code section 409A (e.g.,
payments necessary to comply with a domestic relations order, payments necessary to comply with certain conflict of interest rules, and certain
de minimis payments related to the participant’s termination of his or her interest in the plan).
ARTICLE 7
BENEFICIARIES; PARTICIPANT DATA
7.1
DESIGNATION OF BENEFICIARIES . Each Participant may designate any person or persons (who may be named
contingently or successively) to receive such benefits as may be payable under the Plan upon or after the Participant’s death, and such
designation may be changed from time to time by the Participant by filing a new designation. Each designation will revoke all prior
designations by the same Participant, shall be in a form prescribed by the Employer, and will be effective only when filed in writing with the
Employer during the Participant’s lifetime.
In the absence of a valid Beneficiary designation, or if, at the time any benefit payment is due to a Beneficiary, there is no
living Beneficiary validly named by the Participant, the Employer shall pay any such benefit payment to the Participant’s spouse, if then living,
but otherwise to the Participant’s then living descendants, if any, per stirpes , but, if none, to the Participant’s estate. In determining the
existence or identity of anyone entitled to a benefit payment, the Employer may rely conclusively upon information supplied by the
Participant’s personal representative, executor or administrator.
If a question arises as to the existence or identity of anyone entitled to receive a benefit payment as aforesaid, or if a dispute
arises with respect to any such payment, then, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Employer, in its sole discretion, may distribute such payment
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to the Participant’s estate without liability for any tax or other consequences which might flow therefrom, or may take such other action as the
Employer deems to be appropriate.
7.2
INFORMATION TO BE FURNISHED BY PARTICIPANTS AND BENEFICIARIES; INABILITY TO LOCATE
PARTICIPANTS OR BENEFICIARIES . Any communication, statement or notice addressed to a Participant or to a Beneficiary at his or her
last post office address as shown on the Employer’s records shall be binding on the Participant or Beneficiary for all purposes of the Plan. The
Employer shall not be obliged to search for any Participant or Beneficiary beyond the sending of a registered letter to such last known address.
If the Employer notifies any Participant or Beneficiary that he or she is entitled to an amount under the Plan and the Participant or Beneficiary
fails to claim such amount or make his or her location known to the Employer within three years thereafter, then, except as otherwise required
by law, if the location of one or more of the next of kin of the Participant is known to the Employer, the Employer may direct distribution of
such amount to any one or more or all of such next of kin, and in such proportions as the Employer determines. If the location of none of the
foregoing persons can be determined within five years after the initial benefit payment would otherwise be due, the Employer shall have the
right to direct that the amount payable shall be deemed to be a forfeiture, except that the dollar amount of the forfeiture, unadjusted for deemed
gains or losses in the interim, shall be paid by the Employer if a claim for the benefit subsequently is made by the Participant or the Beneficiary
to whom it was payable. If a benefit payable to an unlocated Participant or Beneficiary is subject to escheat pursuant to applicable state law, the
Employer shall not be liable to any person for any payment made in accordance with such law.
ARTICLE 8
ADMINISTRATION
8.1
ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY . Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, the Company, acting through the
Committee, or the designee or designees thereof, shall have the sole responsibility for and the sole control of the operation and administration
of the Plan, and shall have the power and authority to take all action and to make all decisions and interpretations which may be necessary or
appropriate in order to administer and operate the Plan, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the power, duty and
responsibility to:
(a)
Resolve and determine all disputes or questions arising under the Plan, and to remedy any ambiguities,
inconsistencies or omissions in the Plan.
(b)
Adopt such rules of procedure and regulations as in its opinion may be necessary for the proper and efficient
administration of the Plan and as are consistent with the Plan.
(c)

Implement the Plan in accordance with its terms and the rules and regulations adopted as above.
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(d)
Make determinations with respect to the eligibility of any Employee or Director as a Participant and make
determinations concerning the crediting of Plan Accounts.
(e)
Appoint any persons or firms, or otherwise act to secure specialized advice or assistance, as it deems necessary or
desirable in connection with the administration and operation of the Plan, and the Company shall be entitled to rely conclusively upon, and
shall be fully protected in any action or omission taken by it in good faith reliance upon, the advice or opinion of such persons or firms. The
Company shall have the power and authority to delegate from time to time by written instrument all or any part of its duties, powers or
responsibilities under the Plan, both ministerial and discretionary, as it deems appropriate, to any person or committee, and in the same manner
to revoke any such delegation of duties, powers or responsibilities. Any action of such person or committee in the exercise of such delegated
duties, powers or responsibilities shall have the same force and effect for all purposes hereunder as if such action had been taken by the
Company. Further, the Company may authorize one or more persons to execute any certificate or document on behalf of the Company, in
which event any person notified by the Company of such authorization shall be entitled to accept and conclusively rely upon any such
certificate or document executed by such person as representing action by the Company until such notified person shall have been notified of
the revocation of such authority.
(f)

Interpret this Plan in accordance with Code Section 409A.

8.2
LITIGATION . Except as may be otherwise required by law, in any action or judicial proceeding affecting the Plan, no
Participant or Beneficiary shall be entitled to any notice or service of process, and any final judgment entered in such action shall be binding on
all persons interested in, or claiming under, the Plan.
8.3
CLAIMS PROCEDURE . This Section 8.3 is based on final regulations issued by the Department of Labor and published in
the Federal Register on November 21, 2000 and codified at 29 C.F.R. section 2560.503-1. If any provision of this Section conflicts with the
requirements of those regulations, the requirements of those regulations will prevail.
Initial Claim . A Participant or Beneficiary who believes he or she is entitled to any Benefit (a “Claimant”) under
(a)
this Plan may file a claim with the administrator under this Article 9 (the “Plan Administrator”). The Plan Administrator will review the claim
itself or appoint another individual or entity to review the claim.
Benefit Claims that do not Require a Determination of Disability . In the claim is for a benefit other than a
(i)
disability benefit, the Claimant will be notified within ninety days after the claim is filed whether the claim is allowed or denied, unless the
Claimant receives written notice from the Plan Administrator or appointee of the Plan Administrator before the end of the ninety day period
stating that special circumstances require an extension of the time for decision, such extension not to extend beyond the day which is one
hundred eighty days after the day the claim is filed.
Disability Benefit Claims . In the case of a benefits claim that requires a determination by the Plan
(ii)
Administrator of a Participant’s disability status, the Plan
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Administrator will notify the Claimant of the Plan’s adverse benefit determination within a reasonable period of time, but not later than fortyfive days after receipt of the claim. If, due to matters beyond the control of the Plan, the Plan Administrator needs additional time to process a
claim, the Claimant will be notified, within forty-five days after the Plan Administrator receives the claim, of those circumstances and of when
the Plan Administrator expects to make its decision but not beyond seventy-five days. If, prior to the end of the extension period, due to
matters beyond the control of the Plan, a decision cannot be rendered within that extension period, the period for making the determination may
be extended for up to one hundred five days, provided that the Plan Administrator notifies the Claimant of the circumstances requiring the
extension and the date as of which the Plan expects to render a decision. The extension notice will specifically explain the standards on which
entitlement to a disability benefit is based, the unresolved issues that prevent a decision on the claim and the additional information needed
from the Claimant to resolve those issues, and the Claimant will be afforded at least forty-five days within which to provide the specified
information.
(iii)
Manner and Content of Denial of Initial Claims . If the Plan Administrator denies a claim, it must provide
to the Claimant, in writing or by electronic communication:
(A)

The specific reasons for the denial;

(B)

A reference to the Plan provision or insurance contract provision upon which the denial is based;

(C)

A description of any additional information or material that the Claimant must provide in order to

(D)

An explanation of why such additional material or information is necessary;

perfect the claim;

Notice that the Claimant has a right to request a review of the claim denial and information on the
(E)
steps to be taken if the Claimant wishes to request a review of the claim denial; and
A statement of the participant’s right to bring a civil action under ERISA section 502(a)
(F)
following a denial on review of the initial denial.
In addition, in the case of a denial of disability benefits on the basis of the Plan Administrator’s independent determination of
the Participant’s disability status, the Plan Administrator will provide a copy of any rule, guideline, protocol, or other similar criterion relied
upon in making the adverse determination (or a statement that the same will be provided upon request by the Claimant and without charge).

16

(b)

Review Procedures .

(i)
Benefit Claims that do not Require a Determination of Disability . Except for claims requiring an independent
determination of a Participant’s disability status, a request for review of a denied claim must be made in writing to the Plan Administrator
within sixty days after receiving notice of denial. The decision upon review will be made within sixty days after the Plan Administrator’s
receipt of a request for review, unless special circumstances require an extension of time for processing, in which case a decision will be
rendered not later than one hundred twenty days after receipt of a request for review. A notice of such an extension must be provided to the
Claimant within the initial sixty day period and must explain the special circumstances and provide an expected date of decision.
The reviewer will afford the Claimant an opportunity to review and receive, without charge, all relevant documents,
information and records and to submit issues and comments in writing to the Plan Administrator. The reviewer will take into account all
comments, documents, records and other information submitted by the Claimant relating to the claim regardless of whether the information was
submitted or considered in the initial benefit determination.
(ii)
Disability Benefit Claims . In addition to having the right to review documents and submit comments as described
in (i) above, a Claimant whose claim for disability benefits requires an independent determination by the Plan Administrator of the
Participant’s disability status has at least one hundred eighty days following receipt of a notification of an adverse benefit determination within
which to request a review of the initial determination. In such cases, the review will meet the following requirements:
(A)
The Plan will provide a review that does not afford deference to the initial adverse benefit determination
and that is conducted by an appropriate named fiduciary of the Plan who did not make the initial determination that is the subject of the appeal,
nor is a subordinate of the individual who made the determination.
The appropriate named fiduciary of the Plan will consult with a health care professional who has
(B)
appropriate training and experience in the field of medicine involved in the medical judgment before making a decision on review of any
adverse initial determination based in whole or in part on a medical judgment. The professional engaged for purposes of a consultation in the
preceding sentence will not be an individual who was consulted in connection with the initial determination that is the subject of the appeal or
the subordinate of any such individual.
The Plan will identify to the Claimant the medical or vocational experts whose advice was obtained on
(C)
behalf of the Plan in connection with the review, without regard to whether the advice was relied upon in making the benefit review
determination.
The decision on review will be made within forty-five days after the Plan Administrator’s receipt of a
(D)
request for review, unless special circumstances require an extension of time for processing, in which case a decision will be rendered not later
than ninety days after receipt of a request for review. A notice of such an extension must be provided to the
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Claimant within the initial forty-five day period and must explain the special circumstances and provide an expected date of decision.
(iii)
Manner and Content of Notice of Decision on Review . Upon completion of its review of an adverse initial claim
determination, the Plan Administrator will give the Claimant, in writing or by electronic notification, a notice containing:
(A)

its decision;

(B)

the specific reasons for the decision;

(C)

the relevant Plan provisions or insurance contract provisions on which its decision is based;

(D)
a statement that the Claimant is entitled to receive, upon request and without charge, reasonable access to,
and copies of, all documents, records and other information in the Plan’s files which is relevant to the Claimant’s claim for benefits;
(E)

a statement describing the Claimant’s right to bring an action for judicial review under ERISA section 502

(a); and
(F)
if an internal rule, guideline, protocol or other similar criterion was relied upon in making the adverse
determination on review, a statement that a copy of the rule, guideline, protocol or other similar criterion will be provided without charge to the
Claimant upon request.
(c)
Calculation of Time Periods . For purposes of the time periods specified in this Section, the period of time during which a
benefit determination is required to be made begins at the time a claim is filed in accordance with the Plan procedures without regard to
whether all the information necessary to make a decision accompanies the claim. If a period of time is extended due to a Claimant’s failure to
submit all information necessary, the period for making the determination will be tolled from the date the notification is sent to the Claimant
until the date the Claimant responds.
(d)
Failure of Plan to Follow Procedures . If the Plan fails to follow the claims procedures required by this Section, a Claimant
will be deemed to have exhausted the administrative remedies available under the Plan and will be entitled to pursue any available remedy
under ERISA section 502(a) on the basis that the Plan has failed to provide a reasonable claims procedure that would yield a decision on the
merits of the claim.
(e)
Failure of Claimant to Follow Procedures . A Claimant’s compliance with the foregoing provisions of this Section 8.3 is a
mandatory prerequisite to the Claimant’s right to commence any legal action with respect to any claim for benefits under the Plan.
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ARTICLE 9
AMENDMENT
9.1
RIGHT TO AMEND . The Company, by written instrument executed by a duly authorized representative of the Company,
shall have the right to amend the Plan, at any time and with respect to any provisions hereof, and all parties hereto or claiming any interest
hereunder shall be bound by such amendment; provided, however, that no such amendment shall deprive a Participant or a Beneficiary of a
right accrued hereunder prior to the date of the amendment.
9.2
AMENDMENTS TO ENSURE PROPER CHARACTERIZATION OF PLAN . Notwithstanding the provisions of Section
9.1, the Plan may be amended by the Company at any time, retroactively if required in the opinion of the Company, in order to ensure that the
Plan is characterized as a “top-hat” plan as described under ERISA Sections 201(2), 301(a)(3), and 401(a)(1) to conform with the Plan to the
requirements of Code Section 409A, and to conform the Plan to the provisions and requirements of any applicable law (including ERISA and
the Code). No such amendment shall be considered prejudicial to any interest of a Participant or a Beneficiary hereunder.
ARTICLE 10
TERMINATION
10.1
RIGHT TO TERMINATE OR SUSPEND PLAN . The Company reserves the right to terminate the Plan and/or the
Employer’s obligation to make further credits to Plan Accounts. The Company also reserves the right to suspend the operation of the Plan for a
fixed or indeterminate period of time.
SUSPENSION OF DEFERRALS . In the event of a suspension of the Plan, the Employer shall continue all aspects of the
10.2
Plan, other than Compensation Deferrals and Employer Contribution Credits, during the period of the suspension, in which event payments
hereunder will continue to be made during the period of the suspension in accordance with Articles 5 and 6.
ALLOCATION AND DISTRIBUTION . This Section 10.3 shall become operative on a complete termination of the Plan.
10.3
The provisions of this Section 10.3 also shall become operative in the event of a partial termination of the Plan, as determined by the Employer,
but only with respect to that portion of the Plan attributable to the Participants to whom the partial termination is applicable. Upon the effective
date of any such event, notwithstanding any other provisions of the Plan, no persons who were not theretofore Participants shall be eligible to
become Participants, the value of the interest of all Participants and Beneficiaries shall be determined and, after deduction of estimated
expenses in liquidating and, if applicable, paying Plan benefits, paid to them in accordance with Articles 5 and 6. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Committee shall interpret this Section 10.3 in a manner that is consistent with Code Section 409A and the regulations
thereunder, including without limitation guidance issued in connection with that Section.
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Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, the Company, in its discretion, reserves the right, by action of the Board, to
terminate the Plan and distribute to Participants their vested Account balances as permitted in accordance with the Code (e.g., Prop. Reg.
1.409A-3(h)(2)(viii)).
10.4
SUCCESSOR TO EMPLOYER . Any corporation or other business organization which is a successor to the Employer by
reason of a consolidation, merger or purchase of substantially all of the assets of the Employer shall have the right to become a party to the Plan
by adopting the same by resolution of the entity’s board of directors or other appropriate governing body.
ARTICLE 11
THE TRUST
11.1
ESTABLISHMENT OF TRUST . The Employer shall establish the Trust with the Trustee pursuant to such terms and
conditions as are set forth in the Trust agreement to be entered into between the Employer and the Trustee. The Trust is intended to be treated
as a “grantor” trust under the Code and the establishment of the Trust is not intended to cause the Participant to realize current income on
amounts contributed thereto, and the Trust shall be so interpreted.
ARTICLE 12
MISCELLANEOUS
12.1
LIMITATIONS ON LIABILITY OF EMPLOYER . Neither the establishment of the Plan nor any modification thereof, nor
the creation of any account under the Plan, nor the payment of any benefits under the Plan shall be construed as giving to any Participant or
other person any legal or equitable right against the Employer, or any officer or employer thereof except as provided by law or by any Plan
provision. The Employer does not in any way guarantee any Participant’s Account from loss or depreciation, whether caused by poor
investment performance of a deemed investment or the inability to realize upon an investment due to an insolvency affecting an investment
vehicle or any other reason. In no event shall the Employer, or any successor, employee, officer, director or stockholder of the Employer, be
liable to any person on account of any claim arising by reason of the provisions of the Plan or of any instrument or instruments implementing
its provisions, or for the failure of any Participant, Beneficiary or other person to be entitled to any particular tax consequences with respect to
the Plan, or any credit or distribution hereunder.
CONSTRUCTION . If any provision of the Plan is held to be illegal or void, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect the
12.2
remaining provisions of the Plan, but shall be fully severable, and the Plan shall be construed and enforced as if said illegal or invalid provision
had never been inserted herein. For all purposes of the Plan, where the context admits, the singular shall include the plural, and the plural shall
include the singular. Headings of Articles and Sections herein are inserted only for convenience of reference and are not to be considered in
the construction of the Plan. The laws of the State of Maryland shall govern, control and determine
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all questions of law arising with respect to the Plan and the interpretation and validity of its respective provisions, except where those laws are
preempted by the laws of the United States. Participation under the Plan will not give any Participant the right to be retained in the service of
the Employer nor any right or claim to any benefit under the Plan unless such right or claim has specifically accrued hereunder.
12.3
SPENDTHRIFT PROVISION . No amount payable to a Participant or a Beneficiary under the Plan will, except as
otherwise specifically provided by law, be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, attachment, garnishment, sale, transfer, assignment
(either at law or in equity), levy, execution, pledge, encumbrance, charge or any other legal or equitable process, and any attempt to do so will
be void; nor will any benefit be in any manner liable for or subject to the debts, contracts, liabilities, engagements or torts of the person entitled
thereto. Further, (i) the withholding of taxes from Plan benefit payments, (ii) the recovery under the Plan of overpayments of benefits
previously made to a Participant or Beneficiary, (iii) if applicable, the transfer of benefit rights from the Plan to another plan, or (iv) the direct
deposit of benefit payments to an account in a banking institution (if not actually part of an arrangement constituting an assignment or
alienation) shall not be construed as an assignment or alienation.
In the event that any Participant’s or Beneficiary’s benefits hereunder are garnished or attached by order of any court, the
Employer or Trustee may bring an action or a declaratory judgment in a court of competent jurisdiction to determine the proper recipient of the
benefits to be paid under the Plan. During the pendency of said action, any benefits that become payable shall be held as credits to the
Participant’s or Beneficiary’s Account or, if the Employer or Trustee prefers, paid into the court as they become payable, to be distributed by
the court to the recipient as the court deems proper at the close of said action. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee shall interpret this
Section 12.3 in a manner that is consistent with Code Section 409A and the regulations thereunder, including without limitation guidance
issued in connection with that Section.
12.4
LEAVE OF ABSENCE . If a Participant is authorized by the Employer for any reason to take a paid leave of absence from
the employment of the Employer, the Participant shall continue to be considered employed by the Employer and his or her elected annual
deferral amount shall continue to be withheld during such paid leave of absence. If a Participant is authorized by the Employer for any reason
to take an unpaid leave of absence from the employment of the Employer, the Participant shall continue to be considered employed by the
Employer and the Participant shall be excused from making deferrals until the Participant returns to a paid employment status. Upon such
return, deferrals shall resume for the remaining portion of the Plan Year in which the return occurs, based on the deferral election, if any, made
for that Plan Year. If no election was made for that Plan Year, no deferral shall be withheld. Notwithstanding the forgoing, the Committee
shall interpret this Section 12.4 in a manner that is consistent with Code Section 409A and the regulations thereunder, including without
limitation, guidance issued in connection with that Section.
12.5
LEGAL FEES . If, following a Change in Control of the Company, it should appear to any Participant that the Company,
the Participant’s Employer or any successor corporation has failed to comply with any of its obligations under the Plan or any agreement
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thereunder or, if the Company, such Employer or any other person takes any action to declare the Plan void or unenforceable or institutes any
litigation or other legal action designed to deny, diminish or to recover from any Participant the benefits intended to be provided (collectively,
the “Dispute”), then the Company and the Participant’s Employer shall pay, if the Participant prevails in the Dispute, the Participant’s
reasonable legal fees and court costs actually incurred by the Participant in the initiation or defense of the Dispute, whether by or against the
Company or the Participant’s Employer or any director, officer, shareholder or other person affiliated with the Company, the Participant’s
Employer or any successor thereto.
12.6
NONASSIGNABILITY . Neither a Participant nor any other person shall have any right to commute, sell, assign, transfer,
pledge, anticipate, mortgage or otherwise encumber, transfer, hypothecate, alienate or convey in advance of actual receipt, the amounts, if any,
payable hereunder, or any part thereof, which are, and all rights to which are expressly declared to be, unassignable and non-transferable. No
part of the amounts payable shall, prior to actual payment, be subject to seizure, attachment, garnishment or sequestration for the payment of
any debts, judgments, alimony or separate maintenance owed by a Participant or any other person, be transferable by operation of law in the
event of a Participant’s or any other person’s bankruptcy or insolvency or be transferable to a spouse as a result of a property settlement or
otherwise.
12.7
UNSECURED GENERAL CREDITOR . Participants and their Beneficiaries, heirs, successors and assigns shall have no
legal or equitable rights, interests or claims in any property or assets of an Employer. For purposes of the payment of benefits under this Plan,
any and all of an Employer’s assets shall be, and remain, the general, unpledged unrestricted assets of the Employer. An Employer’s obligation
under the Plan shall be merely that of an unfunded and unsecured promise to pay money in the future.
12.8
COURT ORDER . The Employer is authorized to make any payments directed by court order in any action in which the
Plan or the Employer has been named as a party. In addition, if a court determines that a spouse or former spouse of a Participant has an
interest in the Participant’s benefits under the Plan in connection with a property settlement or otherwise, the Employer, in its sole discretion,
shall have the right, notwithstanding any election made by a Participant, to immediately distribute the spouse’s or former spouse’s interest in
the Participant’s benefits under the Plan to that spouse or former spouse. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee shall interpret this
Section 12.8 in a manner that is consistent with Code Section 409A and the regulations thereunder, including without limitation guidance
issued in connection with that Section.
12.9
CODE SECTION 409A . It is intended that the Plan comply with Code Sections 409A(a)(1) to (4) and (b)(1) to (2). The
Plan shall be administered and interpreted in a manner consistent with those foregoing sections. Should any provision of this Plan not comply
with the provisions of Code Section 409A listed above, that provision shall have no affect on the remaining parts of this Plan and this Plan shall
be construed and enforced as if such provision had never been inserted herein.
UNVESTED ACCOUNT BALANCES UNDER PRIOR PLAN . If a Participant participated in the Executive and Director
12.10
Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated as

22

of January 1, 2003, and all or a part of the Participant’s account balance under that plan was unvested as of January 1, 2005, that unvested
balance will be transferred to this Plan in accordance with Code Section 409A and the regulations thereunder, and such balance shall be
administered in accordance with the provisions of this Plan, provided, however, that the vesting of that balance shall be based on the applicable
vesting schedule(s) under the Executive and Director Deferred Compensation Plan, which are incorporated herein by reference.
12.11
AGGREGATION OF EMPLOYERS . To the extent required under Code section 409A, if the Employer is a member of a
controlled group of corporations or a group of trades or business under common control (as described in Code sections 414(b) or (c)), all
members of the group shall be treated as a single Employer for purposes of whether there has occurred a Separation from Service and for any
other purposes under the Plan as Section 409A shall require.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Employer has caused this Plan to be executed and effective as of the 1 st day of January, 2005.
ATTEST

THE RYLAND GROUP, INC.

/s/ Valerie S. Zook
Name: Valerie S. Zook
Title: Vice President, Compensation and Benefits

By:
/s/ Robert J. Cunnion, III
Name: Robert J. Cunnion, III
Title: Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Date:
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December 6, 2006

Exhibit 12.1: Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2004
2005
2006
$ 521,212 $ 721,051 $ 567,108

(in thousands, except ratio)
Consolidated pretax income
Share of distributed income of 50%-or-lessowned af filiates, net of equity pickup
Amortization of capitalized interest
Interest
Less interest capitalized during the period
Interest portion of rental expense
EARNINGS

2002
$ 309,340

Interest
Interest portion of rental expense
FIXED CHARGES

$ 49,086
6,679
$ 55,765

$ 50,125
5,973
$ 56,098

$ 53,242
5,639
$ 58,881

$ 66,697
5,678
$ 72,375

$ 71,955
7,736
$ 79,691

6.36

7.99

9.58

10.68

7.83

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges

2003
$ 396,217

(2,689 )
32,162
49,086
(39,695 )
6,679
$ 354,883 $

94
38,263
50,125
(42,602 )
5,973
448,070 $

(5,772 )
41,764
53,242
(52,015 )
5,639
564,070 $

(315 )
45,483
66,697
(65,959 )
5,678
772,635 $

260
48,708
71,955
(71,750 )
7,736
624,017

Exhibit 21: Subsidiaries of the Registrant
The following represents the signi fi cant subsidiaries of the Registrant as of December 31, 2006:
Ryland Homes of California, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Ryland Homes of Texas, Inc., a Texas corporation
Ryland Organization Company, a California corporation
The Ryland Corporation, a California corporation

Exhibit 23: Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
(1)

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-100167) and related Prospectus of The Ryland Group, Inc.,

(2)

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-113756) and related Prospectus of The Ryland Group, Inc.,

(3)

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-121469) and related Prospectus of The Ryland Group, Inc.,

(4)

Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-124000) and related Prospectus of The Ryland Group, Inc.,

(5)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-32431) pertaining to The Ryland Group, Inc. Retirement Savings Opportunity Plan,

(6)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-68397) pertaining to The Ryland Group, Inc. Executive and Director Deferred
Compensation Plan and The Ryland Group, Inc. Non-Employee Director Stock Unit Plan,

(7)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-126783) pertaining to The Ryland Group, Inc. 2005 Equity Incentive Plan, and

(8)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-133602) pertaining to The Ryland Group, Inc. 2006 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan;

of our reports dated February 21, 2007, with respect to the consolidated fi nancial statements and schedule of The Ryland Group, Inc., The
Ryland Group, Inc. management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over fi nancial reporting, and the effectiveness of internal
control over fi nancial reporting of The Ryland Group, Inc., included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31,
2006.
/ s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Ernst & Young LLP
Los Angeles, California
February 21, 2007

Exhibit 24: Power of Attorney
The undersigned directors of The Ryland Group, Inc., a Maryland corporation, constitute and appoint Timothy J. Geckle the true and lawful
agent and attorney-in-fact of the undersigned, with full power and authority in said agent and attorney-in-fact to sign for the undersigned, in
their respective names as directors of The Ryland Group, Inc., the Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Ryland Group, Inc. for the fi scal year
ended December 31, 2006, and any amendment thereto to be fi led with the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
Dated: February 28, 2007

/s/ Daniel T. Bane
Daniel T. Bane , Director
/s/ Leslie M. Frécon
Leslie M. Frécon , Director
/s/ Roland A. Hernandez
Roland A. Hernandez , Director
/s/ William L. Jews
William L. Jews , Director
/s/ Ned Mansour
Ned Mansour , Director
/s/ Robert E. Mellor
Robert E. Mellor , Director
/s/ Norman J. Metcalfe
Norman J. Metcalfe , Director
/s/ Charlotte St. Martin
Charlotte St. Martin , Director
/s/ Paul J. Varello
Paul J. Varello , Director
/s/ John O. Wilson
John O. Wilson , Director

Exhibit 31.1: Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Executive Of ficer Pursuant to Rule 13a – 14(a)
Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
I, R. Chad Dreier, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Ryland Group, Inc. (the “Company”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.

The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
Company’s most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2007

/s/ R. Chad Dreier
R. Chad Dreier
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2: Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a – 14(a)
Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
I, Gordon A. Milne, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of The Ryland Group, Inc. (the “Company”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the fi nancial statements, and other fi nancial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the fi nancial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4.

The Company’s other certifying of fi cer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
de fi ned in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over fi nancial reporting (as de fi ned in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over fi nancial reporting, or caused such internal control over fi nancial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fi nancial reporting and the
preparation of fi nancial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting that occurred during the
Company’s most recent fi scal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting; and

The Company’s other certifying of fi cer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over fi nancial
reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
a)

All signi fi cant de fi ciencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over fi nancial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report fi
nancial information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a signi fi cant role in the
Company’s internal control over fi nancial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2007

/s/ Gordon A. Milne
Gordon A. Milne
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Of fi cer

Exhibit 32.1: Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350
I, R. Chad Dreier, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer) of The Ryland Group, Inc. (the “Company”),
certify, to the best of my knowledge, based upon a review of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 of the
Company (the “Report”), that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained and incorporated by reference in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ R. Chad Dreier
R. Chad Dreier
February 28, 2007

Exhibit 32.2: Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350
I, Gordon A. Milne, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer) of The Ryland Group, Inc. (the
“Company”), certify, to the best of my knowledge, based upon a review of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2006 of the Company (the “Report”), that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained and incorporated by reference in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Gordon A. Milne
Gordon A. Milne
February 28, 2007

